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NEER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Yang (Chairman)

TIN Yat Yu Carol

CHAN Ming Leung Terence
GONG Xiaohan

WONG Wai Kai Richard

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang
LO Wing Sze

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

LI Yang
WONG Ka Man

COMPANY SECRETARY

WONG Ka Man

AUDIT COMMITTEE

HON Ming Sang (Chairman)
TANG Shu Pui Simon
LO Wing Sze

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

TANG Shu Pui Simon (Chairman)
LI Yang
HON Ming Sang

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

LI Yang (Chairman)
TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)

EEg
HITES
=5 (£/5)
B —45
R

BEfER
TEH

BAFHTES

st
FRERAE
Bk

REAR

EE (£/F)
=5
FEERAE

REEES
05 ()

st
FEERAE



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

LI Yang (Chairman)
TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang

AUDITOR

BDO Limited

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Cathay Bank, Hong Kong Branch

China Construction Bank (Asia) Corporation Limited

DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited

Hang Seng Bank Limited

The Bank of East Asia, Limited

The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE
OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 2511-15, 25/F, Peninsula Tower,
538 Castle Peak Road, Cheung Sha Wan,
Kowloon, Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
OFFICE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Corporate Information

DNEER

25 (£
e
FEERE

D

B EERYHMEHHRARAT
FEERRIT

FERTT (BE) BRAA]
BIZRIRITEANTT
REZRIRTT (EM) BRAT
ERIRTT (BE) ERAA]
BARITERAT]
RGIRITERAT]

BB LBELRITARAT

A fHRERE

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HMIREREREBTEEHE
s Bh

3

)

5
NEEDESFILE 5389
FBEKE25E2511-15F

FTERODECRBFNERE

Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman lIslands

Annual Report 2023 2R



4

Corporate Information

NEER

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
17/F, Far East Finance Centre,
16 Harcourt Road,

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

www.vmh.com.hk

STOCK CODE

1520

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)

BERODBFERTE

EBHFELERARA
BB
BREE165%
BRSBAPOTE

R

www.vmh.com.hk

BRENR

1520



Financial Summary

B HE

Year ended 31 December

BEt-A=t-HLFE

Results E4 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
. S —TCCF ZE--F ZZ2TF _TNE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR THL THT THL FET
Revenue 66,328 89,620 139,818 114,474 158,714
Gross profit 11,233 14,060 38,699 24,957 32,196
Loss before income tax (94,639) (58,403) (46,020 (67,038) (71,048)
Loss attributable to the owners
of the Company (93,749) (65,895) (46,271) (68,115) (76,680)
As at 31 December
R+=A=+-A
Financial position BERR 2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
SRIZE| CFCCF ZEC-F TR TR
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TAET THEL TAET THL
Total assets 214,185 288,373 234,832 283,700 351,064
Total borrowings
and lease liabilities 32,908 31,457 7,954 4,975 8,547
Total liabilities 65,473 79,073 38,575 45,275 45,857
Shareholders’ equity 148,113 208,432 196,257 238,425 305,197
Current ratio (note 1) 417 4.42 4.87 5.27 6.26
Quick ratio (note 2) 3.96 4.30 4.7 5.00 5.91
Return on assets (note 3) (43.8%) (22.9%) (19.7%) (24.0%) (21.8%)
Return on equity (note 4) (63.3%) (31.6%) (23.6%) (28.6%) (25.1%)
Gearing ratio (note 5) 22.1% 15.0% 4.1% 2.1% 2.8%
Inventory turnover days (note 6) 56 days/H | 32days/H 22days/H  49days/H 43 days/H
Trade receivables turnover days
(note 7) 174 days/H | 159days/H  72days/H  61days/H  48days/H
Trade payables turnover days
(note 8) 51days/H | 85days/H 69days/H 101days/H  30days/H
Note MisE
1. Current ratio = current assets/current liabilities 1. TELE = REBEE/THARE
2. Quick ratio = current assets less inventory/current liabilities 2. RELLE = FEEERTETRHARG
3. Return on assets = Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year/ 3. BEBHRE = AREHEABIEFERE B4
total assets B
4. Return on equity = Loss attributable to the owners of the Company for the year/ 4. BARBIHRE = AARHA ARGFEEE R
shareholders’ equity s
5, Gearing ratio = Total borrowings and lease liabilities/total equity 5. BEBELR - EFRENREERRE ESEHE
6. Inventory turnover days = Inventory balance/cost of sales for the year x number 6. GFEBEERE = FTEESG FEHERA x FF
of days for the year REK
7. Trade receivables turnover days = Trade receivables/revenue for the year x 7. B S RUGERERE = EHRKFIE FEIR
number of days for the year A X FERE
8. Trade payables turnover days = Trade payables/cost of sales for the year x 8. ESENNBHRERE = EIEMNFEFEH
number of days for the year B x FERE
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Chairman’s Statement
FERESE

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”
and each a “Director”) of Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (the
“Company”), | hereby present the audited consolidated results of the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”) for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

OVERVIEW

After a stagnant economic environment in 2022, the economic
environment continued to be challenging in 2023. Further to upward
interest rate movement in 2022, major economies continued to raise
interest rates in 2023 and kept the interest rate in high level for a
certain period to tame inflation.

The economic recovery of Mainland China after post-pandemic
reopening was also challenging. Year 2023 was the first year of
economic recovery after the pandemic. The economy gradually
regained momentum, driven by economic reopening and supportive
government policies. Meanwhile, sluggish external demand and
concerns over the economic outlook of Mainland China continued
to weaken the economic growth. The economy of Mainland China
expanded moderately in 2023.

The Hong Kong economic environment in 2023 was under pressure.
The change of local consumption pattern, coupled with weak financial
market and property market, dampened the economy growth of
Hong Kong.

OUR PERFORMANCE

Apparel operation

Concerns over the economic outlook of Mainland China continued
to dampen consumption sentiment. The impact of a challenging
macroeconomic environment and a slower than anticipated economic
recovery of Mainland China not only weakened overall consumer
sentiment but also affected the demand for apparel products.
Mainland China is the principal market for our apparel operation
during the year. Revenue from our apparel operation decreased
by 24.0% to approximately HK$56,488,000 for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: HK$74,337,000). Our apparel operation
remained the largest contributor to the Group’s business, accounting
for 85.2% of the Group’s total revenue.
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Money lending operation

Our money lending business focuses on individual consumers and
small businesses in Hong Kong.

In 2023, our money lending business mainly focused on providing
service to existing customers. Revenue from our money lending
operation decreased to approximately HK$8,199,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$13,631,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 39.9%. Money lending operation
accounted for 12.4% of the Group’s total revenue.

IP application and products operation

Revenue from IP application and products operation is principally
derived from selling of gaming and animated characters related
products. Mainland China is the principal market for our IP application
and products. Revenue from our IP application and products
decreased to approximately HK$1,641,000 for the year ended
31 December 2023 (2022: HK$1,652,000), decreased slightly
by approximately 0.7%. IP application and products operation
accounted for 2.4% of the Group’s total revenue.

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The global economic outlook will remain challenging and uncertain
in 2024. With inflation in major economies remaining high, high
interest rate environment will continue in a certain period in 2024.
Weak external demand for goods may continue, which may affect the
economic growth of Mainland China and Hong Kong.

We believe Mainland China and Hong Kong will achieve moderate
economic growth in 2024 and the authorities will further implement
macro-policy support to bolster the economy and consumers’
confidence.

As the principal markets for our Group are Mainland China and Hong
Kong, generally, we expect our operation will stage a moderate
recovery in 2024 along with the economic growth in the Mainland
China and Hong Kong.
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRESE

For apparel operation, we have transformed from focusing on
women apparel to sports and leisure apparel, further exploring the
young market. We will continue to expand our apparel portfolio and
leveraging trendy IPs to open up sportswear, children’s wear and
other markets. The Group will also grasp the opportunity to expand
its business in the trendy cultural products closely related to apparel
to seize the opportunities presented by the economic development of
Mainland China.

For money lending operation, we will continue to focus on providing
service to existing customers, and we will gradually scale down our
business due to difficult business environment.

For IP application and products operation, as the Mainland China’s
regulator has implemented various supportive measures and policies
to promote the sustainable and long term development of the gaming
industry, we believe that the gaming industry will continue to maintain
innovation and healthy development. This will also create a good
business environment for and boost the trendy cultural product
industry. We will explore more business opportunities with renowned
gaming platforms which we have developed closed business
relationship.

APPRECIATION

Finally, on behalf of the Board, | would like to thank and acknowledge
my colleagues for their commitment, perseverance and efforts over
the past year. | am also grateful to all shareholders for their continued
support.

Li Yang
Chairman
27 March 2024
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. LI Yang, aged 52, was appointed as an executive director of the
Company, the chairman of the Board, the chairman of the Nomination
Committee, the chairman of the Corporate Governance Committee,
a member of the Remuneration Committee and an authorised
representative of the Company on 19 January 2022. Mr. Li provides
leadership for the Board. Mr. Li acts as a consultant to the Board with
effect from 8 December 2021.

Mr. Li obtained a diploma from Shenzhen University in 1992 and a
Master of Business Administration from Shenzhen Economic and
Management Institute in 2000. Mr. Li also completed a Master’s
degree programme in 2001 at the Graduate School of Chinese
Academy of Social Sciences, majoring in World Economics.

Mr. Li has over 20 years of experience in investment activities
and business management. He has held directorships in several
companies listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) and a public company listed on
the mainland stock market.

From September 2014 to June 2018, Mr. Li acted as the deputy
chairman and an executive director of China Best Group Holding
Limited (stock code: 370.HK). From July 2015 to September 2016,
he acted as the chairman and a director of Guanghe Landscape
Culture Communication Co., Ltd., Shanxi*, shares of which are listed
on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (stock code: 600234.SS). From
February 2017 to December 2018, he also served as an independent
non-executive director of Sino Haijing Holdings Limited (stock code:
1106.HK). From November 2018 to December 2020, he acted as the
deputy chairman and an executive director of Leyou Technologies
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1089.HK). Such company was
privatized by way of a scheme of arrangement under the Companies
Act of its place of incorporation and its listing was withdrawn on
24 December 2020. From August 2020 to February 2021, he also
acted as an executive director of CT Environmental Group Limited
(stock code: 1363.HK), the listing of which was cancelled under Rule
6.01A of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange. For further information of the above companies, please
refer to their respective public disclosures.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEEBEBEFE

On 19 April 2022, Mr. Li was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of HG Semiconductor Limited, a company whose
shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 6908.HK). He
has been re-designated from an independent non-executive director
to an executive director with effect from 9 February 2024.

On 21 March 2023, Mr. Li was appointed as an executive director
and deputy chairman of IBO Technology Company Limited, a
company whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 2708.HK).

Mr. Li has held various senior management positions in a number of
capital investment and entity enterprises, and has extensive industry
experience in fashion apparel, trendy brand promotion, information
technology and other businesses.

Ms. TIN Yat Yu Carol (formerly known as TIN Yuen Sin Carol), aged
58, was appointed as an executive director of the Company on 11
October 2019. She also serves as a director of certain subsidiaries
of the Group including Delta Wealth Finance Limited. She joined the
Group in November 2016.

Ms. Tin is an entrepreneur operating business including money
lending business and fine dining business. Ms. Tin also has extensive
experience in trading business in Hong Kong and PRC. Ms. Tin
served as a director of Yan Oi Tong from 2017 to 2018.

Ms. Tin was an executive director of Carnival Group International
Holdings Limited (“Carnival”) (formerly known as Oriental Ginza
Holding Limited and CASH Retail Management Group Limited) from
2005 to 2011, a company whose shares are listed on the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 996.HK). She also served as the chairman of
Carnival from 2006 to 2011.

On 5 May 2020, Ms. Tin was appointed as an executive director of
Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited (“Finsoft Financial”), a
company whose shares are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange
(stock code: 8018.HK). She has been the chairman of Finsoft
Financial since 19 May 2020.

On 11 April 2022, Ms. Tin was appointed as an executive director
of InvesTech Holdings Limited (“InvesTech Holdings”), a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1087.
HK). She was appointed as the vice-chairman of InvesTech Holdings
since 15 June 2023.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

Mr. CHAN Ming Leung Terence, aged 56, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 2 August 2021.

Mr. Chan has held key management positions in various companies
since 1999, including chemical, storage, trading and health care
product industries. He has extensive experience in international
trading, sales, marketing, strategic planning and business
development.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Chan was engaged in the health
care product business.

Mr. GONG Xiaohan, aged 43, was appointed as an executive
director of the Company on 8 December 2021.

Mr. Gong obtained his master’s degree in software engineering from
East China Normal University in 2018.

He started his career in IT industry since 2003, with a focus on the
area of sales and marketing. Between July 2003 and September
2016, he spent more than 13 years with Tencent, during which
he held senior positions at various departments. He individually
won a number of awards from Tencent in respect of his valuable
contributions to the business of Tencent.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Gong was an entrepreneur. He
started his own company in 2017 and engaged in technology
business.

Mr. WONG Wai Kai Richard, aged 26, was appointed as an
executive director of the Company on 6 October 2023.

Mr. Wong completed his Double Bachelor of Arts degree in
International Relations and Economics at Brown University in 2020.
He became a sixth cohort Schwarzman Scholar and earned a Master
of Management Science in Global Affairs at Tsinghua University,
Schwarzman College in 2022.

Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Wong was a director and vice
president of Beijing Hua Rui Guang Nian Cultural Development Co.
Limited™.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon, aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 August
2016. He is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee, a member
of the Audit Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee
and also a member of the Corporate Governance Committee of the
Company.

Mr. Tang is a practising solicitor and an accredited mediator with the
Hong Kong International Arbitration Centre. He is a partner of P. C.
Woo & Co., a firm of solicitors with over 70 years of service in Hong
Kong.

Mr. Tang is @ member of the Panel member of the Insurance
Appeals Tribunal, honorary legal advisor of the General Agents and
Managers Association of Hong Kong, founding member and vice
president of the Hong Kong Institute Patent Attorneys, honorary
senior legal adviser of the Hong Kong Brands Protection Alliance,
founding member, board member and honorary legal counsel of the
Hong Kong-ASEAN Economic Cooperation Foundation, member
of the Standing Committee on Standards and Development of the
Law Society of Hong Kong, honorary legal advisor of the Kitchee
Foundation Limited, Executive Board Member of Hong Kong Air
Cadet Corps, fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Directors
and board member of Monte Jade Science and Technology
Association of Hong Kong.

On 7 July 2023, Mr. Tang was appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8018.HK).

Mr. Tang was first appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 22 November 2013. He retired on 3
December 2015 in order to devote more time for his other personal
pursuits. He was re-appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 22 August 2016.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEEBBEFE

Mr. HON Ming Sang, aged 45, Committee Member of the 11th
Luoding Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference, was appointed as an independent non-executive
director of the Company on 2 November 2016. He is the chairman
of the Audit Committee, a member of the Remuneration Committee,
a member of the Nomination Committee and also a member of the
Corporate Governance Committee of the Company.

Mr. Hon obtained an honor degree of Professional Accountancy in the
School of Accountancy from The Chinese University of Hong Kong.
He is a CFA charterholder, a member of The Hong Kong Society of
Financial Analysts, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, an associate member of The Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute and an associate member of The
Chartered Governance Institute.

Mr. Hon has previously worked in an international audit firm and has
over 15 years of working experience in listed companies and financial
institutions. He has extensive experience in corporate finance,
merger and acquisition, investment and financial management and
compliance services.

Mr. Hon is currently the chief financial officer and company secretary
of China Gas Industry Investment Holdings Co. Ltd., a company
whose shares are listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1940.
HK).

Mr. Hon is also an independent non-executive director of InvesTech
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1087.HK), Finsoft Financial Investment
Holdings Limited (stock code: 8018.HK) and Asia Energy Logistics
Group Limited (stock code: 351.HK) respectively. He was an
executive director and company secretary of SFund International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1367.HK) between 7 February 2017
and 15 August 2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREEEBBERE

Ms. LO Wing Sze BBS, JP, aged 52, was appointed as an
independent non-executive director of the Company on 22 January
2021. She is a member of the Audit Committee of the Company.

Ms. Lo holds a degree of Bachelor of Economics from the University
of Sydney in Australia and a degree of Master of Commerce in
Finance from the University of New South Wales in Australia.

Ms. Lo is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and a fellow member of CPA Australia. She is the
financial director of Million Tour Limited and the founder and financial
director of M1 Hotel Group.

Ms. Lo was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 2017 and
awarded the Bronze Bauhinia Star in 2020 by the Government of
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. She is a member of
All-China Women'’s Federation Hong Kong SAR delegate and the
Election Committee 2021 (The Fourth Sector) and was a member
of the Election Committee for the Fifth Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region (Tourism subsector). Ms. Lo is
a member of the Social Workers Registration Board, the Advisory
Committee on Post-office Employment for Former Chief Executives
and Politically Appointed Officials, the Advisory Committee on
Admission of Quality Migrants and Professionals, the Immigration
Department Users’” Committee, the Correctional Services Children’s
Education Trust Investment Advisory Board and the District Fire
Safety Committee (Wan Chai District). She is also an Honorary Court
Member of the Lingnan University. Ms. Lo is the Chairlady of Tai Hang
Five Dragon Heritage Centre (Revitalising Historic Buildings Through
Partnership Scheme Batch V).

Currently, Ms. Lo is an independent non-executive director of New
World Development Company Limited (stock code: 0017.HK),
Goldlion Holdings Limited (stock code: 00533.HK), China Resources
Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (stock code: 1209.HK) and Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (stock code: 2314.HK) respectively.
She was an independent non-executive director of Finsoft Financial
Investment Holdings Limited (stock code: 8018.HK) between 21
August 2020 and 7 July 2023.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EERGREEEBBEFE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. CHAN Ka Yu, aged 44, is the chief financial officer of the
Company and also the company secretary of Runway Global Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. He joined the Group in
June 2013. He is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting and assisting in handling company secretarial matters of the
Group.

Mr. Chan graduated with a Bachelor of Commerce in Accounting
from the Hong Kong Shue Yan University. He is a member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Mr. Chan has over 15 years of working experience in professional

accounting, financial reporting, compliance services and corporate
finance such as initial public offerings.

*For identification purpose only
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEERWR DT

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group principally engages in (i) design, manufacture and trading
of apparel, namely apparel operation; (i) provision of money lending
business, namely money lending operation; and (iii) selling of gaming
and animated characters related products, namely IP application and
products operation.

REVENUE

Economic activities were dampened by the challenging economic
environment in Mainland China and Hong Kong. Affected by the
weakened economy in 2023, the revenue of the Group decreased by
26.0% to approximately HK$66,328,000 (2022: HK$89,620,000).

APPAREL OPERATION

Revenue from apparel operation is principally derived from the sales
of apparel products.

Concerns over the economic outlook of Mainland China continued
to dampen consumption sentiment. The impact of a challenging
macroeconomic environment and a slower than anticipated economic
recovery of Mainland China not only weakened overall consumer
sentiment but also affected the demand for apparel products. Due
to economic downturn, people became conservative in buying
new apparel. Mainland China is the principal market for our apparel
operation during the year. Revenue from our apparel operation
decreased by 24.0% to approximately HK$56,488,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$74,337,000). Our apparel
operation remained the largest contributor to the Group’s business,
accounting for 85.2% of the Group’s total revenue.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MONEY LENDING BUSINESS

Our money lending business primarily offers loans to individual
customers and small businesses in Hong Kong.

In 2023, our money lending business mainly focused on providing
service to existing customers. Revenue from our money lending
operation decreased to approximately HK$8,199,000 for the year
ended 31 December 2023 (2022: HK$13,631,000), representing
a decrease of approximately 39.9%, as a result of the decrease in
interest income received/receivable from existing customers during
the year. Money lending operation accounted for 12.4% of the
Group’s total revenue.

Provision of expected credit loss allowance on loans and interest
receivables of approximately HK$14,496,000 (2022: HK$21,196,000)
was recorded for the year ended 31 December 2023, decreased by
31.6%.

IP application and products operation

Revenue from IP application and products operation is principally
derived from selling of gaming and animated characters products
of self-developed IPs or IPs licensed from third party, including blind
boxes, action figures, garage kits. The principal market of our IP
application and products is Mainland China.

Revenue from our IP application and products decreased to
approximately HK$1,641,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$1,652,000), decreased slightly by approximately 0.7%.
There was full year income for IP operation in 2023, compared with
less than 6 months income for IP operation in 2022. IP application
and products operation accounted for 2.4% of the Group’s total
revenue.

COST OF SALES

As there was no direct cost incurred for money lending operation,
cost of sales was incurred exclusively for apparel operation and
IP application and products operation. The cost of sales was
approximately HK$55,095,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$75,560,000), decreased by 27.1%.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEERWR DT

The decrease in cost of sales for 2023 was primarily reflected by less
material costs due to decrease in revenue from apparel operation for
the period.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

Gross profit for the year ended 31 December 2023 was approximately
HK$11,233,000 (2022: HK$14,060,000), decreased by 20.1%. The
gross profit margin increased from approximately 15.7% for the year
ended 31 December 2022 to 16.9% for the year ended 31 December
2023. During the year, apparel operation contributed gross profit of
approximately HK$2,729,000 (2022: gross loss of HK$161,000),
money lending operation contributed approximately HK$8,199,000
(2022: HK$13,631,000) and IP application and products operation
contributed approximately HK$305,000 (2022: HK$590,000) to the
gross profit.

The apparel operation recorded gross profit of approximately
HK$2,729,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: gross
loss of HK$161,000) due to increase in the proportion of revenue
from customers which had positive gross profit margin. In order to
increase the gross profit, we reduced sales to certain customers with
low gross profit margin in 2023.

The gross profit from money lending operation decreased by 39.9%
to approximately HK$8,199,000 for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: HK$13,631,000), as there was decrease in revenue
from money lending operation in the year. The gross profit margin
was 100% for money lending operation for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: 100%), as there was no direct cost incurred
in generating revenue in the money lending operation.

The gross profit from IP application and products operation was
approximately HK$305,000 (2022: HK$590,000), the gross profit
margin was 18.6% (2022: 35.7%)
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Management Discussion and Analysis

OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

The Group incurred losses of approximately HK$447,000 in other
gains and losses for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: gains
of HK$66,221,000).

The change from gains in other gains and losses in 2022 to losses
in other gains and losses in 2023 was mainly due to the fact that
we recorded one-off net gain from disposal of land and buildings
of approximately HK$74,762,000 in 2022. The Group disposed of
its land situated at No. 493, Dade Road, Xincheng Street, Xiuzhou
District, Jiaxing City, Zhejiang Province, the PRC together with the
properties located at the land in consideration for an aggregate
compensation of approximately HK$81,659,000. Net gain from
disposal of land and buildings of approximately HK$74,762,000 was
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2022.

During the year, as a result of the volatile conditions of the Hong
Kong stock market and the financial performance of the respective
investee companies, a net fair value loss on financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss of approximately HK$1,895,000 (2022:
HK$10,111,000) was recognised from the Group’s securities
investments.

Fair value gain on contingent receivable in connection to acquisition
of subsidiaries of approximately HK$6,865,000 (2022: nil) was
recognised during the year.

IMPAIRMENT LOSS ON GOODWILL

The Group incurred impairment loss on goodwill of approximately
HK$13,000,000 for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$34,632,000).

Goodwill arose on the (i) acquisition of our money lending operation in
November 2016, and (i) acquisition of our IP application and products
operation in July 2022. Goodwill was the fair value of consideration
exceeding the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree.
Goodwill is subject to impairment review periodically.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEEERWR DT

Impairment loss on goodwill for our IP application and products
operation of approximately HK$13,000,000 (2022: nil) was incurred
for the year ended 31 December 2023. Recent macroeconomic,
policy and industry factors resulted in a wider range of reasonably
possible value-in-use outcomes for our IP application and products
operation valuation. The Group has appointed an independent valuer
to assess the carrying value of the IP application and products
operation. The impairment test on the carrying value resulted in
an impairment of approximately HK$13,000,000 (2022: nil), as the
recoverable amount as determined by a value-in-use calculation
was lower than the carrying value. Our value-in-use calculation uses
both historical experience and market participant views to estimate
future cash flows, relevant discount rates and associated capital
assumptions.

Revenue from IP application and products operation is principally
derived from selling of gaming and animated characters products
of self-developed IPs or IPs licensed from third party, including blind
boxes, action figures, garage kits. The principal market of our IP
application and products is Mainland China.

There was no impairment loss on goodwill (2022: HK$34,632,000) for
the money lending operation for the year ended 31 December 2023.

PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS ON
TRADE RECEIVABLES

Provision for expected credit loss on trade receivables of
approximately HK$1,205,000 (2022: HK$550,000) was recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2023, representing an increase
of approximately 119.1%. In response to the challenges faced
by mainland China and Hong Kong customers, we increased the
expected credit loss on trade receivables from apparel operation.

We provided impairment loss on trade receivables on individual
assessment.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

PROVISION FOR EXPECTED CREDIT LOSS ON
LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Provision for expected credit loss on loans and interest receivables of
approximately HK$14,496,000 (2022: HK$21,196,000) was recorded
for the year ended 31 December 2023, decreased by 31.6%. In
assessing the provision for expected credit loss for loans and interest
receivables, the Group considered (i) the loan receivables which have
been past due as at 31 December 2023; (i) the repayment history of
loan and interest receivables of each borrower during the year; and (iii)
the probability of default rate due to the inability of the borrowers to
make repayments to the Group when due.

The provision for expected credit loss reflected deterioration of
the credit status of certain borrowers. The loans and interest
receivables (net of allowances) decreased by approximately 54.6%,
from approximately HK$98,163,000 at 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$44,560,000 at 31 December 2023,

PROFIT GUARANTEE IN RELATION TO THE
ADJUSTMENT TO THE CONSIDERATION FOR THE
ACQUISITION OF DREAMTOYS GROUP

On 15 July 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the entire
issued share capital of Dreamtoys Inc (the “Acquisition”). Dreamtoys
Inc and its subsidiaries (“Dreamtoys Group”) are principally engaged
in the sales of trendy cultural products in Mainland China. The total
consideration of the Acquisition was settled by way of issuance of (i)
promissory note in the aggregate principal amount of HK$4,400,000;
(i) 120,000,000 consideration shares of the Company; and (iii)
60,000,000 consideration shares of the Company subject to escrow
arrangement, under which the vendor of Dreamtoys Inc. had
guaranteed and undertaken that the net profit after tax of Dreamtoys
Inc for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Profit Guarantee
Period”) should not be less than RMB3,600,000 (the “Guaranteed
Profit 2022”) or if the Guaranteed Profit 2022 could not be met, the
Group can exercise the right to extend the Profit Guarantee Period
to the year ended 31 December 2023 and net profit after tax of
Dreamtoys Inc for the two years ended 31 December 2023 should
not be less than RMB7,200,000 (the “Guaranteed Profit 2023”).
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BEEERWR DT

As Dreamtoys Inc did not perform as expected and recorded
net profit of approximately RMB3,229,000 for the year ended 31
December 2022 and net losses of approximately RMB2,928,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2023 respectively, the Directors have
reviewed the actual performance for the years ended 31 December
2022 and 2023 of the Dreamtoys Inc. and expected that the
Dreamtoys Inc. will not meet the Guaranteed Profit 2023.

As it was expected that the Guaranteed Profit 2023 cannot be
achieved by Dreamtoys Inc, the Company will (i) repurchase and
cancel all the 60,000,000 consideration shares currently subject
to escrow arrangement and (i) require the vendor to return all
distribution and dividends declared and paid by the Company, if any,
before such repurchase, in which case the Company will carry out
the share repurchase after obtaining all regulatory approval(s).

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

Selling and distribution expenses mainly consist of (i) staff costs
and (i) transportation costs for delivery of our products. The selling
and distribution expenses were mainly incurred for our apparel
operation and IP application and products operation. The selling
and distribution expenses incurred in the reporting period were
approximately HK$3,033,000 (2022: HK$1,865,000), increased by
62.6% on a year to year basis. Higher staff cost was incurred for the
IP application and products operation in 2023 in order to promote our
business in selling our gaming and animated characters products. As
a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses increased
to 4.6% for the year ended 31 December 2023 from 2.1% for the
year ended 31 December 2022.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

Administrative expenses primarily consist of (i) staff costs; (i) share-
based compensation; and (i) professional fees. The administrative
expenses for the year ended 31 December 2023 were approximately
HK$67,263,000 (2022: HK$76,290,000), decreased by 11.8%.
The decrease in administrative expenses was mainly attributable
to absence of lay-off expenses for the year ended 31 December
20283. In 2022, we incurred lay off expenses, which was included in
staff costs, relating to relocation of production facilities from our old
factory to a new factory premises in Jiaxing City, China. The decrease
in administrative expenses was also attributable to the decrease in
professional fees. Nonetheless, the financial impact was offset in
certain degree by the increase in share-based compensation arisen
from issuance of share options in the reporting period.

FINANCE COSTS

Finance costs were approximately HK$6,318,000 (2022:
HK$3,991,000), increased by 58.3%. Finance costs were mainly the
interest expenses derived from our convertible bonds and imputed
interests on lease liabilities.

LOSS FOR THE YEAR ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

The loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2023 was approximately HK$93,749,000 (2022:
HK$65,895,000), representing an increase in loss attributable to
the owners of the Company of 42.3%. As previously discussed,
the increase in the loss attributable to owners of the Company for
the year was mainly due to (i) incurrence of losses of approximately
HK$447,000 in other gains and losses for the year ended 31
December 2023 (2022: gains HK$66,221,000) as there was no more
disposal gain for 2023 after the one-off net gain from disposal of land
and buildings of approximately HK$74,762,000 in 2022, (i) revenue
decreased for the year due to difficult environment.

GOODWILL

Goodwill arose on the (i) acquisition of our money lending operation in
November 2016, and (i) acquisition of our IP application and products
operation in July 2022. Goodwill was the fair value of consideration
exceeding the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the acquiree.
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Goodwill is subject to impairment review periodically. Impairment
loss on goodwill for our IP application and products operation of
approximately HK$13,000,000 (2022: nil) was incurred for the year
ended 31 December 2023. Recent macroeconomic, policy and
industry factors resulted in a wider range of reasonably possible
value-in-use outcomes for our IP application and products operation
valuation. The Group has appointed an independent valuer to assess
the carrying value of the IP application and products operation. The
impairment test on the carrying value which resulted in an impairment
of approximately HK$13,000,000 (2022: nil), as the recoverable
amount as determined by a value-in-use calculation was lower than
the carrying value. Our value-in-use calculation uses both historical
experience and market participant views to estimate future cash
flows, relevant discount rates and associated capital assumptions.
Goodwill for our IP application and products operation was valued
at approximately HK$28,812,000 at 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$42,543,000).

There was no impairment loss on goodwill for our money
lending operation for the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022:
HK$34,632,000). Goodwill for our money lending operation was
impaired to nil at 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

INVENTORY

The Group’s inventories increased by 28.5%, from approximately
HK$6,564,000 as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$8,435,000 as at 31 December 2023. The inventory turnover
day increased from 32 days as at 31 December 2022 to 56 days
as at 31 December 2023. In 2023, certain obsolete inventories of
approximately HK$519,000 (2022: HK$1,297,000) were impaired.

TRADE RECEIVABLES

The Group’s trade receivables decreased by 18.9%, from
approximately HK$39,065,000 as at 31 December 2022 to
approximately HK$31,662,000 as at 31 December 2023. The trade
receivables turnover day increased from 159 days as at 31 December
2022 to 174 days as at 31 December 2023, primarily because there
were more purchase orders in 2023 derived from customers who
requested for longer credit period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

The Group’s loans and interest receivables decreased by 54.6%,
from HK$98,163,000 as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$44,560,000 as at 31 December 2023. The loans receivables
as at 31 December 2023 were mainly comprised of mortgage
loans receivables, corporate loans receivables and personal loans
receivables.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s loans and interest receivables
balance (net of loss allowance) amounted to approximately
HK$44,560,000 (2022: HK$98,163,000), out of which an aggregate
sum of approximately HK$30,837,000 (2022: HK$44,586,000),
representing 69.2% (2022: 45.4%) of the total loans and interest
receivables of the Group, was due from the five largest borrowers of
the Group. The interest rates charged on all loans receivables during
2023 ranged from 8% to 24% (2022: 2.3% to 24%) per annum. As
at 31 December 2023, the loan receivables had a fixed term ranging
from 3 months to 24 months (2022: 3 months to 60 months).

As at 31 December 2023, loans and interest receivables of carrying
amount of approximately HK$29,316,000 (2022: HK$73,769,000)
were unsecured while remaining loans and interest receivables
of carrying amount of approximately HK$15,244,000 (2022:
HK$24,394,000) were secured by charges over certain properties in
Hong Kong and personal properties such as diamonds and jewellery,
and guaranteed by certain independent third parties.

As at 31 December 2023, there were 13 borrowers comprising 12
individual borrowers and 1 corporate borrower (2022: 24 borrowers
comprising 18 individual borrowers and 6 corporate borrowers) for
the outstanding loans and interest receivables (net of loss allowance).
Loans and interest receivables carrying amount of approximately
HK$38,534,000 (2022: HK$72,731,000) were due from individual
borrowers while remaining loans and interest receivables of carrying
amount of approximately HK$6,026,000 (2022: HK$25,432,000)
were due from corporate borrowers.
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As at 31 December 2023, the loan and interest receivables (net
of loss allowance) amounted to approximately HK$44,560,000
(2022: HK$98,163,000), the ageing analysis of which based on the
remaining contractual maturity date and net of loss allowance is set
out below:

E2pt
31E A A

Overdue

Due within 3 months

Due after 3 months but within 6 months
Due after 6 months but within 12 months

Total BET

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

The portfolio of the Group’s financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss consisted of investments in listed securities of approximately
HK$3,135,000 that were held for trading as at 31 December 2023
(2022: HK$10,634,000) and contingent receivable in connection to
acquisition of subsidiaries of HK$9,420,000 (2022: HK$2,555,000).

No dividend income was received by the Group from its investments
in listed securities (2022: nil). As a result of the volatile conditions
of the Hong Kong stock market during the year and the financial
performance of the respective investee companies, a net fair
value loss on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
of approximately HK$8,760,000 (2022: HK$10,111,000) was
recognised from the Group’s securities investments.

Fair value gain on contingent receivable in connection to acquisition

of subsidiaries of approximately HK$6,865,000 (2022: nil) was
recognised during the year.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The objective of the Group’s investments in the listed securities in
Hong Kong is to achieve profit from the appreciation of the market
value of its invested securities and to receive dividend income. The
Directors expect that the stock market in Hong Kong will remain
volatile which may affect the performance of the Group’s securities
investments. The Board believes that the performance of the
securities investments of the Group will be dependent on the financial
and operating performance of the investee companies and the
market sentiment, which are affected by factors, such as interest rate
movements and performance of the macro economy. The Group will
continue to adopt a conservative investment approach in its trading of
listed securities in the Hong Kong stock market and closely monitor
the performance of its securities investment portfolio.

TRADE PAYABLES

The Group’s trade payables decreased by 56.0%, from approximately
HK$17,586,000 as at 31 December 2022 to approximately
HK$7,743,000 as at 31 December 2023. The trade payables turnover
day decreased from 85 days as at 31 December 2022 to 51 days as
at 31 December 2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 December 2023, cash and cash equivalents amounted
to approximately HK$31,243,000 (2022: HK$52,012,000). Total
borrowing and lease liabilities of the Group as at 31 December 2023
was approximately HK$32,908,000 (2022: HK$31,457,000), of
which approximately HK$6,483,000 (2022: HK$6,241,000) would be
repayable within one year and all the remaining borrowing and lease
liabilities of approximately HK$26,425,000 (2022: HK$25,216,000)
would be repayable after one year.

The current ratio of the Group was approximately 4.17 as at 31
December 2023 (2022: 4.42).
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GEARING RATIO

The gearing ratio of the Group, calculated as total borrowing and
lease liabilities over total equity was approximately 22.1% as at 31
December 2023 (2022: 15.0%).

CHARGE ON ASSETS

The Group did not have any pledge or charge on asset as at 31
December 2023.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss of approximately HK$10,634,000 were pledged
as securities for the Group’s other borrowings.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (2022: nil).

TREASURY POLICY

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The Group strives
to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit
assessments and evaluations of the financial status of its customers.
To manage liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s
liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s
assets, liabilities and other commitments can meet its funding
requirements from time to time.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE EXPOSURE

Substantial portion of the business transactions of the Group are
either denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) or in Hong Kong dollars.
The Board of Directors does not consider that the Group is exposed
to any material foreign currency exchange risk. Therefore, no hedging
instruments or any other alternatives have been used.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS OR DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND AFFILIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and
affiliated companies during the year ended 31 December 2023.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 December 2023, the Group did not have any significant
capital commitment (2022: nil).

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had a total of 73 employees
(2022: 150 employees). Total staff costs (including Directors’
emoluments) for the year ended 31 December 2023 were
approximately HK$42,816,000, as compared to approximately
HK$50,719,000 for the year ended 31 December 2022.

Remuneration is determined with reference to market norms as well
as individual employees’ performance, qualification and experience.

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 22
November 2013 whereby the Board was authorised, at its absolute
discretion and subject to terms of the Scheme, to grant options to
subscribe for the shares of the Company to any full-time or part-
time employee of the Company or any member of the Group (the
“Eligible Participant”). On 17 January 2023 the Company granted
options under the Scheme to Eligible Participants to enable the
Eligible Participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 168,850,000
new shares of the Company. Details of the share options granted and
outstanding during the year are set out in the paragraphs “SHARE
OPTION SCHEME” in this annual report.

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR
CAPITAL ASSETS

There was no specific plan for material investments or capital assets
as at 31 December 2023 (31 December 2022: nil).
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PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER GENERAL
MANDATE

In order to raise additional capital for the Group’s operation and
business development, on 20 October 2023, the Company
entered into a placing agreement, pursuant to which the Company
conditionally agreed to place, on a best effort basis, a maximum
of 400,000,000 placing shares at the placing price of HK$0.10 per
placing share (the “Placing”). The completion of the Placing took
place on 5 December 2023. A total of 110,862,000 placing shares
were successfully placed to not less than six placees at the placing
price of HK$0.10 per placing share. The gross proceeds from the
Placing were approximately HK$11,086,000. The net proceeds
from the Placing (after deducting the placing commission for the
Placing) were approximately HK$10.9 million. The net price raised per
placing share upon the completion of the Placing was approximately
HK$0.098 per placing share.

To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having
made all reasonable enquiries, the placees and their respective
ultimate beneficial owners (if any) are individual, institutional or
professional investors who were (i) an independent third party, and (i)
independent of and not parties acting in concert with any persons,
other placee(s) or shareholders to the effect that any Placing to such
investor shall not trigger any mandatory offer under Rule 26.1 of the
Takeovers Code.

As the placing shares were not fully placed, the Group has applied
the net proceeds of HK$9.1 million for repayment of outstanding
liabilities and the balance of HK$1.8 million as general working capital
as per disclosure in the announcements of the Company dated 5
December 2023.

Details of the Placing were set out in the announcements of the

Company dated 20 October 2023, 10 November 2023 and 5
December 2023.

FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board of Directors did not recommend any payment of a final
dividend for the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Corporate Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report for
the year ended 31 December 2023.

CORPORATE GOVERNANGE PRACTICES

Mission Statement

The Company aims at maintaining long-term return for all
stakeholders and achieving assets growth by adoption of flexible
business model and strategies. The Board and the management of
the Company play an active role in the development of the Group’s
business model. The “Chairman’s Statement” includes discussions
and analyses of the Group’s performance, the basis on which the
Group directs to create values in the longer term and delivers the
Group’s objectives. Details of the Group’s business performance and
financial review for the reporting year are set out in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” section of this annual report.

Alignment of Culture and Business Strategy

The Company demonstrates its corporate culture in its operations
and relations with its stakeholders. The Board instils a culture that
promotes and maintains a high standard of integrity, openness,
probity and accountability. The Directors always act with integrity,
lead by example, and promote the desired culture of the Company.
Such culture aligns with the core values of the Group of acting
lawfully, ethically and responsibly which is continually reinforced by
the Company. In order to promote and implement the purpose and
core values continuously, the Board has established various internal
policies and procedures e.g. anti-fraud and anti-bribery policy and
whistleblowing policy, which form an integral part of creating a healthy
corporate culture of the Group.

Board’s evaluation of corporate culture

It is the Board’s duty to ensure that the desired culture is reflected
in the Company’s strategy, business model and operating practices.
The Board committees are adequately empowered and resourced
to embed values and assess the corporate culture. They work
collaboratively and report to the Board regularly to help the Board
drawing insights into culture. Please see the sections below on the
duties of the Board committees and the work performed by each of
them during the reporting year.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, the Company has
complied with the principles and applicable code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code in force during 2023 (the “CG Code”) as
set out in Appendix C1 (formerly known as Appendix 14) of the Rules
(the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) throughout
the year.

The Board will keep reviewing and updating its corporate governance
practices from time to time to ensure compliance with legal and
commercial standards. The terms of reference of the Board
committees have been posted on the Company’s and the Stock
Exchange’s websites.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is primarily responsible for formulating strategies,
monitoring performance and managing risks of the Group. At the
same time, it also has the duty to enhance the effectiveness of the
corporate governance practices of the Group.

Under the Board, there are four committees, namely Audit
Committee, Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and
Corporate Governance Committee. All these Board committees
perform their distinct roles in accordance with their respective terms
of reference and assist the Board in supervising certain functions of
the senior management.

THE BOARD AND BOARD COMMITTEES

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises 8 Directors and
their respective roles are set out as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Yang (Chairman)

TIN Yat Yu Carol

CHAN Ming Leung Terence

GONG Xiachan

WONG Wai Kai Richard (was appointed on 6 October 2023)
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Corporate Governance Report

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang
LO Wing Sze

Mr. WONG Wai Kai Richard, who has been appointed as an
executive Director during the reporting year, has obtained the legal
advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards the
requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to him as a
director of the Company and the possible consequences of making a
false declaration or giving false information to the Stock Exchange on
6 October 2023, and he has confirmed he understood his obligations
as a director of the Company.

DUTIES OF THE BOARD AND MANAGEMENT

Duties of the Board

The Board is primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising the
management of the business affairs and the overall performance of
the Group. The Board sets the Group’s values and standards and
ensures that the requisite financial and human resources support
are in place for the Group to achieve its objectives. The functions
performed by the Board include but not limited to formulating
the Group’s business strategies, reviewing the Group’s financial
performance and results, deciding all significant financial and
operational issues and monitoring, reviewing the Group’s internal
control system and corporate governance; and all other functions
reserved to the Board under the Company’s articles of association as
amended from time to time (the “Articles”).

Duties of the Management

In addition, the Board delegates to the Group’s management certain
functions including (i) the implementation of general daily operation
and strategies approved by the Board; (ii) the implementation of
internal control procedures; and (i) ensuring compliance with relevant
requirements and other rules and regulations.

Pursuant to Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules, the
Company has appointed 3 independent non-executive Directors. All
of them have appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or
related financial management expertise.
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Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, the current Board
members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships with each other. All the Directors carry out their duties
in good faith and in compliance with applicable laws and regulations,
making decisions objectively and acting in the interests of the
Company and its shareholders at all times.

The Company has received from each independent non-executive
Director an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the Board considers them
independent.

Biographies of all Directors are listed in the section headed
“Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management” set out
on pages 9 to 15.

CHAIRMAN AND DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same person. The Company deviated from such
provision during the period after Mr. Cheung Ka Lung’s resignation
as the deputy chief executive officer of the Company on 31 August
2023. Under the leadership of Mr. Li Yang, who continued to act
as the chairman of the Board and perform the added role of the
chief executive officer of the Company, the Board worked effectively
and performed its responsibilities with all key and appropriate issues
discussed in a timely manner. In addition, as all major decisions were
made in consultation with members of the Board and relevant Board
committees, and there are three independent non-executive directors
on the Board offering advice from independent perspectives, the
Board was therefore of the view that there were adequate safeguards
in place to ensure sufficient balance of powers within the Board.

BOARD MEETINGS AND GENERAL MEETINGS

The Board meets regularly for reviewing and approving the financial
and operating performance of the Group, and considering and
approving the overall strategies and policies of the Group. Additional
meetings are held when significant events or important issues are
required to be discussed and resolved.
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The Company held 13 Board meetings, one independent Board

PREARE

RHBEFER  2FARAIERTIBRES

committee (“IBC”) meeting, one annual general meeting (‘AGM”) and E€#% —ABUEEZEE ([BUEEZE
one extraordinary general meeting (‘EGM”) during the reporting year,. B&]) €% « —ARKBFRKE ([REHE
The chairman also held meetings with the independent non-executive  FAE 1) k—RIEFRFRIAE ([ REF
Directors without the presence of other Directors. ARE)) o FREBIIENTESENERITE
o MEHMEENE -
The attendance record of each Director is as follows:— BEESMLFECHEAT
Number of Board Number of IBC ~ Number of AGM  Number of EGM
meetings attended/ meeting attended/ attended/ attended/
Name of director eligible to attend  eligible to attend*  eligible to attend eligible to attend
BUEE
EZEedNE/ ZE0HERE/ RRBAFASLRE/ RRBAASLE/
EEpe REREERY  GEBLERE  GERLERE  GERLERY
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: #irEs:
LI Yang (Chaiman) 35 (1E) 13/13 N/A T Ef 1/1 1/1
TIN Yat Yu Carol m—iF 8/13 NA TNER 17 0/1
CHEUNG Ka Lung KK
(resigned on 31 August 2023) (RZZ==FN\A=T—-HFE) 99 NATER 11 i
CHAN Ming Leung Terence RS 13/13 N/A T 1/1 111
GONG Xiaohan LS 13/13 NA TR 11 o
WONG Wai Kai Richard TEE
(was appainted on 6 October 2023) (R=BZ=F1 R \BEZRT) 33 NA TER 0/0 00
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE BUFYTES:
DIRECTORS:
TANG Shu Pui Simon ifes 13/13 11 1 i
HON Ming Sang Bt 1313 1/1 1/1 1/1
LO Wing Sze i 12113 1/1 1/1 1/1
# Established to advise the independent Shareholders on a discloseable and ~ * R BATBATRERBER S RBLIRRRE

connected transaction

DIRECTORS’ CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL
DEVELOPMENT

According to the CG Code, all Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills to ensure that their contribution to the Board
remains informed and relevant.

HER
EEREEERRE
RIBGEERSTE  fTEEEH AL EHEFEE
BHEHEE LRSS REMEAHE L - #
MEREEEEANBRIEFAENBELT
MESLELER
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Every newly appointed Director is provided with a comprehensive
induction and information to ensure that he/she has a proper
understanding of the Company’s operations and business as well as
his/her responsibilities under the relevant laws, rules and regulations.

The development and training of Directors are an ongoing process
so that the Directors can perform their duties appropriately. The
Directors are provided with periodic updates on the Company’s
performance, position and prospects to enable the Board as a whole
and each Director to discharge their duties. In addition, the Directors
are encouraged to participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that
they continue to make contribution to the Board in an informed and
relevant manner.

The chart below summarises the participation of the individual

Directors in continuous professional development during the year
ended 31 December 2023 and up to the date of this report:

Name of director

BRMEZAESHERF2E 2 HERAM
KRER - DERBEE THRARR 2EER
EBEARBERMERARE - RAILRE N 2B
BEEHRMEIIR—ERENBRIE - UEE
FEREMBEEHETHRE - ARREHAES
RHEEBARFRE MARARZRHE
B UBEEFEBREMNEREFHEITH
BE - I ARFISE2BEET2 NS
BELRR UARAREHRE 2 MAEB MK
B MBERRSEEHESSIFLABER
TERAE R -

TEMigsEETHEEzE ST _=F+_H
Z+—BIFEREEAREAHLEEFE
HEHRMIBMN

Participated in continuous
professional development

=Y SHEGESERR"

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: HITEE

LI Yang (Chairman) 205 (F/E) v

TIN Yat Yu Carol H—%F v

CHEUNG Ka Lung REKH 4
(resigned on 31 August 2023) (RZZE==F\A=+—H&H)

CHAN Ming Leung Terence PREASE 4

GONG Xiaohan BERER v

WONG Wai Kai Richard T v
(was appointed on 6 October 2023) (RZZEZ=FTARBEZE)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS: BN FHTESE :

TANG Shu Pui Simon iy v

HON Ming Sang FRERAE 4

LO Wing Sze KT 4

* Attend seminars/conferences/forums/briefings/workshops/programmes; and/or ~ * HEEER EERE  CEERUASHEESR

read materials relevant to the business, director’s duties, corporate governance
or regulatory updates, etc.
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors has entered into a service contract or a letter of
appointment (as the case may be) with the Company for a period of
three years.

In accordance with the Articles, one-third of the Directors are subject
to retirement by rotation or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third
shall retire from the office and being eligible offer themselves for re-
election provided that every Director shall be subject to the retirement
by rotation at least once every three years. A new Director is subject
to re-election by the shareholders at the first AGM after his or her
appointment in accordance with the Articles.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles, Mr. WONG Wai Kai
Richard (who was appointed on 6 October 2023) will hold office until
the next following AGM after his appointment and, being eligible,
offers himself for re-election.

In accordance with article 84 of the Articles, Mr. CHAN Ming Leung
Terence, Mr. GONG Xiaohan and Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon will retire
from office by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the forthcoming AGM.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Nomination Committee on 22 November
2018. The Nomination Committee currently consists of one executive
Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon and Mr. HON Ming Sang.
Mr. LI Yang is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.
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The main duties of the Nomination Committee include, among others:

reviewing the structure, size and composition of the Board;

identifying suitable and qualified individuals to join the Board;

assessing the independence of independent non-executive
Directors; and

making recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors.

During the reporting year, 2 meetings of the Nomination Committee
were held and the attendance record of each committee member is
as follows:—

Name of director

REZBENIERARE (HHEE) :

- ERESFENRE - RERAERK

- DELEREEBATNAEES:

- FHEBMIFHMITESMEMLME &

WERRIXENZEETAESSR
i -

RBEFERN ERIT2RIEZREGSH
AEZEEKEMHFECHENT

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

BEERS HEEEREESERE
LI Yang (Chairman) =% (FE) 2/2
TANG Shu Pui Simon B E 2/2
HON Ming Sang FRERAE 2/2

During the reporting year, the Nomination Committee performed the
following work:

reviewed the structure, size and composition of the Board with
reference to the Company’s board diversity policy;

provided recommendations to the Board on relevant matters
relating to the appointment or re-appointment of Directors;

reviewed the proposed re-election of the retiring Directors at the
AGM held on 9 June 2023;

reviewed the confirmations of independence from the
independent non-executive Directors; and

after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.
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During the reporting year, the Nomination Committee also reviewed
the implementation and effectiveness of mechanisms to ensure
independent views and input are available to the Board. Taking into
account the following, the Nomination Committee considered that the
Company had in place mechanisms which remain effective to ensure
a strong independent element on the Board:

- a sufficient number of three independent non-executive
Directors representing more than one-third of the Board by
(i) participating in board meetings to bring an independent
judgement to bear on issues of strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of
conduct; (i) taking the lead where potential conflicts of interests
arise; (iii) serving on the audit, remuneration, nomination and
corporate governance committees; and (iv) scrutinising the
Company’s performance in achieving agreed corporate goals
and objectives, and monitoring performance reporting;

- the Chairman holds meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors at least annually without presence of other
Directors providing effective platform for the Chairman to listen
independent views on various issues concerning the Group;
and

- independent professional advice would be provided to
independent non-executive Directors upon reasonable request
to assist them to perform their duties to the Company.
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Nomination Policy

The Board has established a set of nomination policy setting out
the approach to nominate suitable candidates to the Board for it to
consider and make recommendations to shareholders for election
as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors to fill casual
vacancies. The criteria of nomination have been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to, skills, experience,
qualifications and other aspects as detailed in the board diversity

policy.

During the reporting year, the Company reviewed its nomination
policy for a formal, considered and transparent procedure to help
identifying and nomination of candidates for Directors. All valid
nomination of candidates, accompanied with biographical details,
would be presented to the Board for consideration. Consideration
would be given to factors such as the candidate’s integrity,
experience and qualifications relevant to the Group’s business. It is
believed that members of the Nomination Committee collectively have
required relevant knowledge and skills to identify, invite and evaluate
individuals nominated for directorships.

The process of our appointment and re-election of Directors are as
follows:

Potential new Directors are identified and considered for appointment
at any time by the Board upon recommendation of the Nomination
Committee. Nomination Committee considers the candidates based
on merit having regard to the knowledge, experience, skills and
expertise as well as the overall board diversity which, in the opinion of
the Directors, will enable them to make positive contributions on the
performance of the Board and makes recommendations to the Board
as appropriate. Emoluments of new Directors will be considered by
the Remuneration Committee.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has established a set of board diversity policy setting
out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board with the aims
of enhancing the Board’s effectiveness and corporate governance
as well as achieving our business objectives and sustainable
development. Board diversity has been considered from a number
of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, required
expertise, skills, knowledge and length of service.
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The Board currently consists of a diverse mix of Board members
appropriate to the business needs of the Company, whose
backgrounds are briefly set out below:

Designation Executive Director
Independent non-executive Director

Skills, knowledge Accounting
and professional Business Development
experience (Nete) Compliance

Corporate Finance
Corporate Management
Entrepreneurial

Finance

Financial Management
Legal

Trading

Sales and Marketing
Strategic Planning

Gender Female
Male

Note: Directors may possess multiple skills, knowledge and professional experience.

A summary of the gender statistics in the workforce of the Group
for the reporting year is disclosed in the Environmental, Social and
Governance Report of the Company. At present, the Group does
not set any targets for achieving gender diversity in the workforce.
Nevertheless, the Group’s policies on human resources in the
recruitment and promotion of employees would ensure candidates
or employees are assessed based on objective factors such as their
skills, knowledge, experience and performance, irrespective of their
respective gender, race or religion, with the aim of facilitating a fair
and equal working environment and opportunities.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board established the Remuneration Committee on 22
November 2013. The Remuneration Committee currently consists
of one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon and Mr.
HON Ming Sang. Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon is the chairman of the
Remuneration Committee.

The main duties of the Remuneration Committee include, among
others:

- formulating remuneration policy for approval by the Board,
which shall take into consideration factors such as salaries paid
by comparable companies, time commitment, employment
conditions, and responsibilities, and individual performance of
the Directors and senior management;

- ensuring that no Director or any of their associates is involved in
deciding that Director’s own remuneration; and

- reviewing and/or approving matters relating to share schemes
under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.
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During the reporting year, 3 meetings of the Remuneration Committee R EFERN » ERITIRNFHEE S S5
were held and the attendance record of each committee member is  M&Z B @K B/ HELEUT
as follows:

Number of meetings attended/
Name of director eligible to attend
EENA HEEEREESERE
TANG Shu Pui Simon (Chairman) s (%) 3/3
LI Yang =5 3/3
HON Ming Sang FRERAE 3/3

During the reporting year, the Remuneration Committee performed MRIMEFEN  HFMEESEEITUA T T

the following work: (=
- reviewed the performance of the Directors and senior - MBANEZREREEENRR @ WiER
management, and made recommendations as to their HE 2 WIBTEANREMAS

discretionary bonus and remuneration package;

- reviewed the remuneration policy and annual bonus policy; - WETEINECE RFEIEALBUR

- provided recommendations to the Board in respect of - FHITEFNSREEA BN
remuneration of executive directors and senior management, B BEREERE nEESRER
including grant of share options; and E% ;

—  reviewed the terms of the new share option scheme before the —  EARRRR T =FX AN BN
Company’s adoption on 9 June 2023; REIRREETZ AT %F}ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬂx%ﬁiﬁ’]ﬂ*

P

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of -  fBFRDERRE LRSI AEEE

above reviews to the Board for approval. R R AERLE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

The Board established the Corporate Governance Committee on 22
November 2013. The Corporate Governance Committee currently
consists of one executive Director, namely Mr. LI Yang and two
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui
Simon and Mr. HON Ming Sang. Mr. LI Yang is the chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee.

The main duties of the Corporate Governance Committee include,
among others:

- developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and making recommendations to the
Board;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous
professional development of Directors and senior management;

- reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct
and compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and

Directors; and

- reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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During the reporting year, one meeting of the Corporate Governance RAREFERN - BRIT—REEERZE
Committee was held and the attendance record of each committee EE&ZEMEEZEGKE E’Jﬁf;ﬂﬁ“ﬁﬂT
member is as follows:

Number of meetings attended/
Name of director eligible to attend
=Y HEEERHEERRE
LI Yang (Chairman) =% (FE) 11
TANG Shu Pui Simon st 1/1
HON Ming Sang FRERAE 1/1
During the reporting year, the Corporate Governance Committee  RNHEFERN » EEREAZEECEITA D
performed the following work: THe:

reviewed and monitored the policies and practices of the Group
on corporate governance;

- approved the Corporate Governance Report and the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report of the Company
for the year then ended;

- reviewed and monitored the training and continuous
professional development of Directors; and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board established the Audit Committee on 22 November 2013.
The Audit Committee currently consists of three independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. TANG Shu Pui Simon, Mr. HON Ming
Sang and Ms. LO Wing Sze. Mr. HON Ming Sang is the chairman of
the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others:

- monitoring the integrity of the Company’s financial statements,
annual and interim financial reports, and to review significant
financial reporting judgments and accounting policies contained
therein;

- satisfying themselves as to the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group and as
to the adequacy of the external and internal audits;

- making recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the external auditor, and to
approve the remuneration and terms of engagement of the
external auditor; and

- reporting the findings and making recommendations to the
Board on a regular basis.

During the reporting year, 2 meetings of the Audit Committee were

held and the attendance record of each committee member is as
follows:

Name of director

BEREE]

EEgCR - T—=Ft—A-+ZHKXZ
BEVZEg  BRZESRRBRE=28BY
FEMITES - AIEUEAE A - BHAESRER
BAFLL BHRELE/EREZEE]
o

BEZZEBEMIERAERE (HHEeH)

- EEARQRMEEHEK  FELDHGE
HEMTEN - WEMEPAEHEAR

B H T R g st R

- REAEEREREE AT RSN
BN AR SNB ER R BRI BY TE 2 1 E
B MERIKE

- BERNERERET EFZALER
SNEBAZERTIR B B R I AN
SEMAE BN R R REIER - &

- TEHRE=SREERNREHERZ

Eé«t"

BA$¥E%£|5r ERT2REREZESS
BRLZEGREMHFELCENT

Number of meetings attended/
eligible to attend

EEHA HE AEREEERRE
TANG Shu Pui Simon BOE 2/2
HON Ming Sang FRERAE 2/2
LO Wing Sze ZEIKET 2/2
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During the reporting year, the Audit Committee performed the
following work:

reviewed the re-appointment and remuneration of BDO Limited
as the Group’s auditor;

- reviewed the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems;

- reviewed the annual and interim financial statements, reports,
and results announcement of the Group prior to publication;

- reviewed a connected transaction; and

- after due consideration, made recommendations in respect of
above reviews to the Board for approval.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation of the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended
31 December 2023, which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Company and the Group’s results and cash flows for
the year then ended and was properly prepared on a going concern
basis in accordance with the applicable statutory requirements and
accounting standards.

The Directors were not aware of any material uncertainties which
may affect the Group’s business or cast significant doubt upon the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) set out
in Appendix C3 (formerly known as Appendix 10) of the Listing Rules
as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the Company by
the Directors. The Company has confirmed, having made specific
enquiry with each of the Directors, that all the Directors have
complied with the Model Code throughout the year.
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The Board has also adopted written guidelines based on the Model
Code for relevant employees of the Group in respect of their dealings
in the Company’s securities.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Group highly values the importance of internal control and risk
management for the smooth running of its business. The Board is
responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems in order to safeguard the interests of the
shareholders and the assets of the Company against unauthorised
use or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper books and
records for the provision of reliable financial information, and ensuring
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations.

The process used by the Group to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks are twofold:

Internally, the Corporate Governance Committee closely monitors
the effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal
control systems and reports to the Board regularly. The Corporate
Governance Committee shall report to the Board immediately once
any non-compliance issues are noted.

Externally, the Company engages an independent external
professional firm to perform the internal audit function, who is
responsible for carrying out the analysis and independent appraisal of
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems.

Below is a specific disclosure of the credit risk assessment policy and
internal control procedures of the Group’s money lending business:

Credit Risk Assessment Policy & Internal Control
Procedures

The Company’s money lending business has been conducting
through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Delta Wealth Finance Limited

(“Delta”), and it focuses on individual consumer and small business
markets in Hong Kong.
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Delta undergoes the following general procedures in assessing loan
applications:

(A)  Obtaining identity proof

(B) Obtaining address proof

(C) Repayment ability assessment

(D)  Credit worthiness assessment

Based on the above procedures, the Company considers that the
credit risk and the risk of breaching the relevant laws and regulations
in connection with anti-money laundering or antiterrorist financing are
relatively low. Nonetheless, the Company has in place all necessary
measures to mitigate the risk of money laundering or terrorist
financing risk of potential customers’ businesses, such as the nature
and details of the business/occupation/employment of the potential
customer; the anticipated level and nature of the activity; location of
potential customer; the expected source and origin of the funds; and
the initial and ongoing source(s) of wealth or income.

Furthermore, for guarantors who provide personal/corporate
guarantee in favour of a loan, where applicable, are also required to
meet the same basic eligibility and approval criteria as the borrower
of loans, and will be required to go through the same verification and
approval procedures. In case where loans are secured over certain
properties in Hong Kong or personal assets such as diamonds and
jewelries, the Company would engage independent third parties such
as legal advisors to investigate on the title deeds of the properties and
for personal assets charged, certificates of authenticity are requested
for verification.

After credit assessment and review of the loan applications, with
the loan terms determined (having taken into consideration factors
such as the credit risks of the customers, their recoverability and the
prevalent market interest rates), loan documents will be prepared
by the finance manager and the loans will be recommended to the
executive Director in charge of the Group’s money lending business
for review prior to reporting to the Board or approval (as the case may
be). Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, being an executive Director and the sole
director of Delta, is responsible for the approval of loans in relatively
smaller amount, and reporting the same to the Board.
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Delta would report the potential loan(s) to the Company and its Board
of Directors for the consideration by its members, if it is of larger
amount (i.e. by assessment of size tests under chapter 14 of the
Listing Rules, may constitute a discloseable transaction or above),
in which case, such potential loan(s) shall be reported to the Board
for discussion and approval, the Directors (including the independent
non-executive Directors) shall then consider whether such loans are
on normal commercial terms, fair and reasonable and in the interests
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole. Moreover, for any
potential loan(s) which may involve connected person(s) as defined
under chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, such loan(s) will be reported
to the Board immediately for assessment with respect to size tests
and assessment by the Board as elaborated above.

Last but not least, Delta would conduct regular review and carry out
follow up actions (on a monthly and continuing basis) in respect of
overdue amounts to minimise the Group’s exposure to credit risk and
follow up closely with its customers as to the deadlines in payment
of interest of the loans. An aging analysis of the debtors would be
prepared on a monthly basis and would be closely monitored to
minimise any credit risk associated with these debtors. Status of
Delta’s loan portfolio would be reported to the Board on a monthly
basis, such that the Board may closely monitor the loan portfolio
and continue to adopt risk control and management strategies while
broadening the customer base.

Delta has standard procedures in dealing with default in payment. In
case there are any minor defaults, its management will send reminder
and/or demand letters to its customers. In case the default for loans
persists (i.e. delay in repayment has exceeded for three months or
above), the collection procedure will commence and Delta will engage
lawyers in advising on the loan, its recovery and enforcement action.

Please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 1 September
2022 for more details.
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Review the effectiveness of Risk Management and
Internal Control Systems

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the Board conducted an
annual review of its risk management and internal control systems
and reviewed the reports issued by the independent external
professional firm. The annual review considered the adequacy of
resources, staff qualifications and experience etc. of the Group’s
accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions. The
main features of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems include financial, operational and compliance controls.
Such systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the
risk of failure to achieve business objectives, and as such, can only
provide reasonable (rather than absolute) assurance against material
misstatement or loss. The risk management and internal control
systems also serve to improve communication of identified risks with
management, measure the impact of the identified risk and facilitate
the implementation of coordinated mitigating measures.

The Board is of the view that the Group’s risk management and
internal control systems are effective and adequate. The Board
will continue to assess the effectiveness of its risk management
and internal control systems by considering reviews and
recommendations made by the Corporate Governance Committee
and senior management.

PROCEDURES AND INTERNAL CONTROLS FOR
HANDLING AND DISSEMINATION OF INSIDE
INFORMATION

The Group acknowledges its responsibilities under the Securities
and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Listing Rules and the overriding principle that inside information
should be announced immediately when it is the subject of a
decision. The procedures and internal controls for the handling and
dissemination of inside information are as follows:

- the Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure
requirement under the Listing Rules as well as the “Guidelines
on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities
and Futures Commission of Hong Kong;
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- the Group regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information to ensure inside information remains confidential
until the disclosure of such information is appropriately
approved. Inside information is restricted to relevant parties on
a need-to-know basis so as to ensure confidentiality;

- the Group strictly prohibits unauthorised use of confidential or
inside information;

- the Group has also implemented procedures to guard against
possible mishandling of inside information within the Group
including natification of regular blackout period and securities
dealing restrictions to Directors and relevant employees; and

- the Group keeps the Directors and employees appraised of the
latest regulatory updates on disclosure requirements of inside
information.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS LIABILITY INSURANCE

Promoting good corporate governance and managing enterprisewide
risk is a top priority of the Company. The Company is convinced that
corporate governance and Directors and Officers Liability Insurance
(the “D&O Insurance”) complement each other. The Company has
arranged appropriate D&O Insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against the Directors and
senior management arising out from corporate activities. The D&O
Insurance is reviewed and renewed annually.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company has engaged and appointed Ms. WONG Ka Man, a
representative from an external secretarial service provider, as the
company secretary of the Company. Ms. Wong has duly complied
with the relevant professional training requirement under Rule 3.29 of
the Listing Rules.

The primary contact person with the company secretary of the

Company is the chairman of the Board and the chief financial officer
of the Company.
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AUDITOR REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2023, remuneration paid/payable
to the auditor of the Group is approximately HK$1,050,000 for audit
service.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

Pursuant to a special resolution passed at the EGM held on 25
March 2022, the Company adopted its second amended and
restated memorandum and articles of association. The latest version
is available on both the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

In accordance with the Articles, shareholders holding not less than
10% of the paid up capital of the Company can convene an EGM
by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the
Company. In addition, shareholders can raise any questions relating
to published information and latest strategic plan of the Group with
the Directors. Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general
meetings or to appoint proxies to attend and vote at meetings for and
on their behalf if they are unable to attend the meetings. Shareholders
can also submit enquiries to the management and send proposals
to be put forward at shareholders’ meeting to the Board or senior
management by sending e-mails to ir@vmh.com.hk.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy setting out the
principles and guidelines in relation to declaration, payment or
distribution of its net profits as dividends to the shareholders. The
distribution of dividend will be considered and determined by the
Board based on the Group’s operating results, cash flow, financial
position, business prospects, and statutory and regulatory restrictions
relating to dividend distributions as well as other factors that the
Board considers appropriate.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Board recognises the importance of good communications with
all shareholders. The Company believes that maintaining a high level
of transparency is a key to enhance investor relations. The Company
is committed to a policy of open and timely disclosure of corporate
information to its shareholders and public investors.

The Company maintains various communication channels with
its shareholders and the investment public to ensure that they are
kept abreast of the Company’s latest news and development. The
Company updates its shareholders on its development, financial
results and major events through its annual and interim reports. All
published information is promptly uploaded to the website of the
Company at www.vmh.com.hk.

The Chairman, other members of the Board and the external
auditor attend the Company’s annual general meeting to meet the
shareholders. The Directors and management of the Company are
available to answer questions and listen feedbacks from shareholders
regarding the performance of the Group. The Company has reviewed
its Shareholders’” Communication Policy during the reporting year,
and believes that the Shareholders’ Communication Policy remains
appropriate and effective.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

The Board is pleased to present this report on environmental, social
and governance (“ESG”) which set out the Group’s support to various
sustainable development efforts and ESG concepts, visions and
policies during the year ended 31 December 2023 (“the Year”).

SCOPE OF THE REPORT

The ESG Report mainly describes the environmental and social
policies of the core businesses of the Group in the PRC and Hong
Kong of the PRC, comprising design, manufacturing and trading of
apparel products, and money lending business. This year, the Group
takes the environmental and social performance of the manufacturing
plant in Jiaxing, China (“Jiaxing Plant”), Qingdao, China (“Qingdao
Plant”) and three offices in Hong Kong as the disclosure focus
of the environmental and social key performance indicators. For
details about the Group’s corporate governance, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report on pages 31 to 54.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The ESG Report is compiled in accordance with the Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide (‘ESG Guide”) under
Appendix C2 to the Main Board Listing Rules issued by the Stock
Exchange, which applies the reporting principles of materiality,
quantitative, balance and consistency.

Materiality:

The content of the ESG Report is determined based on the
stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment, which covers
the identification of ESG-related issues, gathering and review of the
opinions from internal management and stakeholders, assessment
on the relevance and materiality of the issues, and preparation and
verification of the information of the ESG Report. The ESG Report
provides comprehensive coverage of the key ESG issues of concern
to the Group’s stakeholders.

Quantitative:

The Group has disclosed the quantitative environmental and social
key performance indicators (“KPI”) in the ESG Report. The criteria,
methods, reference and conversion factors used to calculate the
KPIs are stated to enable stakeholders to have a comprehensive
understanding of the Group’s ESG performance.
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RIR - HERERHE

Consistency:

The Group uses consistent reporting and calculation methods so
far as reasonably practicable and details the significant changes in
methodologies in relevant sections to facilitate the comparison of
ESG performance between years.

COMMENT AND FEEDBACK

We value your views on this report, and please email any comment or
suggestion on the report to: info@vmh.com.hk.

ESG MANAGEMENT APPROACH

The Group is committed to the implementation of corporate goals
and visions as well as the active fulfillment of social responsibilities.
We have developed ESG management approach to benefit all
stakeholders, contribute to society and protect the environment
under the principle of sustainable development. In the meantime, the
Group values the opinions of different stakeholders, which are taken
as the basis for the development of our sustainable development
policies. We are committed to communicating with stakeholders in a
diversified way, understanding and trying our best to respond to their
expectations and requirements, so as to improve our performance in
ESG.

GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK OF ESG

For the sake of effective top-down implementation of sustainable
development strategy, the Group has developed an independent
internal control and risk management framework with the Board,
deputy chief executive officer and senior management of the
Company as the core. Moreover, we will review and adjust relevant
sustainable development policies from time to time to understand
and meet the expectations and needs of different stakeholders.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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The ESG governance framework of the Group is as follows:

Board of Directors

‘{

Developing and approving the Group’s development and
business strategies, policies, annual budget and business
plan;

Reviewing, tackling and reporting all environmental and social
issues under the subject areas and aspects of the ESG
Guide;

Overseeing the Group’s execution and performance of ESG
related matters; and

Making timely adjustments to the Group’s strategies.

Deputy Chief Executive Officer

Executing the duties entrusted by the Board, including the
overall strategies and approach on operational, financial,
environmental and social issues and obligations;

Analysing and establishing key performance indicators; and
Coordinating with the objectives, visions and policies of the
Group to carry out supervision and continual actions.

v

Senior Management

Leading and supervising the implementation of sustainable
development objectives and policies of the Group;
Formulating and executing ESG policies;

Keeping track and reporting to the Board of emerging market
trends regarding ESG-related issues that may potentially
impact the Group’s business operations;

Overseeing, reviewing and discussing the content and quality
of the annual ESG Report, and presenting the ESG Report to
the Board; and

Informing the Board of the Group’s development in ESG
performance, visions and strategies through Board meetings.

v

Business Units

Coordinating and implementing ESG policies and measures
of the Group at different stages of business operations; and
Collecting ESG related information and data.
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RIR - HERERHE

To evaluate and prioritise material ESG issues, the Group has
engaged an independent ESG consulting firm in the Year to
help identify material ESG issues and provide advice on its ESG
performance. The consulting firm assisted in gathering and analysing
the opinions of the Group’s stakeholders (including the Board,
senior management and employees) on ESG issues and conducted
materiality assessment. The issues would be reviewed and prioritised,
and those with high significance to the Group and stakeholders
are considered as material. The senior management reviews and
presents to the Board the results of the assessment and identifies
material ESG issues of the Group.

In the aim of formulating and executing effective ESG policies and
measures, the Board reviews the plans and execution of ESG-
related work with respect to its targets and goals during regular
meetings. The Group also shares its progress in ESG with different
stakeholders, most notably through the Group’s annual ESG Report.
The senior management will continue to oversee ESG-related work
and keep abreast of the latest ESG disclosure requirements of the
Stock Exchange for the Board to lead the Group’s ESG progress
effectively.
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Stakeholders Engagement

The management and employees from various departments of the
Group jointly prepare the ESG Report of the Year and assist the
Group in reviewing its operating conditions. The solicitation of views
from the management and other employees enables the Group to
identify major issues at the environmental and social levels and make

K ESH

relevant disclosure and response in the ESG Report.

Stakeholder
B0 E

Expectations and
Requirements

HEEER

AEENEEEREAFIEBARESEAF
EHESGHE - M 15 B AN & B et & & A
e ARBEBEBEKEEBREMEENE
RoBRREMMEERNEEZE
ESG ¥R EH BRI FE M & -

RIS

Ways of Communication and
Response

BEREDERN

Government and Regulatory
Authorities

B R E R

Shareholders

BIR

Partners

BIERH

Abiding by national and regional policies,

laws and regulations

PR R EL R BUR SORRER
Promoting local employment
EENIM T B

Paying taxes on time

R

Returns

EE=

Compliant operation

BRES

Increase in company value
RARFER

Improving information transparency and
effective communication
EmAMBERRARER

Business integrity

ML E

Fair competition

NEHF

Due performance of contracts
B1TEH)

Mutual benefit and win-win result
ERIES

Timely reporting of information
T E (5 B

Ongoing communication with
regulatory authorities
FHEREERIBER
Inspection and supervision
wE N EE

General meetings

RERAE

Company announcements

NCIVNGS

E-mail, telephone communication and
company website

B - BEBALAD AMEL

Business communication
B3

Communication and discussion
BB R

Negotiation and cooperation

AMALE
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ARE

Expectations and

Ways of Communication and

Stakeholder Requirements Response
BHE M EER BEEEERN
Customers e High-quality products and services e Customer service center and hotline
LSS B H A o B AR 7% B RRGH OFEER
e Health and safety e Customer communication meetings
TS BRBEREE
e Due performance of contracts e Social media
B1TEH) AR
e Business integrity
WIS E
Environment e Discharge in compliance with standards e Communicating with local
IRIR EIEHER environmental authorities
e Energy conservation and emission ERE IR EPI M
reduction
B gE R BE
e Ecological protection
4 REIRE
Industry e Promoting industrial developments e Participate in industry forums
7% fRETTHER DEITHERIE
e Visits and inspections
EREW
Employees e (QOccupational health e Employees communication meetings
(== BRI R EEBRE

Community and the General
Public
Can Y S YN

e Remuneration and benefits
i F|
e Career development

BERER

Improving community environment
WEMRIRIR

e Participating in public welfare
undertakings

DHENGEE

e Information disclosure and transparency

B AFER

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)

Employee mailbox
EEEHE
Employee activities
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Materiality Assessment

To develop a clear and effective ESG management approach, the
Group has conducted a materiality assessment to identify ESG issues
that are important to its business and stakeholders. The materiality
assessment was based on stakeholder surveys, materiality maps
provided by well-known external institutions' and advice from the
independent ESG consulting firm. The Group identified 11 material
ESG issues to be discussed in detail in this report.

BRI

REM R BB EIE ESGER T E - ANEH
BETEEMTE - UHBIEARRTEB R
HEEHEZHERNESGEE - E2FTE
DERFNERAE - MBI BEIBREHANE
EEE ' LAKIE ESG BRI EZETT
AEBE BB AR RESFAT RO 11IA
ESGEZEHE °

Aspects Material Issues

=] BEERE
Environmental Carbon Emission
IR BRBERR

Employment and Labour Practices
BRNBTER

Operating Practices
ZE1E DI

! The materiality maps referenced in the materiality assessment have included
the ESG Industry Materiality Map and the SASB Materiality Map produced

Use of Raw Materials and Packaging Materials

R R BEMFHE R

Employment compliance
EiRaR

Remuneration and benefits

Hr A

Occupational health and safety
BEREEREL S

Training and Education
BIRBE

Diversity and Equal Opportunity
Zle R ERE

Operational Compliance
LEAR

Customer privacy protection
BPALRBRE

Information Security
BRMRIE

Anti-corruption

K&

respectively by Morgan Stanley Capital International (MSCI) and the Sustainability

Accounting Standards Board (SASB).

1 FEWTETSIANEZ R D BIHER
THAFERER (MSCl) RAlFERE S EAE
B'& (SASB) iR ESGITEEZ M E L X SASB

EEMEEG -
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GREEN OPERATION

The Group adheres to the approach of “observing environmental
protection regulations, raising environmental awareness,
emphasizing pollution prevention, optimising resource utilisation,
striving to conserve energy and reducing consumption, continuous
improvement” during apparel manufacturing to shoulder the social
responsibility of environmental protection. Besides, the Group strictly
abides by environmental laws and regulations enacted by the country
and local environmental department, including but not limited to the
Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China,
Water Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic
of China, Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid
Wastes and Law of the People’s Republic of China on Promoting
Clean Production, as well as carries out close monitoring on activities
with potential impact on the environment so as to have a solid grasp
of the impacts of the operation on the surrounding environment, and
fuffill its responsibilities and obligations of environmental protection.

During the Year, no violation of relevant environmental laws and
regulations was involved or discovered by the Group.

Environmental Goals and Progress

The Group is committed to maintaining transparency and tracking
progress on the various initiatives to achieve the goals we set during
the Year. The table below highlights our environment-related goals
in different aspects. The Group also ensures that the environmental
impact of the Jiaxing Plant and Qingdao Plant is minimised through
continuous improvement and is committed to continuously monitoring
the progress of its goals.
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Section with

Aspects Our Goals Corresponding Measures
FEm BMNEZE HEEENEE
Emissions Reduction of greenhouse gas emissions intensity Green Operation
HER AR = RS RS gEeE
Emissions Management
e eI
Waste Hazardous and non-hazardous waste Green Operation
BEEY) disposal in compliance EEE
EENEEEEMNEHRE Waste Management
REEYETR
Water Improve the utilization efficiency of energy and Use of Resources
7K water resources BREMA
RSEREKERF AREE
Electricity Improve the utilization efficiency of energy and Use of Resources
ESW) water resources BREMA
= BeIR KoK B JREY A AR
Environmental Management System RIEEERA

The Group has established an environmental management system,
including but not limited to relevant systems and procedures such
as environmental management, pollution control management and
solid waste management. The environmental management system is
composed of four parts of “planning, implementation, inspection and
correction, and review”. The environmental management objectives,
indicators and plans shall be strictly implemented within each
department upon approval, and managers shall be responsible for
supervising and inspecting the implementation of the plan. The Group
also holds regular environmental management review meetings to
ensure the effective implementation of environmental approaches,
objectives, indicators and plans to maintain the continuous
applicability, adequacy and effectiveness of the environmental
management system. Environmental protection report is an important
part of the environmental management review meeting, which enables
the Group to understand, research and resolve major environmental
issues in a timely manner.

AEERY TRREERR  EPEERE
B SREHEENEREYEREANF
MR HIEAE - RAOINRBEEREH
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64

The environmental management system of the Group is as follows:

Planning

B

Identifying, assessing
and confirming significant
environmental aspects;
Bl FHE REREARR
RREZE

Identifying applicable laws,

regulations and other
requirements; and
BRBEREVER  ERK
HMER : Rk

Formulating environmental
objectives, indicators and

Implementation
Bl

Implementing
environmental objectives,
indicators and plans
according to its
responsibilities by each
unit;
BEBEMARIBEABEEER
SRR BENGE

Providing employees
training on relevant
laws, regulations
and environmental
approaches; and
RIEAE F%iﬁ@iﬁ%ﬁ&fﬁiﬁ

FitEnEEE

Implementing emergency
preparedness and

Inspection and

Correction

BEHEAIE

Monitoring and measuring
activities with significant
potential environmental

impacts;

EaIl ﬂﬁiﬁﬂaiﬁ;;
BY)E BT EDRIANAI 2

Carrying out compliance
evaluation and internal
audit at least once a year;
and
HFETRSINERE
FHE RAEEZ 0 &

Investigating and dealing
with non-compliance and
taking measures to reduce

plans. response measures. —
| FIBERE - f2i= B e B = YE S TN FE S . i >
HlE IR ﬁ;f; G BER B ﬁﬁ%ﬁj JiaE] ﬁgﬂﬁfiTAfE"i\
0 . RAUE RO &
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Emissions Management

The Group has been committed to environmental protection to
reduce emission and waste during production and operation by
adopting clean energy and controlling resource consumption as much
as possible and has spared no effort in environmental protection
over the years. Jiaxing Plant and Qingdao Plant has taken measures
to reduce emissions and is committed to reducing greenhouse gas
emissions. The Group also provides training on pollution prevention
for employees to fulfill its environmental protection responsibilities. The
daily operations of the Group are mainly located in offices and plants,
and the production process only includes cutting, sewing and apparel
manufacturing processes, so no significant amount of exhaust gas or
other air pollutants with significant impact on the environment will be
generated. In addition, the Group’s exhaust gas emission was mainly
derived from vehicle use. The Group conducts regular maintenance
for the Company’s vehicles to ensure the performance of the vehicles
and ensure stable tyre pressure. In addition, the Group provides
drivers with low-carbon driving training, ensures that no idling vehicles
run their engines, and further reduces exhaust emissions by choosing
electric or hybrid vehicles. The data of relevant exhaust emissions are
as follows:

RIR - HERERHE

BRER

AEB-BERNRERE - BARERABER
BEIRRIERIEIRFEE - WA EENZE R
BHRNFRMRE - ZFK - AEERRE
R E—ANERT - ZEEENE SR
FERBURTEE - B EREREH
Mo REBMSREBIR‘EABENRIRISR
EIEF - LEITRBERENEE - AREH
AEEETBMNMAENBRE  MEER
RABREEY - #4)  BERETRF - AT
SELRERERANHEMHREFEAZEN
ZERGRY) o WHN  REBMERFREIE
RREWER - AEBETEHRARREHE
1TIRE - AMEIREE 1L BE N B e RIEARTE -
AN - NEBSEE B RHHERE S IEI
UHEREERRL  WERAESHIRAH A
B E— SR BERBER - HHRERE R
B

Exhaust Gas Emissions’ Unit 2023 2022
EER B By —EC=F T CF
Nitrogen oxides kg 24.91 35.86
k=Rl T

Sulfur oxides kg 0.05 0.11
mealty T

Particulates kg 1.76 1.80
EEy k) =

Note: P5E -

1. The calculation and emission factors used are from the Appendix Il “Reporting 1. sHE A RBEEAE T Th 5k B B AT EE M B 8k —

Guidance on Environmental KPIs” (the “Appendix II”) published by the Stock
Exchange and the “Land Transport Enterprises - Guidelines on Greenhouse Gas
Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)”issued by the National Development
and Reform Commission (the “NDRC”) of the PRC.
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The greenhouse gas emission of the Group mainly comes from
vehicle fuel consumption, purchased electricity consumption and

AEEAREREHNE R KA EWMAFH

M 5

NEBERREIMEZER - ANEH

employees’ business air travels. The greenhouse gas emission data

of the Group are as follows:

BEREIREENT

Greenhouse Gas Emission Unit 2023 2022
BEREHEK B —EZ=H —EZF
Total greenhouse gas emissions' tCOe 80.8 254
REREHMEE WE—SLIRE S
Scope 1: Direct emissions? tCOe 9.1 24
#HE— - AR W _S(rIREE
Scope 2: Energy indirect emissions?® tCO,e 69.4 198
HE_ : sEREETERS W_S(tiREE
Scope 3: Other indirect emissions* tCOe 2.3 32
$WE= - HtbMEgEme WE—SLIRE 2
Greenhouse gas emission intensity t CO,e/employee 1.42 1.46

RERBINEE

M_S{tiREE &S

Note:

Total greenhouse gas emissions are calculated in accordance with the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange and the”Guidelines to Account for and
Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for buildings (Commercial,
Residential or Institutional Purpose) in Hong Kong” published by the
Environmental Protection Department and the Electrical and Mechanical Services
Department. The Group’s greenhouse gas emissions include carbon dioxide,
methane and nitrous oxide. For ease of reading and understanding, the data of
greenhouse gas emissions are presented in tonnes of carbon dioxide equivalent (“t
CO2¢").

Scope 1 covers emissions from mobile combustion sources and emission
reductions from tree planting. The emission factors used are from the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange and the “Land Transport Enterprises -
Guidelines on Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued
by the NDRC of the PRC.

Scope 2 covers emissions from electricity purchased from power companies.
The emission factors used are from The Hongkong Electric Co., CLP Holdings
Limited and the “Guidelines for Corporate Greenhouse Gas Emissions
Accounting Methodology and Reporting Power Generation Facilities (Revised
2022)” issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of the PRC.

Scope 3 covers emissions from water treatment, waste paper disposal and
employees’ business air travel. The emission factors used are from the Appendix
Il published by the Stock Exchange, “Study on Energy Consumption of Urban
Water Supply System in China” published by Tsinghua University, “Statistical
analysis and quantitative identification of the law of energy consumption in urban
sewage treatment plants in China” published by Tsinghua University and Nation
Urban Water and Drainage Engineering Technology Research Centre, and the
International Civil Aviation Organisation (ICAO) Carbon Emissions Calculator.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K #3252 i% G R A &)

GEE

R I SRR B DUAE 8 THAR YR 2 P B AR OB 8 — I
REREZNBETIRSRHNCEEEZEN (B
¥ EERRHAE) R EREBHE BB B
BEMBEESD) HE - ARENRERBIN
BEZALH  FRk -8R - BENREHE
KRR RERBHREIE UM —StRES
(TE—SfcER]) 27

$6E 1 MEBBIREIRBER AR - PR
B BE B F T 2R B B 22 P B AR OB 8 — e P B B
RERERMO(ELXBEGLE - BERE
PeRE AR SRR (B1T)

HE 2 BENENRRBEENELNYER - T
HANERAFHREEEEREERAR &
ERBRAR RFEAERERRRIEGHE [RFER
EREHNZEFTEFEBEEMEERE (=T
ZZFBETAR) ] ©

E 3 RESKER  BRAERERE TMEER
EARBER o FTERA M EERE T J5 2R B B2 Ares
MR e = - BEXER A (R M KR
REEFETFE) » BEARBRERM A KPIK T2
FATHFFE A0 B0 B R B T V5 K R B R AL A
RENFTHITET2HA) AR ERER AR
484 (CAO) TixBERRaT &S -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Wastewater Management

The production process of the Group only includes cutting, sewing,
apparel manufacturing and other processes, so the Group does not
involve the discharge of production wastewater. The discharged
wastewater by the Group is mainly domestic wastewater. The
domestic wastewater generated by the Jiaxing Plant and Qingdao
Plant is discharged into the municipal pipelines equipped with filter
facilities and treated by the wastewater treatment station to reduce
the impact on the environment.

Waste Management

The Group has developed policies with regard to solid waste
management, collected waste separately in various departments and
working units so as to improve recycling. At the same time, the Group
regularly evaluates material usage to avoid overstocking and uses
recyclable ink cartridges to reduce waste generation, encourages
employees to reuse paper, and reduces the use of disposable and
non-recyclable products. In addition, the random stacking of solid
waste is strictly prohibited, while non-hazardous and hazardous
wastes that cannot be reused must be collected and handled by
qualified units. With effective waste disposal strategies and policies,
the Group has minimised the environmental risks and impacts caused
by waste. During the Year, the non-hazardous wastes generated by
the Group are mainly domestic wastes, paper, kitchen wastes and
production wastes, including waste cloth and waste electric wires.
16.85 tonnes (2022: 135.56 tonnes) of non-hazardous wastes? were
generated by the Group during the Year, with an average of 0.23
tonnes (2022: 1.4 tonnes) of non-hazardous wastes per employee.
Moreover, the hazardous waste of our Group mainly comes from
office operations, such as light tubes and ink cartridges, and the
generated hazardous waste was handled by qualified collectors.
During the Year, the hazardous waste® generated by the Group
was 3kg (2022: 49kg), with an average of 0.04kg (2022: 0.28kg) of
hazardous waste per employee.

2 The production waste is calculated based on the actual recorded weight of
waste. The other non-hazardous wastes are calculated based on the volume of
waste. The volume and weight unit conversion factor is derived from the United
States Environmental Protection Agency and “Inquiry on the Charging Standard
for Volume Measurement of Non-residential Daily Waste and Food Waste” issued
by the Beijing Municipal Commission of Urban Management.

8 Hazardous waste is calculated based on the actual recorded weight of waste.
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RIR - HERERHE

Noise Management

The Group adopts noise reduction measures on equipment that
generates heavy noise to meet the emission standards of the industry
for noise, including the Emission Standard for Industrial Enterprises
Noise at Boundary (GB12348-2008), and strives to reduce the
significant impact of noise on the surrounding environment. Through
sealing the glasses of production units, intensifying maintenance of
equipment and adjusting the shock-absorbing function of equipment,
and preferentially selecting low-noise equipment, the Group has
effectively controlled noise generated during the production process.

USE OF RESOURCES

The Group strives to optimise resource utilisation rate and enhance
energy saving and consumption reduction so as to reduce wastage
of resources and pollution. Therefore, the Group has formulated,
implemented and improved resources and energy management
policies and procedures to standardise and effectively use of
resources thereby enhancing production efficiency. Our environmental
protection approaches are published on the corporate bulletin
board, meanwhile, we actively promote environmental protection to
employees to enhance their awareness of environmental protection
and indoctrinate the concept of energy-saving, consumption
reduction, reduction of wastes at source, effective use of resources
and green office. We also monitor the use of water, electricity, paper,
packaging materials and other resources, thus effectively controlling
the use of resources and reducing wastage. Because the water
consumption and discharge of the Group’s three offices in Hong
Kong are solely controlled by the property management company
of the building, we have no access to the water consumption data
of these three offices. During the Year, the water consumption* was
1,638 cubic meters (2022: 13,123 cubic meters) in total and 22.43
cubic meters (2022: 75.42 cubic meters) per employee on average.
In addition, the Group did not have any issue in sourcing water that is
fit for purpose during the Year.

4 The water consumption is calculated based on the actual amount consumed.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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The Group’s data on use of resources are as follows:

AEBERERSBIELT

Use of Resources Unit 2023 2022
EREA B —EZ=H kS
Use of Energy
BERBE
Total energy consumption MWh 148 368
BLIREFEEE JK LB
Non-renewable fuel consumption’ MWh 33 86
AR BEREIFEE JKEL I
Purchased electricity? MWh 115 282
HNEEEE /)2 JKFLBF
Energy consumption intensity MWh/employee 2.03 2.11
BERFEERE KEK,BE
Packaging materials consumption
BEMRER
Paper consumption tonnes 0.11 7
MEBEEAE Mg
Paper consumption intensity kg/product quantity 0.001 0.01
MEERATE FTr/Em#E
Plastic consumption tonnes - 0.26
BREAE 58
Plastic consumption intensity kg/product quantity - 0.001
BREREE TR/ EnHE
Note: MIE
1. Non-renewable fuel consumption is from the use of vehicle fuel, which is 1. T BERERE N REEMERNER @ &

calculated based on the actual amount consumed. The fuel and energy unit
conversion factor is derived from the “Land Transport Enterprises - Guidelines on
Greenhouse Gas Emission Accounting and Reporting (Trial)” issued by the NDRC
of the PRC, the Chinese National Standard GB17930-2016 “Gasoline for Motor
Vehicles” and GB19147-2016 “Automobile Diesel Fuels”.

2. Purchased electricity is calculated based on the actual amount consumed.

3. The Plastics in packaging materials have no consumption record in 2023, so
there is no data in plastic consumption and plastic consumption intensity.

In parallel with actively developing its business, the Group also keeps
in mind the concept of energy-saving, reduction of waste at source,
efficient use of resources and green office. Therefore, the following
measures have been adopted for our commitment to applying our
environmental protection concept in our daily operation:
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Energy Saving and Consumption Reduction

Monitor main energy consuming equipment and manage
each department’s energy consumption to avoid energy
wastage;

Replace existing high energy consuming equipment with new
energy efficient equipment;

Study and enhance technical standards and utilise new
processes, new materials and new equipment to improve
production efficiency and reduce resource consumption;
Turn off all idled energy consuming equipment;

Set the air conditioner in any office to a temperature of no
lower than 26°C in summer and no higher than 23°C in
winter;

Regularly organise air-conditioning inspection and
maintenance to ensure the efficiency of air-conditioning;
Install light switches which allow independently controlled
lighting in different lighting areas;

Use energy-saving transformer to improve power switching
rate and reduce power and energy consumption; and

Train all new employees in the plant on energy saving.

R B R e R R B IE & ERFTRURE
BEBE AR IR B RER

eI IR FH R ATIEAE - FIAFT TE -
M R T RERSEERE B
BIRBFE

RatE TNME A FERERR
MAENEZTHEFADLETEBERE
K26E : REFENZEFHEETEER

BEK23E
FHABZEARE @15 UBRZE
FARKBE

1 7T 7] 8 PR (68 120 3% 7 ] 985 37 122 1 O FR
BHFE
FHREEERENES TS REHRR
FRARINRERBERE « &
HMEMAHE TETHORIIE
e

TR SRR

Reduction of Wastes at Source

Adopt measures of source control, comprehensive utilisation
and recycling to reduce the waste; and

Resell surplus fabric to second-hand fabric recyclers to
reduce fabric disposal.

Effective Use of Resources

SAURER S - 54 FIR RIERFA
AR ELEREY : K

R R 8 — F RIS - R
SENEEE -

ERER

Post up environmental protection information and reminders
in office to encourage employees to save water and to
enhance their awareness of water-saving;

Instruct all new employees in the plant about the water-
saving measures; and

Check the water use, regularly maintain valves and pipelines,
and replace and repair leaking pipelines in time so as to
prevent running, leaking and dripping.

Green Office

R AERBRRELELIREFT
S EEBE KRR RIS AKE
X

BRI P P A # B TER#) RKiE i
P54

ZERKER  EHEERFLE
B URKERRMEBRFEE - A
HAEH R ARR °

BRERLE

Encourage employees to reuse paper and print on both
sides;

Promote paperless office and communicate internally with
emails instead of paper documents;

Reuse office stationary;

Separately collect classified office wastage for recycling;
Encourage employees to use public transport; and

Use video conferencing to replace non-essential business
trips.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group attaches importance to the impact of our business
operation on the environment and natural resources. In addition to
our compliance with applicable environmental laws and international
standards, we also have included the concept of environmental
protection and environmental management into our business
decision, daily operation and internal management. We are committed
to balancing economic, environmental and social development.

In order to reduce the impact on the environment and natural
resources, the Group has actively identified the environmental
factors within our business scope and established relevant control
measures and environment improvement targets. We have also
assigned specific department to follow up and handle any problems
with respect to the environment and natural resources utilisation. We
have kept on file all the environmental protection works monitored
and recorded materials relating to contamination accidents, pollution
prevention and control.

RESPONDING TO CLIMATE CHANGE

The world is currently facing the challenge of climate change. The
Group is concerned about climate-related issues and has taken
different measures to assess and mitigate the risks. The Group has
identified physical risks such as an increase in extreme weather
events and changes in precipitation patterns, which could pose
threats to the business and its financial performance. In addition,
climate change may bring about various transitional risks, such as
shifts in consumer preferences and increased pricing of greenhouse
gas emissions. As a result, the Group may face an increase in
operating costs and a change in revenue sources.

RIR - HERERHE
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RIR - HERERHE

The Group reviews updates to policies and regulations in regions
it operates to identify potential climate-related risks on a regular
basis. The Group issues safety warnings and makes special work
arrangements in the event of extreme weather conditions or incidents
to ensure the safety of its employees.

PEOPLE-ORIENTED

The Group understands that employees are the foundation of
corporate development, so it adheres to the management approach
of “people oriented” and attaches great importance to the rights and
interests of the employees. In addition to providing employees with
generous remuneration and benefits, the Group also pays attention to
the training, development and safety of the employees.

The number of employees of the Group during the Year are as

REEFEHESE QLA EERSOER
HVSEHT - AR RARMER AR - N5
BREm AR B ERNEER B R LT
EWAERRFRI TIELHE - AEREEENZ
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fF_\o

AEEAREEREAZMT

follows:

2023 2022
Number of Employees EBEAE —EBC=F b
Total st 73 150
By gender E R
Male Bk 38 56
Female 4 35 94
By employment type EBEEER
Full-time 2 70 145
Part-time TR 3 5
By age group B E AR
Aged below 30 30BRAT 3 10
Aged 30 to 50 305RE 50 % 52 117
Aged above 50 50 A = 18 23
By geographical region #&ith &
The PRC (do not include Hong Kong) HRE (TEREEE) 46 127
Hong Kong B 27 23
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The employee turnover rate during the Year are as follows:

2023 2022

Employee Turnover Rate’ EERKER —E-= e S—

Total et 78% 67%

By gender RERIE D

Male B 45% 88%

Female 1 102% 55%
By age group BERARE D

Aged below 30 30 AT 138% 160%

Aged 30 to 50 3052 50 5% 84% 41%

Aged above 50 50 BRUA | 34% 161%
By geographical region ZiEE 5

The PRC (do not include Hong Kong) HRE (TEREEE) 96% 64%

Hong Kong B 16% 87%

Note: 3T -

1. The employee turnover rate in the Year is calculated in accordance with the 1. REBMANFEFHBEERBRRE IR
Appendix Ill “Reporting Guidance on Social KPls” published by the Stock BRI = (g AREMIEIRERIES) 5
Exchange. Ho

Employment Standard EEZER

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations related to
employment, including but not limited to the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Labour Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China and Employment Ordinance in Hong Kong. In order
to improve efficiency and standardise the procedure of recruitment,
we have established recruitment-related management and controlling
procedures according to the principles of fairness and impartiality,
avoiding misemployment of child labour or any discrimination. In
order to strive for creating a fair and equal working environment and
ensure that employees enjoy equal opportunities and fair treatment,
we treat all employees and applicants equally in the aspects of
recruitment, transferring, training, promotion, remuneration and
benefits, regardless of race, gender, age, religion, belief, marital or
fertility status. For resigned employees, we will terminate the contract
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations, and pay the
outstanding wages on time.

REB RS EFEERBBAAERRER -
BIEETRN(REAREMBELEE) -
(PEARKXFMBLHERZE REE (R
BIEH) & - RIREBERERMNFEFER
2 BAERAFRAERAGIEREEER
THIRF - R RRIEE T ol B A A AIEARTT
B ABNEERAEFENTIERERER
ETIZAFEHENDTEFE RAOERE
B AR B9 BARTHBEH MR
“2EER - MR- FE - R 500 18
IR R Bk A B AR T 2 R A B T KoK B
o HREIBET HMSRBHEBEEK
ERBRAMEZILEESR - WK ERERT
IE&-

Annual Report 2023 2R

73



74

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHE

To prevent forced labour, the Group specifies the details of the
workplace, working hours and job responsibilities in the contract.
If employees have to work overtime due to business needs, the
Group will pay overtime wages according to the regulations. We also
forbid taking any monies or belongings as “security deposit” from
employees as well as forcing them to work or restricting their freedom
in any way, so as to ensure that they are employed voluntarily. Apart
from prevention of forced labour, the Group promises not to employ
child labour. The Group requires new employees to provide genuine
identification documents with accurate personal information when
commencing employment, aiming at identifying the true age of
the employees and avoiding misemployment of child labour. The
Group will also occasionally check whether child labour has been
misemployed in various departments. Once it is discovered, the
Group will immediately return the child labour to their original place of
residence and bear all necessary expenses.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to
employment and labour standard, avoiding child labour and forced
labour was involved or discovered by the Group.

Salary and Benefits

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations of China
and Hong Kong, including but not limited to the Labour Law
of the People’s Republic of China, Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance and Minimum Wage Ordinance in Hong Kong,
ensuring that the employees’ working hours and wages meet local
requirements and providing social insurance and mandatory provident
fund to employees as required by local regulations. The Group’s salary
is established according to several factors such as the positions, work
performance and abilities of the employees, and would be adjusted
with reference to market salary level. We evaluate the performance of
employees according to different positions and adopt the knowledge
and skills, attitude and enthusiasm to their positions as the evaluation
criteria. The results will be used to determine promotion and annual
salary adjustments of employees. The Group offers its employees
extra benefits such as attendance incentives and bonuses based
on the Group’s annual financial performance and the individual
performance of employees. Employees also enjoy paid leaves, such
as annual leave, marriage leave, maternity leave and compassionate
leave, apart from statutory holidays.
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Employees are the important asset of the Group, whose sense of
belonging is closely related to the success of the Group. Aiming
to promote the idea of work-life balance, create an excellent
environment for work and enhance employees’ sense of belonging
to the Group, the Group hammers at improving its policies and
measures, and providing employees with the following benefits
(including but not limited to):

° Distributing allowance and welfare gifts during festivals;

° Providing reimbursement on transportation costs for employees
returning home during Chinese New Year;

° Providing medical health insurance for employees;

° Offering free meals or meal allowance for our employees in the
plant; and

° Under specified circumstances, employees can enjoy
allowances of meals and transportation for overtime work.

Development and Training

The Group has established a comprehensive evaluation system for
work, according to which the Group would evaluate employees’
working attitudes, abilities, performance and disciplines, thereby
enhancing employees’ understanding of their work and allowing
supervisors to give feedback about their work performance. The
evaluation results also serve as the standard for their position and
salary adjustments and discretionary bonus, which will greatly benefit
employees’ individual development and productivity enhancement.

RIR - HERERHE
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Aiming to improve employees’ professional proficiency and follow
the development of the Group, we formulate training plans annually
for our employees in the plant in order to provide different types of
training, including internal training, external training, induction training
and on-the-job training, on the basis of the training needs of each
department. New recruits are required to attend induction training,
including job responsibilities and objectives, operational skills and
procedures, as well as regulations and policies. In addition, we
encourage and support employees to participate in personal and
professional training to keep abreast of the development of new
technologies and equipment. Eligible employees completing the
training can apply for subsidies on course fees and be reimbursed
with partial or full cost of the training course.

The average hours of training per employee and percentage of
employees who received training during the Year are as follows:

Average Hours of Training

BRFAEEM LN  ABHAEES
RES - BNEREBHABY . 555
B 01 B ISR 8 - SRETRAR
S BIEREEY SN AR
RAEWSENIS - 31 AME THEEE AW
- ENAE RETEREMR R - B
SRR - ARREHES o Wsh - RIS
WRZHER2REAREEEI - AER
FRITRFREOER - BREVNAER
B IAMRMRERIA - REABHE
RIZHHH R AER -

AEEFREENTHXIRELZIEER
Ll

per Employee and Percentage of BEEENFEEZIRER 2023 2022
Employees who Received Training’ ZIES B —E=F T F
Total et 3.6(78%) 18(97%)
By gender RERIE D
Male B 3.7(79%) 12(93%)
Female pegla 3.5(77%) 02(99%)
By employee category BEEEERE D
Senior =R 5.7(91%) 13(100%)
Middle R 3.5(96%) 10(87%)
Junior 4R 1.7(48%) 22(99%)
Note: MI3E
1. The percentage of employees who received training is calculated in accordance 1. Sl B L) Ty iR H X AT B BT 8% = (AL 2 B8

with the Appendix Il “Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” published by the
Stock Exchange.
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Health and Safety

The Group prioritises the health and safety of its employees, and
adheres to the production principle of “Safety First”. The Group
provides employees with a safe and healthy working environment
and complies with national laws and regulations on safe production,
including but not limited to the Production Safety Law of the
People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Prevention and Control of Occupational Diseases and
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong, and
provides employees with a safe and healthy working environment so
as to reduce accidents during work. Jiaxing Plant has established
an accountability system for different positions regarding production
safety, listing clearly the safety responsibilities of each unit and
unifying the standards for safety production and the managers shall
be responsible for ensuring the safety of the working environment,
and shall guide and supervise the employees to reduce the possibility
of work-related injuries.

We provide safety protection equipment and supplies as well as their
user guide for our employees in the Jiaxing Plant and Qingdao Plant
to safeguard their health and safety as well as to prevent and reduce
accidents. For employees who may have access to hazardous
materials, we provide an annual health check to monitor the impact
of the production process on their health and identify and resolve
possible safety impacts in a timely manner. Moreover, we regularly
provide employees with occupational safety training. Employees are
required to attend three-level safety training, including education at
plant, working units and position levels. They can only operate the
equipment individually after passing the assessment. During the
Year, Jiaxing Plant and Qingdao Plant conducted a number of safety-
related training for all employees, including chemical use protection
and personal labor protection supplies training, equipment safety
operation training, environmental, health, safety manuals as well as
first aid knowledge training, accompanied by oral or on-site operation
assessment, in order to enhance employees’ awareness and
understanding of work health and safety.

RIR - HERERHE
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In order to improve employees’ danger awareness and emergency
response capabilities, the Group has formulated corresponding
emergency plans for different emergency conditions, and conducted
regular exercises. In addition to implementing the accountability
system regarding production safety, we encourage our employees
to provide advice on work safety and report on accidents and other
share views actively, so as to control risks of workplace and reduce
accidents. The Group also would investigate and eliminate potential
accidents to protect the safety of its employees and properties.

To strengthen the safety management of hazardous chemicals,
Jiaxing Plant and Qingdao Plant has set a safety management policy
for hazardous chemicals, which lists out the solutions and safety
regulations for storage, use, transportation and disposal. Through
providing training to its employees on the hazardous chemical safety
management policies, the Group effectively reduces accidents related
to hazardous chemicals, thereby protecting employees’ health and
safety as well as the surrounding environment. In addition, Jiaxing
Plant and Qingdao Plant has implemented safety management policy
for special equipment, which requires the special equipment operating
personnel to obtain corresponding certificates before working. Jiaxing
Plant and Qingdao Plant also inspects special equipment regularly
and entrusts qualified units to carry out maintenance and repair,
ensuring the safe operation of the equipment.

During the Year, there is no lost days due to a case of work injury

among our employees. In the past three years, there was no work-
related fatality.
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Case: Fire escape drills and safety production
standardisation training

The Qingdao Plants organised fire escape drills and training on work
safety standardisation to raise the safety awareness of employees.
Prior to the drill, the Group provided employees with training on
fire prevention including the causes of fire, principles of firefighting
and the use of fire extinguishers. In addition, the training on safety
production standardisation also taught employees to identify potential
risks in the production process and preventive measures to avoid
accidents.
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RIR - HERERHE

OPERATING PRACTICES

The Group understands that product and service quality is the
cornerstone of corporate success. Therefore, the Group selects
suppliers in a stringent manner, establishes a quality management
system to ensure product quality and safety, and values customers’
feedback to continuously improve product and service quality.
The Group is also committed to maintaining business ethics in its
business operations, attaching importance to the protection of
intellectual property rights, eliminating infringements, and prohibiting
all bribery.

Supply Chain Management

Supply chain management is always considered as an important part
of controlling quality by the Group. The Group adheres to the quality
oriented principle and establishes a supplier evaluation management
policy, standardising the evaluation process and daily management
of suppliers. In selecting suppliers, we strictly review the supplier’s
product quality, delivery capability, capacity and service quality, and
require them to provide samples for reviews by our customers, so
as to ensure the quality is up to customers’ requirements. Beyond
that, we also track and monitor the progress of entrusted processing
suppliers, ensuring that the quality of processed products is in accord
with the requirements. The checked suppliers will be added to our
approved supplier list, which will be reviewed regularly. To strengthen
the management of suppliers, promote and improve the supplier
management system and optimise the operation of supply chain, the
Group eliminates suppliers that do not correspond with the corporate
development regulations. The Group has incorporated the concept
of “green purchasing” into its procurement process and established
strict environmental protection requirements. For example, Jiaxing
Plant and Qingdao Plant prioritise the selection of products and
services with the minimum impact on the environment and promotes
the use of environmentally friendly materials instead of purchasing
materials that are harmful to the environment or the human body in
accordance with national restrictions.
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The Group also attaches importance to environmental and social risks
in the supply chain. Therefore, the Group regularly communicates
with internal and external stakeholders to identify potential risks.
When selecting suppliers, the Group would also consider its
environmental and social conditions, and give priority to suppliers
with outstanding performance in energy saving, occupational safety,
supply chain management and anti-corruption, as well as suppliers
with relevant certifications or internationally recognised suppliers with
an environmentally friendly profile.

The Group’s business in money lending has no significant suppliers.
During the Year, the Group’s design, manufacturing and trading of
apparel products business had a total of 48 major suppliers, which all
are from China, divided by region as follows:

RIR - HERERHE

AEBETEREERBHRBNESER
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2023 2022
Number of Suppliers RS E —=E-= e S—
Northeast China Sl 1 1
East China HEH 26 66
South China ] 21 6
Southwest China [iifE] 0 1
Management on Product Quality EREEERE

The Group attaches great importance to the product quality and label
use of the apparel manufacturing business, and therefore strictly
abides by relevant laws and regulations, including but not limited to
the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China, Trade
Descriptions Ordinance and Consumer Goods Safety Ordinance in
Hong Kong. Thus, the Group has established a quality management
system, aiming to standardise inspection procedures and regulations,
ensuring the products manufactured are in line with the quality and
safety requirements. We review the system regularly, ensuring that the
system is still appropriate, comprehensive and effective. According
to customers’ specific requirements, the Group is open to inspection
and monitoring by the customers, and assesses its production
procedures every year, ensuring the system can operate continuously
and effectively, and meet customer requirements pragmatically.
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RIR - HERERHE

To ensure that equipment condition is able to achieve production
targets, relevant equipment operating personnel will check the
equipment condition daily prior to production. We also conduct
occasional inspections on production procedures and take corrective
measures as soon as a failure is found. In addition, the quality of
raw materials, semi-finished products and finished products are
inspected. Only qualified products can enter the next production
stage, aiming that the products will meet the criteria of relevant
standards. The unqualified ones will be labelled clearly and stored
separately, and then the relevant department will analyse the cause
and implement corrective measures. The Group has established a
policy on reporting incidents to standardise quality reporting, ensure
timely handling of product-related issues and control potential
risks effectively. Meanwhile, we review product sales and market
information as well as supervise the content of product labels to
ensure that the information contained is clear, true and in compliance
with legal requirements. We will also keep customer feedback in track
in order to continuously improve product quality and safety.

During the Year, none of the products of the Group were required to
be recalled due to safety and health reason.

Customer First

The Group is committed to enhancing customer satisfaction,
since fulfilling customers’ needs is the ultimate goal of the Group’s
development. We have established a set of policies on customer
rights and interests to regulate the handling of complaints from
customers, so that the Group’s reputation will be maintained and
customer satisfaction will be improved. Customers can complain
through letters, calls and emails, which will be handled and
investigated by our designated personnel in time. During the Year,
the Group did not receive any customer complaints in relation to
products.
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In addition, the Group also provides money lending services in
which customer personal data needs to be collected and stored, so
protecting customer privacy is a very important part of our business.
Employees must abide by relevant laws and regulations, such as the
Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance of Hong Kong. They are forbidden
to disclose customers’ information to third-party without prior
consent, adhering to professional ethics at all times. The customers’
data is accessible by authorised personnel exclusively, while
employees from other departments can only retrieve and provide
information upon application to and approval by the company.

Protecting Intellectual Property Rights

The Group is committed to strengthening the protection of intellectual
property rights. Therefore, we require employees to strictly abide
by the laws and regulations such as the Patent Law of the People’s
Republic of China, Trademark Law of the People’s Republic of
China and Copyright Ordinance in Hong Kong. We also have clear
requirements for the application, management, use and protection
of intellectual property for our customers and the Group, enhancing
internal awareness of protecting intellectual property rights and
corporate interests. The Group only uses genuine software, and
employees are required to submit an application to the Group before
installing any software to avoid infringing on the intellectual property
rights of others.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to
intellectual property was involved or discovered by the Group.
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RIR - HERERHE

Anti-corruption

The Group advocates employees to consciously abide by the law,
act in good faith, be self disciplined and build an integrity culture.
The Group abides by the laws and regulations on anti-corruption,
including but not limited to the Criminal Law of the People’s Republic
of China and Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong. The
Group has formulated employee handbooks and systems to regulate
their behaviour, especially in the money lending business, encouraging
employees to be honest and self-disciplined. Thus, the operating risks
will be reduced, and the interests of the company and employees
will be guaranteed. In addition, employees should not seek personal
or indirect benefits by their authority and should avoid situations that
may involve or result in potential or actual conflicts of interest. Once
any violation is discovered, employees should report it in written or
verbal ways. The identity of the whistle blower will be kept confidential
by the Group while relevant violators will be dismissed and bear legal
responsibility upon confirmation of violation after investigation. During
the Year, the Group have provided anti-corruption training materials
and requires employees and directors to study to increase their
awareness in the response to corruption, so as to enhance ethical
management and employee integrity. In addition, the Group provided
a total of 53 hours of online training to all employees and directors
on their respective roles and responsibilities in the prevention of
corruption, as well as guidance on the development, implementation
and review of the Group’s corruption prevention policies and systems.

During the Year, no violation of laws and regulations relating to anti
corruption was involved or discovered by the Group.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT

The Group attaches great importance to social responsibility and
regards the prosperity and stability of society as the cornerstone
of its development. For this, the Group spares no effort to promote
the development of charities, and to support charitable projects and
activities. We also encourage employees to participate in volunteer
activities and charitable donations, enhancing their sense of social
responsibility. During the Year, the Group’s community investment did
not make any significant resource contribution.
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The Board hereby presents its report together with the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group principally engages in (i) design, manufacture and trading
of apparel; (i) provision of money lending services; and (i) sale of
trendy and cultural products. Details of the principal activities of the
Company and its subsidiaries are set out in notes 1 and 42 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the year by geographical
areas and businesses is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial
statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2023 and
its state of affairs of the Group as at 31 December 2023 are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 115 to 224.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the year ended 31 December 2023.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the past five years is set out in the financial summary
on page 5 of this annual report. This summary does not form part of
the audited financial statements in this annual report.

RESERVES

Details of the movements in the reserves of the Company and of
the Group during the reporting year are set out in note 42(b) to the
financial statements and in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity respectively in this annual report.
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ESEHREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2023, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to equity shareholders, comprising share premium and
contributed surplus in excess of accumulated losses, amounted to
approximately HK$87,775,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of
the Group during the reporting year are set out in note 14 to the
consolidated financial statements of this annual report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As at 31 December 2023, the percentages of sales and purchases
attributable to the Group’s major customers and suppliers,
respectively are as follows:

Sales
— The largest customer 49.9%
— The total of the five largest customers 86.3%

Purchases
— The largest supplier 37.8%
— The total of the five largest suppliers 89.7%

None of the Directors, their associates or any shareholder of the
Company, which owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share
capital, to the best knowledge of the Directors, had any interest in
the share capital of the Group’s five largest customers or five largest
suppliers.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2023 are set out in note 31 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALE OF THE
COMPANY'’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of the Company’s listed
securities during the reporting year. Other than the issue of
(i) 15,840,000 ordinary shares by the Company pursuant to the
exercise of share options under the then prevailing share option
scheme of the Company; and (i) 110,862,000 placing shares as set
out in the paragraph headed “PLACING OF NEW SHARES UNDER
GENERAL MANDATE” in this announcement, neither the Company
nor any of its subsidiaries purchased or sold any of the Company’s
listed securities during the year ended 31 December 2023.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles nor the
laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total issued share capital was held by the public as at the date of this
annual report. The Company has maintained a sufficient public float in
compliance with the Listing Rules.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

No charitable donation was made by the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2023.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2023 have been audited by BDO Limited, who shall
retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for the re-appointment of BDO Limited
as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming AGM.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 December 2023 and up to
the date of this annual report are:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

LI Yang (Chairman)
TIN Yat Yu Carol

CHEUNG Ka Lung (resigned on 31 August 2023)

CHAN Ming Leung Terence
GONG Xiaohan

WONG Wai Kai Richard (was appointed on 6 October 2023)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

TANG Shu Pui Simon
HON Ming Sang
LO Wing Sze

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of
the Group are set out on pages 9 to 15 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the AGM has
entered into any service contract with the Company which is not
determinable by the Company within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Save for the service contracts of the Directors, no contracts
concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Group were entered into or
existed during the reporting year.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Remuneration Committee was established for reviewing and
determining the remuneration and compensation packages of
the Directors with reference to their responsibilities, workload, the
time devoted to the Group and the performance of the Group.
The Directors may also receive options to be granted under the
Company’s share option scheme(s). Details of the share option
schemes of the Company are set out in the paragraph headed “Share
Option Schemes” below.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

The Company adopted its first share option scheme on 22 November
2013 (the “2013 Share Option Scheme”). In view of the amendments
to the Listing Rules in relation to share option scheme with effect from
1 January 2023, the Company adopted a new share option scheme
at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 9 June 2023
(the “2023 Share Option Scheme”) and terminated the 2013 Share
Option Scheme.

2013 Share Option Scheme

The termination of the 2013 Share Option Scheme did not affect the
terms of the outstanding options that have already been granted
under the 2013 Share Option Scheme and the outstanding options
granted continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance with the
terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme.

Under the terms of the 2013 Share Option Scheme, the Company in
aggregate granted options relating to 315,950,000 underlying Shares.
15,840,000 options had been exercised and 43,800,000 options had
been lapsed. Options relating to 256,310,000 underlying Shares are
outstanding, and remain valid, representing approximately 11.84% of
the total issued Shares as at the date of this annual report.

2023 Share Option Scheme
(1)  Purpose

The purposes of the 2023 Share Option Scheme are (i) to enable
the Company to grant options to the Eligible Participants (as
described below) as incentives or rewards for their contribution
to the growth and development of the Group; (i) to attract and
retain personnel to promote the sustainable development of the
Group; and (jii) to align the interest of the grantees with those of
the Company’s shareholders to promote the long-term financial
and business performance of the Company.
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Eligible Participants

Eligible Participants under the 2023 Share Option Scheme
will include any person belonging to the following classes of
participants:

o Employee Participant, being an employee, director or
officer of the Group (including a person who is granted
options under the 2023 Share Option Scheme as an
inducement to enter into employment contract with the
Company or the relevant member(s) of the Group);

o Related Entity Participant, being an employee, director
or officer of the following: a “holding company” of the
Company (as defined in the SFO); a “subsidiary” of a
holding company of the Company (as defined in the SFO)
other than the Group; or an “associate” of the Company (as
defined in the Listing Rules); and

° Service Provider Participant, being a person (including
an entity) that falls under one of the below sub-categories
and that provides services to the Group on a continuing or
recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business
which are in the interests of the long term growth of the
Group as determined by the Board:

()  Consultants: person (as independent contractor,
consultant, advisor or otherwise), that provides
support or any advisory, consultancy, professional
or other services to any members of the Group on
a regular or recurring basis, who are not engaged
as employees of the Group, and have specialties
or expertise in areas that supplement the Group’s
operations (for example, consultants in the areas
of intellectual property (“IP”) application, media and
promotion, strategic or commercial planning);

)
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(i)  Suppliers: supplier of goods or services to any
member of the Group on a regular or recurring
basis (for example, retailers that the Group
collaborates with for its IP application and product
commercialisation), with which the Group would
consider important to maintain a close business
relationship on an ongoing basis;

(i)  Business partners: business partner, including joint
venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or
other contractual party, of any members of the Group
that work with the Group on a regular or recurring
basis (for example, long-term business promoters
and collaborators), with which the Group would
consider important to maintain a close collaborative
relationship on an ongoing basis.

For the avoidance of doubt, (i) placing agents or financial
advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers
or acquisitions of the Company or its subsidiaries, and (ii)
professional service providers (such as the auditors or valuers)
who provide assurance or are required to perform their services
with impartiality and objectivity, are excluded.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme and the percentage of the issued Shares that it represents as
at the date of the annual report

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued in respect of all options to be granted under the 2023
Share Option Scheme (“Scheme Mandate Limit”) shall not
exceed 10% of the number of Shares in issue as at the date of
approval of the 2023 Share Option Scheme, being 202,477,432
Shares, which represents 9.35% of the issued Shares as at the
date of this annual report.

The Company has not yet granted any options in respect of the
2023 Share Option Scheme.
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Maximum entitlement of each participant under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme

Unless approved by shareholders of the Company, the total
number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of
the options granted to each Eligible Participant (including both
exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month period
must not exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue.

Timing for exercise of options

A period to be specified by the Board and not to exceed 10
years from the date of grant of options.

The vesting period of options granted under the 2023 Share Option
Scheme

Any period as determined by the Board.
The amount payable on application or acceptance of the option and the
period within which payments or calls must or may be made or loans

for such purposes must be repaid

HK$1 is to be paid as consideration for the grant of option
within 21 days from the date of offer.

@

)

(6)

@)
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(8) Basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price per Share in relation to an option shall be
a price to be determined by the Board and shall be no less than
the highest of:

(@ the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheet on the date on which the
option is offered to an Eligible Participant, which must be
a business day;

(b) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the offer date; or

(c) the nominal value of the Shares on the offer date.

(9) Life of the 2023 Share Option Scheme

The 2023 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a
period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. 9 June 2023.

Details of the movements of the options during the year ended 31

December 2023 are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2023, the interests of the Directors and chief
executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFQO”) which were required to be notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or were required
pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register
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referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model Code, to ~ ARz : IR FZRESFAIZEME AR D
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange were as follows:  BEXXPTRVEZRLAT -
e - = A
Long positions in Shares of the Company RAEARRBEEFR
Shares
issuable Approximate
Ordinary on share Total percentage of
Name Capacity shares options held interests  shareholdings
FrisiERE s IR
H®E 54 EER ARITRAD mrER BOL
(Note 1) (Note 2)
(P5E1) (fHzE2)
Li Yang Beneficial owner - 36,700,000 36,700,000 1.72%
x5 BB A
Tin Yat Yu Carol Beneficial owner - 36,700,000 36,700,000 1.72%
H—1F EnEAA
Chan Ming Leung Terence Beneficial owner 15,840,000 2,060,000 17,900,000 0.84%
(Note 3)
BREA (MIEE3) BB A
Gong Xiaohan Beneficial owner - 36,700,000 36,700,000 1.72%
BiER BERBEAA
Tang Shu Pui Simon Beneficial owner 5,000,000 2,000,000 7,000,000 0.33%
S BB A
Hon Ming Sang Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.09%
Bt ExBBA
Lo Wing Sze Beneficial owner - 2,000,000 2,000,000 0.09%
KT EnlEEA
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Notes:

1. The options were respectively granted by the Company on 8 December 2021,
19 April 2022 and 17 January 2023. For details of the options granted, please
refer to the announcements of the Company published on the respective dates.

2. Based on 2,137,076,324 Shares as at 31 December 2023.

3. Based on his disclosure of interests forms filed on 19 May 2023, 20 June 2023
and 12 September 2023 respectively, Mr. Chan Ming Leung Terence provided an
interest in the 15,840,000 Shares as security to a person other than a qualified
lender.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, none of the
Directors or chief executive of the Company have or are deemed to
have interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company and any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were naotifiable to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which
they are taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO),
or recorded in the register required to be maintained by the Company
under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notifiable to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER ETERRREMALRE
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN {7 - MHEAR 7 I R & U1
SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES K% &

As at 31 December 2023, so far as it was known by or otherwise RZZE_=F+=_H=+—H ' BLAREE
notified to any Directors or the chief executive of the Company, the fAIEE T Z21THABATASESH - RA
particulars of the corporations or persons (other than the directors A RIR% 3 M ARRARR D #ER 5% s A EREs=m
and the chief executive of the Company) which had 5% or more &R ERIEESH REIEEAIZE 336 KFE
interests in shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded ~ HIE M AEEEHIA L (AARIEERFE
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO were  1TERABBRIN) FHIEWAT -

as follows:
Long positions in Shares of the Company REQATRGBHER
Other Approximate
interests in percentage
Ordinary underlying Total of
Name Capacity shares shares held interests  shareholdings
NZIESZ Rl PREEBLA
Z8 54 EER ROzHtER HrEn BOL
(Note 1)
(P&E1)
World Field Industries Limited Beneficial owner 283,994,000 - 283,994,000 13.29%
(Note 2) ExEAA
BEEZXARAR (PH2)
Value Convergence Holdings Beneficial owner 155,334,000 66,844,919 222,178,919 10.40%
Limited (Note 3) ExEAA
ERERERAR (ME3) Interest of controlled 19,338,000 - 19,338,000 0.90%
corporation
XErEER
Anli Investment Fund SPC-Anli  Beneficial owner 193,590,887 - 198,590,887 9.06%
Greater China Opportunity ~ E#5#A A
Fund Segregated Portfolio
(Note 4)
GETY
Mr. Zeng Ge (Note 5) Beneficial owner - 19,800,000 19,800,000 0.93%
L (MEE5) BERBEAA
Interest of controlled 114,000,000 - 114,000,000 5.33%
corporation
XErEER
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Notes:

Save
were

Based on 2,137,076,324 Shares as at 31 December 2023.

Based on the disclosure of interests forms filed on 19 July 2022, World Field
Industries Limited is owned as to 100% by Green Astute Limited, which is in
turn owned as to 100% by Hao Tian Media & Culture Holdings Limited, which
is in turn owned as to 100% by Aceso Life Science Group Limited (“Aceso”),
the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 474.HK). Based on the interim report for the six months ended 30
September 2023 of Aceso, as at 30 September 2023, Aceso was owned as to
approximately 58.98% by Ms. Li Shao Yu (Z>5)and as to 10.83% by Century
Golden Resources Investment Co., Ltd (“Century Golden”). Based on the
disclosure of interest forms in relation to Aceso filed on 25 August 2021, Century
Golden is owned as to 50% by Huang Tao (%)3) and as to 40% by Huang
Shiying (E &%),

To the best of knowledge and information of the Company, Value Convergence
Holdings Limited (“WVCH?”), the shares of which are listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange (stock code: 821.HK), was the beneficial owner of 155,334,000
shares / underlying shares of the Company, of which 66,844,919 referred to
interests in underlying shares (unlisted derivatives — convertible instruments). VCH
was deemed to be interested in 66,844,919 underlying shares of the Company
which may be issued and allotted upon exercise of the conversion rights
attaching to the convertible bonds at a principal amount of HK$10,000,000 at
the conversion price of HK$0.1496 per share. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 13 December 2021 and 6 January 2022.
VCH was the beneficial owner of 155,334,000 Shares. Also, by virtue of the
SFO, VCH is deemed to be interested in 19,338,000 Shares which are held by
VC Brokerage Limited, which in turn is owned as to 100% by VC Financial Group
Limited, which is in turn owned as to 100% by VCH.

To the best of knowledge and information of the Company, Anli Investment
Fund SPC-Anli Greater China Opportunity Fund Segregated Portfolio (“Anli
Greater China”) was interested in 193,590,887 Shares, VC International Asset
Management Limited (formerly known as Anli Asset Management Limited), which
is a wholly-owned subsidiary of VCH, is the investment manager of Anli Greater
China.

Based on the disclosure of interests form filed on 20 April 2023, Mr. Zeng Ge (&
i) is the beneficial owner of 100% shareholding in Dreamtoys Ltd., and is thus
deemed, by virtue of Part XV of the SFO, to be interested in 114,000,000 shares
beneficially owned by Dreamtoys Ltd. Besides, Mr. Zeng Ge has been granted
19,800,000 share options by the Company on 17 January 2023.

as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2023, the Directors
not aware of any other persons or entities (other than the

directors and chief executive of the Company) who had interests or

short

positions in the shares or underlying shares of the Company, its

Group members or associated corporations which would fall to be
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3
of Part XV of the SFO or which were recorded in the register required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO; or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, an executive Director and the sole director of
Delta Wealth Finance Limited, a company incorporated in Hong Kong
with limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company,
is also a director of Finsoft Financial Investment Holdings Limited
(stock code: 8018.HK), which is principally engaged in money lending
business in Hong Kong.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors, or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) has engaged in any
business that competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the business of the Group during the year ended 31
December 2023.

CONNECTED TRANSACTION

On 8 December 2022, Delta Wealth Finance Limited (the “Assignor”),
being a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a sale
and purchase agreement (the “Sale and Purchase Agreement”)
with Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, an executive Director and the sole director
of the Assignor (the “Assignee”), pursuant to which the Assignor
has agreed to assign, and the Assignee has agreed to purchase
from the Assignor all of the Assignor’s legal and beneficial right in the
Assigned Debt (as defined below) under certain loan agreements in
relation to the loans previously made available by the Assignor to two
independent borrowers.

The total consideration of HK$22,952,679 under the Sale
and Purchase Agreement represented the difference of the
original aggregated principal amounts of the Assigned Debt of
HK$27,800,000, which was equivalent to the aggregate principal
amounts of the loan agreements respectively of HK$7,800,000 and
of HK$20,000,000, and all repayments (including interest payments)
previously made by the two borrowers up to 30 June 2022 of
HK$4,847,321.

The Assignee was a connected person of the Company under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules by virtue of being an executive
Director and the sole director of the Assignor. Therefore, the
Assignment constituted a connected transaction for the Company
and was subject to the reporting, announcement, circular and
independent shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A
of the Listing Rules.
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ESEREE

On 28 February 2023, an ordinary resolution was duly passed
by the independent shareholders of the Company to approve,
confirm and ratify the Sale and Purchase Agreement and all
transactions contemplated thereunder. Please refer to the Company’s
announcements dated 8 December 2022 and 28 February 2023, and
the Company’s circular dated 10 February 2023 for details.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Save for Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, an executive Director who had an
interest in the Sale and Purchase Agreement as disclosed under the
section headed “Connected Transaction” above, no Director had
a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any transaction,
arrangement or contract of significance to business of the Group to
which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party for the year
ended 31 December 2023.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions of the Group for the reporting
year are set out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements
contained herein.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Connected Transaction”
above, none of the related party transactions constitutes a connected
transaction or continuing connected transaction subject to
independent shareholders’ approval, annual review and all disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Under article 164 of the Articles, every Director, company secretary,
other officers and auditor for the time being of the Company shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets and profits of the
Company from and against all actions, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, shall or may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty, or supposed duty, in their respective offices
or trusts; provided that this indemnity shall not extend to any matter
in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said
persons.

Such permitted indemnity provisions have been in force throughout
the year. The Company has arranged appropriate D&O Insurance.
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Directors’ Report

ESEREE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE EER

A detailed corporate governance report is set out in pages 31 to 54  FFAAPEEAMEEHNAFHREI1EL4H o
in this annual report.

By order of the Board EEEGm
Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited AEZERBRAT
Li Yang =30
Chairman FE
27 March 2024 —E-ME=A=—++H
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Tel : +8522218 8288

Fax: +852 2815 2239

www.bdo.com.hk
|

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
EEE 1 +85222188288 EETHEEP1115E
{858 : +8522815 2239 K251

www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF VIRTUAL MIND HOLDING
COMPANY LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Virtual
Mind Holding Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(together the “Group”) set out on pages 115 to 224, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2023, the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2023, and of its financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recoverability of Loans and Interest Receivables

Refer to notes 5(b) and 21 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s loans and interest
receivables (net of impairment losses) amounted to approximately
HK$44,560,000, representing significant balances recorded in the
consolidated statement of financial position of the Group.

Management performed credit evaluations for the Group’s debtors
and assessed expected credit losses (“ECL”) of loans and interest
receivables. These assessments were focused on the debtors’
settlement history and their current ability to pay, and took into
account information specific to respective debtor.

We identified this area as a key audit matter because significant
judgements have been made by the management during the
assessment of the credit standing of the Group’s debtors and the
estimation of ECL of loans and interest receivables.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Recoverability of Loans and Interest Receivables
(Continued)

Our response:

Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s policy and
methodology for impairment assessment in relation to the
application of ECL model;

Inquiring management for the status of the loans and interest
receivable as at year end date and corroborating explanations
from management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding of credit status of debtors, checking of historical
and subsequent settlement records and other correspondence
with the debtors;

Evaluating the appropriateness and reasonableness of
methodology, parameters and assumptions used in the
assessment of ECL such as criteria for judging significant
increases in credit risk, definition of credit-impaired financial
assets, key data inputs and forward-looking information;

Checking the arithmetical accuracy of the management’s
calculation of impairment loss allowances under ECL model;
and

Assessing the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding
loans and interest receivables, and the related risks such as
credit risk.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continuea)

Impairment Assessment of Non-current Assets (Other
Than Financial Assets)

Refer to notes 5(d), 14, 15, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2023, the Group’s non-current assets (other
than financial assets) principally comprised goodwill, intangible asset,
property, plant and equipment and right-of-use assets.

The Group assessed the recoverable amounts of goodwill, intangible
asset with indefinite useful life and other non-current assets as at
31 December 2023 based on higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal (“FVLCOD”) and value-in-use (“VIU”). Preparing the VIU and
FVLCOD calculations requires management to exercise significant
judgements and make critical accounting estimates, particularly in
relation to the determination of valuation techniques and the selection
of inputs like projected cash flows during projection period, growth
rates beyond the projection period and discount rates to discount the
projected cash flows and cash flows beyond the projection period.
The Group has also engaged an independent professional valuer to
establish and determine the appropriate valuation methodology and
inputs.

We identified impairment assessment of non-current assets (other
than financial assets) as a key audit matter because the impairment
assessment involves significant judgements and assumptions by
management underlying the determination of the VIU and FVLCOD.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Impairment Assessment of Non-current Assets (Other
Than Financial Assets) (Continueq)

Our response:

° Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of the
valuation methodologies used by the management and key
assumptions adopted for valuations based on our knowledge of
the businesses and industries;

° Assessing the objectivity, capability and competence of the
independent professional valuer by considering its qualifications,
relevant experience and relationship with the Group;

° Checking, on a sampling basis, the accuracy and relevance
of the input data used and the reasonableness of the key
assumptions used in the valuations;

° Involving an auditor’s valuation expert to assist our work
in assessing the valuation methodologies adopted by the
independent professional valuer and comparing the key
estimates and assumptions adopted in the valuations;

° Discussing with the independent professional valuer and
challenging the reasonableness of key assumptions in the cash
flow projections covering the projection period, growth rates
and discount rates; and

° Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures on the impairment
assessment in the consolidated financial statements.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

FAREZEIE o)

ERBEE (TEEERMEE)
BB (2)

FEREE

REBSENEHZRITEIEOMSE - T
fr B EREETERBE
EFT AR B RRM S EIE

BBEERBUEXMGEMNEE - HH
Rkl BERENER FEHEEES
BN REE

R E P ES T E A A SUER &
R AT RFTAEREBROEE
{38

ZEZBMNAEZER G E ST EE
M B EMEERATERAEEET RN R
B ER FERA RS A MR

BB FX G EMA W R EARETER
HRMESREA - BRERITEERF
PR BRRAAEE &

FERERE SRR P EITRE TG
BT -
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control
as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
R R S

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(Continued)

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants

Lui Chi Kin

Practising Certificate Number P0O6162

Hong Kong, 27 March 2024
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EEWER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —

=Ft-A=1+—"HBILHFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRE FERT FA&T
Revenue PN 7 66,328 89,620
Cost of sales SHER A (55,095) (75,560)
Gross profit EF 11,233 14,060
Other gains and losses, net Hfhlzs KSR FE 7 (447) 66,221
Impairment of goodwill EEEAE 16 (13,000) (34,632)
Provision for expected credit loss B S WG ETE
on trade receivables EEEIERHE 20 (1,205) (550)
Provision for expected credit loss on W E R A S T8
loans and interest receivables EEEERE 21 (14,496) (21,196)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER (3,033) (1,865)
Administrative expenses THRAX (67,263) (76,290)
Finance costs B E KA 8 (6,318) (3,991)
Share of results of associates DRI E AR EE 18 (110) (160)
Loss before income tax MRETBEAIE B 9 (94,639) (58,403)
Income tax credit/(expense) FisgiEe, (FAX%) 11 621 (7,472)
Loss for the year FEEE (94,018) (65,875)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax, ARABEE AESEAM
attributable to owners of the Company  2EEE (RFi#%E)
Item that may be reclassified ATRHEREHN P EEER
subsequently to profit or loss: FIERE :
Exchange loss on translation of BEGINEB I B HREA
financial statements of foreign operations bE H &5 18 (2,043) (2,358)
Total comprehensive loss for the year FEZHERERE (96,061) (68,233)
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e EHE R ER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —=E_—
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
BRE FERT FAT
(Loss)/profit for the year attributable to: ELFEE (FE) WS :
Owners of the Company RARER A (93,749) (65,895)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A A (269) 20
(94,018) (65,875)
Total comprehensive (loss)/income EBEEE2T (FE) R
for the year attributable to: by LI
Owners of the Company ZIN/NEIE 2N (95,792) (68,253)
Non-controlling interests FEPERR A A (269) 20
(96,061) (68,233)
Loss per share attributable to owners RARHEEAEGEBREE
of the Company
Basic (in HK cents) R (FBril) 13 (4.78) (3.57)
Diluted (in HK cents) #E (Booil) (4.78) (3.57)

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e TR R

As at 31 December 2023 R=—ZE—_=F+—-_H=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=E —E-F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
h=a FExT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
Non-current assets FREBEE
Interests in associates /N oL 18 730 840
Property, plant and equipment 1 E N 14 2,640 2,367
Right-of-use assets EREEE 15 3,291 2,818
Prepayment and other receivable TR ELAth FE W R IE 22 12,832 400
Goodwill BES 16 28,812 42,543
Intangible asset B EE 17 800 800
Deferred tax assets EETRIEE = 30 2,157 554
51,262 50,322
Current assets REEE
Inventories TE 19 8,435 6,564
Trade receivables 2 5 W F0E 20 31,662 39,065
Loans and interest receivables EWRE R LTS 21 44,560 98,163
Deposits, prepayments and B BRRK
other receivables H b e W FRIE 22 34,468 29,003
Tax recoverable - 55
Financial assets at fair value through WA ET2AZEETA
profit or loss EHESNINBEE 23 12,555 13,189
Cash and cash equivalents HekReEFEEE 24 31,243 52,012
162,923 238,051
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables B S E IR 25 7,743 17,586
Accruals and other payables TEIRE A R E A ER IR 26 22,749 22,074
Contract liabilities BREE 27 998 893
Other borrowings HAfER 28 4,400 4,760
Provision for taxation TIE B 1,075 7,063
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 2,083 1,481
39,048 53,857
Net current assets REEERE 123,875 184,194
Total assets less current liabilities BWEERRBARS 175,137 234,516
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

wn e BRI R

As at 31 December 2023 R=—Z—=F+—-_HA=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=HF —E-—F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000
BRE FET FH&TT
Non-current liabilities FREBEE
Lease liabilities HEAE 29 1,175 1,192
Other borrowings HABERK 28 25,250 24,024
26,425 05,216
Net assets EEFE 148,712 209,300
EQUITY =
Equity attributable to owners AARHEE AELER
of the Company
Share capital A&7 31 21,371 19,836
Reserves ] 32 126,742 188,596
148,113 208,432
Non-controlling interests IR ERS 599 868
Total equity SR 148,712 209,300

On behalf of the board of directors
REREES

Li Yang
e
Director

EE

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

Tin Yat Yu Carol
H—#F
Director

EF



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

E-E-_=F+-A=1+—HItEE

=

For the year ended 31 December 2023 &l

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

TGN
Share-based Convertible Non-
Share Share Merger  Statutory  payment Translation bondsequity Accumulated controlling Total
capital ~ premium  reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
HRitaER TERES
ke REEE AKEE  GERE NRNER  ABRE  EEBR  ZHEE BE GERER  EubE
HKS000  HKPOO0  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO000  HKSOOD  HKSO000  HKSO0  HKS000  HK$O000
T Tt TEm TR TEm TR TEm TR TR TRt Thn
(ote32a)  [ote32)  (oted2c) (ot d2d)  (oted2E)  (note32()
(hfooe) (aroop)) (Wisow) (Witsa) (itaoe)  (Phstaam)
At1 January 2022 A-EZZE-F-B 16900 375,963 2,988 3,344 374 1847 - (0852 196267 - 196,27
Loss for the year EEFR - - - - - - - ) (65899 0 (687
Other comprehensive income AftdERE
- Exchange loss on translation of financial -BERNEREH
statements of foreign operations RRNELER - - - - - 359) - - 238 - (2359
Total comprehensive loss for the year EERAEELE - - - - - 2358) S | N 65239
Issuance of shares in respect of acquisition of RUBHRATRTRE (M)
subsidiaries (note 34) 1800 4030 - - - - - - 210 - 910
Equity-settled share option scheme amangements M EREEHERE A - - - - 863 - - - 8638 - 863
Issuance of convertible honds (note 37) RTERES (i) - - - - - - 1880 - 1880 - 1880
Issuance of shares in respect of conversion of RERTARERRGRA
convertible honds (note 37) (Hfitan) 11% 973 - - - - 6314) 6314 10870 - 10870
Contribution from non-controling interests FERERE - - - - - - - - - 88 88
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 W-B-ZE+ZB=1-AR
Z§zE-R-H 198% 426,017 2,988 3,344 12379 (511) 12486 (268,107) 208432 868 209,300
Loss for the year 35 - - - - - - - (03749 (03749) (269 (04019
Other comprehensive income AftdERE
- Exchange loss on translation of financial -REENERIE
statements of foreign operations FRNENER - - - - - (208 = = (2043) c (2049
Total comprehensive loss for the year ER2EFRLE - - - - -y - (039 (9579 (289 (96061)
Equity-settled share option scheme arangements  IRELEHEREHHRH - - - - 1108 - - - 17408 - 17108
Lapse of share options BREXM - - - - (4769 - - 1,765 - - -
Issuance of shares in respect of placing RRESERTRAG 1,109 9,754 - - - - - - 10888 - 10863
Issuance of shares in respect of share option scheme  SHEREHBRARA 158 446 - - - - - - 4404 - 4404
Issuance of shares in respect of conversion of RERTARERRORA
convertble honds (note 37) (i) %8 2830 - - - - (1,486) 1,486 3,008 5 3008
At 31 December 2023 it g A3 4o 2,988 3,344 2,72 2,554) 11,000 (358605 148,113 599 148,712
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mERTRER

For the year ended 31 December 2028 #EZ—E - =F+_A=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—ECCE —E-F
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
Pzt FAT T
Cash flows from operating activities RELETBNRERE
Loss before income tax BRETIS T AE B (94,639) (58,403)
Adjustments for: HTH| R
Bank interest income HBITHISHA 7 1) (105)
Interest expenses FBHAY 8 6,318 3,991
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ME - BEREETE 9 722 1,384
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREBERE 9 2,801 3,663
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME - BE k&K 7 (38) =
Gain on disposal of land and buildings HE T REFHE 7 - (74,762)
Provision for inventories FERE 9 519 1,297
Write-off of other receivables H A RN 3H 9 - 2,586
Impairment of goodwill ﬁ%iﬁﬁ 16 13,000 34,632
Net fair value change on financial assets at fair value AFER B B EEHA
through profit or loss 2 Hﬂ?@ SHETTS B ER)
N HEREFE 7 1,895 10,111
Share-based compensation L‘Aﬂxf"%ﬁﬁ“ﬁ’]ﬁﬁﬁﬂ 36 17,108 8,638
Other interest income HebF S A 7 (967) =
Provision for expected credit loss on loans and interest BT R FI| S B E EFE
receivables B 9 14,496 21,196
Provision for expected credit loss on trade receivables & S EWNZUABHEEEE
B 9 1,205 550
Share of results of associates AMEHE N RIEE 18 110 160
Operating cash flow before working capital changes ZEESEYRNLERENE (37,511) (45,062)
Increase in inventories FEIEM (2,264) (1,412)
Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables BESREK TAIE/W// (4Em 6,783 (11,671)
Decrease/(increase) in loans and interest receivables EWEHRFSRD,/ (] IJ) 39,107 (4,692)
Increase in deposits, prepayments and other receivables &% + Fa{T Z R E A
ﬁ%ﬂ&%ﬁﬁinu (16,331) (18,605)
Increase in financial assets at fair value through NFEFHE R RS AEY
profit or loss T@ S BT A N (1,261) (8,761)
Decrease in trade payables B2 ERNFIRR D (10,018) (1,767)
Increase in accruals and other payables TRIRE A R E M B TR IRE AN 540 10,678
Increase in contract liabilities ANBEEM 84 364
Cash used in operations ZEMARE (20,871) (80,928)
Income tax paid ERFEE (6,863) (81)
Net cash used in operating activities RETETAR ST (27,734) (81,009)
Cash flows from investing activities RERETBNHSRE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  BEIEHE (1,115) (1,478)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment R B HHEME - Bk KA K
and right-of-use assets EREEE P HE 144 75,774
Arising from acquisition of subsidiaries, net WEEHB A R EER TR - 577
Investments in associates BENTRE - (1,000)
Interest received XIS M 105
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing REES (F1A) /EERLFE
activities (930) 73,978

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —T-—
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
Bzt THER TAT
Cash flows from financing activities REMETHNESRE
Interest paid BERFE 33 (1,994) (297)
Repayment of other borrowings BEEMER 33 (360) =
Proceeds from issuance of convertible bonds BITAMRERAER 33 - 50,000
Repayment of principal portion of lease liabilities BEREAEREHD 33 (2,669) (3,886)
Proceeds from issuance of shares in respect of placing BB 24T/ FT1S 08 11,086 =
Transaction costs attributable from issue of shares BORMIZKA (223) -
Proceeds from issuance of shares in respect of share  FLEBRERT I3 TG FUE
option scheme 4,404 -
Contribution from non-controlling interests RS A - 848
Net cash generated from financing activities RMETHELHSFHE 10,244 46,665
Net (decrease)/increase in cash ReRASEEER
and cash equivalents (RD) /EIFE (18,420) 39,634
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year FHHE¢REEZEEH 52,012 15,348
Effect of foreign exchange rates, net I ek (2,349) (2,970)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year FRESRREZEEA 31,243 52,012
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

1.

GENERAL

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated as an exempted company with limited liability
in the Cayman Islands on 19 June 2013. The address of the
registered office and principal place of business of the Company
is disclosed in the section headed “Corporate Information” in
the annual report. The Company’s shares are listed on the Main
Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together the “Group”) are principally engaged in
the design, manufacturing and trading of apparels, provision
of money lending services and sale of trendy and cultural
products.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2023 were approved for issue by the board of
directors on 27 March 2024.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

2.1 Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs -

effective 1 January 2023

The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
has issued a number of new or amended HKFRSs that
are first effective for the current accounting period of the
Group:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform - Pillar

Two Model Rules

Except for Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2, Disclosure of Accounting Policies, none of
these new or amended HKFRS has a material impact on
the Group’s results and financial position for the current or
prior period. The Group has not early applied any new or
amended HKFRSs that is not yet effective for the current
accounting period.

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

The Group has adopted Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting
Policies” for the first time in the current year. HKAS 1
“Presentation of Financial Statements” is amended to
replace all instances of the term “significant accounting
policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when
considered together with other information included in an
entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected
to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those
financial statements.

BB BN EER
(TERMBREER])

2.1 ERMFETHLES

/

B
BIRSSREZER| - R ==
ZT=F—HA—H4%%
ERQHMACEEHS AL
RSB BB SR E &R
WA EE S e S EAR R
0

BEMBREEA  RRAH

F17%

ERQHEANE 1R SHBRIEE
REBEBUMBREE
BIERRAE 25

(B3TAK)

EEQIPERESY erditeTE
(BRTAK)

EEQERE12% HE—QPELLZ
(B3TA) BEREBEEH

ZEERE

ERQPERFE 125 ERHEEE -
(BFTAK) SHEZHAIER

BREEETEAFIRLE LY
BREEAERHERE 25 (ER]
) SERAIBR BB - ZFH
RIS EER] BB M B S R
AEEERSGATERENEER
MBARARBELEEALE - K
SEYEREFRANE S5
] fed AR A 2B (AT AT AR B RT
FEUBRELER o

FEREREEAFE1INRER
MBRERABBEEHE 2R (B
AR B BEZRE]

AEBRAFEEREREES
RIS SR R BB WG A
RIERBAE 258 (BATA) [ &5t
B2 WFE] - FEGHEREA
S (PR 2 2| EEF] - A
[EXREGTBRER ] BULREE
ATERGHEE] —@2IBER -
W—GtEZEERMBERRTES
HYELAD B RS A S 2 A @ 5T I
REMSZERRMBRENE
REAERBEZEFVBHREIEL
HPRSE - RIGEBERERBER o

Annual Report 2023 2

123



124

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RMEEYBEREER
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continueq) ([BBHEHREEN ] @

2.1 Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs - 2.1 BRI SR BB

effective 1 January 2023 (Continued)

Impact on application of Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of Accounting Policies”
(Continued)

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy
information may be material because of the nature of the
related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting
policy information relating to material transactions, other
events or conditions is itself material. If an entity chooses
to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality
Judgements” (the “Practice Statement”) is also amended
to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step materiality
process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge
whether information about an accounting policy is material
to its financial statements. Guidance and examples are
added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments has had no impact on
the Group’s financial positions and performance but has
affected the disclosure of the Group’s accounting policies
set out in note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
The Group has revisited the accounting policy information.
It has been disclosed and removed certain immaterial
accounting policies.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. ZRMWEBMBREER
(TERMBHREER ) )

2.1 BREHE NEBRT BB

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSS”) (continueq)

2.1 Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs -

effective 1 January 2023 (Continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong

In June 2022, Employment and Retirement Schemes
Legislation (Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment)
Ordinance 2022 (the “Amendment Ordinance”) was
enacted. The Amendment Ordinance abolishes the use of
the accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
contributions under the mandatory provident fund (“MPF”)
scheme to offset severance payment (“SP”) and long
service payments (“LSP”) (the “Abolition”). Subsequently,
the Government of HKSAR announced that the Abolition
will take effect on 1 May 2025 (the “Transition Date”).

The following key changes will take effect since the
Transition Date:

- Accrued benefits derived from employers’ mandatory
MPF contributions cannot be used to offset the LSP/
SP in respect of the employment period after the
Transition Date.

—  The pre-transition LSP/SP is calculated using the last
month’s salary immediately preceding the Transition
Date, instead of using the last month’s salary of
employment termination date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RMEEYBEREER
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continueq) ([BBHEHREEN ] @

2.1 Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs - 2.1 BRI SR BB

effective 1 January 2023 (Continued)

New HKICPA guidance on the accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong
(Continued)

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the offsetting
of accrued benefits derived from an employer’s mandatory
MPF contributions and its LSP obligation and the
accounting for the offsetting mechanism could become
material in light of the Abolition, the HKICPA published
“Accounting implications of the abolition of the MPF-LSP
offsetting mechanism in Hong Kong” (the “Guidance”) in
July 2023 to provide guidance to account for the offsetting
mechanism and the Abolition. The HKICPA concluded that
there are two acceptable accounting approaches for the
offsetting mechanism, being:

- Approach 1: Account for the amount expected to be
offset as a deemed employee contribution towards
that employee’s LSP benefits in terms of HKAS
19.93(a)

= Approach 2: Account for the employer MPF
contributions and the offsetting mechanism as a
funding mechanism for the LSP obligation

For the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023,
the Group’s LSP liability before the expected offsetting
under the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism is immaterial.
Application of the Guidance had no material effect on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL 2. RMEEYBEREER
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSSs”) (Continueq) ([BBHEHREEN ] @)

2.2 Amended HKFRSs that have been issued but 2.2 EEM{ERERERE

are not yet effective

The following amended HKFRSs, potentially relevant to
the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by
the Group. The Group’s current intention is to apply these
changes on the date they become effective.

BB BT BHREER

oA R E NI HEEA
MIRIE IS5 BB B AR A1 R
B AL 4 R A A
R IR - AEERBERLES
BREN T ARAREED -

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilties as BAG R BREHERRE
Current or Non-current ! E1% (BFTA) HIEmE
Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilties with BALHEANE 1T HEZHENERD
Covenants ! (B3TA) afE
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets BAMBREER REEEEEE
HKAS 28 between an Investor and its F10RREE NAlFEERE
Associate or Joint Venture ¢ SERF 8 ZRMBELE

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and

Leaseback !
Amendments to HKAS 7 and Supplier Finance Arrangements
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 21 Lack of Exchangeability 2

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

(fE7TA) RIS
EAMKHREEN ESREOENEE
E165 (B3IK) AR
BAESHERETS HEERETHE
RERRBREE

B 75 (B3TA)
BANBREES Bz Ak
AL ACHEN)

! R-Z-_ME—H Bz &A%

B E HAR AR
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 R-ZZT-_AF— B —HBxZ2&MAK
R EEARI AR
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be E RAFE B #isk 2 & s e FE B
determined. R o

The Group is in the process of making an assessment
of the impact of these revised HKFRSs upon initial
application. Up to now, the Group considers that these
amendments to standards will not have a significant
impact on the Group’s financial performance and financial
position.

AEBEAFGEERERZEL
BRI BB HRELRNTE -
BERE  ARER/ZEER
ZIERT AT HAREE NI R
BRMBFARRELEEATE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively
referred to as the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosure
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost convention, except for financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) as disclosed in the
accounting policies and explanatory notes below.

It should be noted that accounting estimates and assumptions
are used in the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements. Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgement of current events
and actions, actual results may ultimately differ from those
estimates. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement
or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are
significant to the financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$”), which is also the functional currency of
the Company. All values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

A

RE VTSR DR A B R BB 5
HEER - BEGSHEA ((HEGET
R kEE (TXsE [ BT 5E®R

ZH|]) ARBERREDINKER
AV HREREREER

RAEMBERRIIIRELRAE RS - HE
R TIX &R KRR R AR FE
AEREEHHAERES ([UQFE
AAEAEHIAE RS WYHKE
7o

BRIt mEGAMBEHRERAE
FHEFT R - BEZEAADERE
BEHBEN LI TE MR EIRRE KA Em
L - EBERERZR AT REEZEAaT
TR o 3 RESIEE R H B g
s S REYBHRAMEBEANR
R A ETEV SRS FAMT ST S IR ER o

RAEMBRERARARNINEEE AT
(M) 2% - B EHEAN - B
SR HEE RN T -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION

4.1

4.2

Business combination and basis of
consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between
group companies together with unrealised profits are
eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless
the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls an
investee if all three of the following elements are present:
(i) power over the investee, (ii) exposure, or rights, to
variable returns from the investee, and (i) the ability to
use its power to affect those variable returns. Control is
reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate
that there may be a change in any of these elements of
control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests
in subsidiaries are stated at cost less impairment loss,
if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Company on the basis of dividend received and
receivable.

4. ERSFHBREHR

4.1

4.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.3

4.4

Goodwill

Goodwill represents the excess of the aggregate of the fair
value of the consideration transferred, the amount of any
non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the fair value of
the Group’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree
over the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities
measured as at the acquisition date.

Goodwill is measured at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. For the purpose of impairment testing,
goodwill arising from an acquisition is allocated to each
of the relevant cash-generating units (“CGU”) that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination.
A CGU is the smallest identifiable group of assets that
generates cash inflows that are largely independent of
the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets. A
CGU to which goodwill has been allocated is tested for
impairment annually, by comparing its carrying amount
with its recoverable amount (see note 4.12), and whenever
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.4

4.5

Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less their
estimated residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using straight-line method as follows:
Leasehold improvements 4 to 5 years, or over

the lease terms,
whichever is shorter

Machinery 10 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years

The assets’ estimated residual values, estimated useful
lives and depreciation methods are reviewed, and adjusted
if appropriate, at least at the end of each reporting date.

Gain or loss arising on retirement or disposal is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or
loss.

Leasing - as lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the consolidated
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets and
lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an
entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-
term leases; and/or (i) leases for which the underlying
asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to
recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-
value assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term of less than 12 months. The
lease payments associated with those leases have been
expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2028 #EZ—E - =F+_A=+—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.6 Intangible assets

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on
initial recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets
acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the
date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are

assessed to be either finite or indefinite.

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested
for impairment annually either individually or at the CGU
level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. The
useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite
life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the
change in the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite

is accounted for on a prospective basis.

4.7 Financial instruments

() Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a
significant financing component is initially measured

at the transaction price.

Debt instruments

Assets that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent
solely payments of principal and interest are
measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest rate method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment
are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain on
derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZ—Z =

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(i)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is
not held for trading, the Group could irrevocably elect
to present subsequent changes in the investment’s
fair value in other comprehensive income. This
election is made on an investment-by-investment
basis. Other net gains and losses are recognised in
other comprehensive income and are not reclassified
to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as financial assets at FVTPL, whereby
changes in fair value and dividends are recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit loss (“ECL”) on trade receivables, and financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The ECLs
are measured on either of the following bases: (1)
12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from
possible default events within 12 months after the
reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the
expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum
period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group
is exposed to credit risk.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE — T~ =

FH-A=t—HILFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group measured loss allowances for trade
receivables using HKFRS 9 simplified approach
and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs.
The Group has established a provisional matrix
that is based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking
factors specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

For all other financial assets measured at amortised
cost, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL.
The assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be
recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZ—Z =

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at
the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as
at the date of initial recognition. In making
this assessment, the Group considers both
quantitative and qualitative information that is
reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information
that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit
risk has increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument’s
external (if available) or internal credit
rating;

o significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant
increase in the credit spread;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

@)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

existing or forecast adverse changes
in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability
to meet its debt obligations;

an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of
the debtor;

an actual or expected significant adverse
change in the regulatory, economic, or
technological environment of the debtor
that results in a significant decrease
in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt
obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrates otherwise.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

4. ERETHERER »

47 €M ITH @)

(ii)

MBEENRERSE (&)

@)

1 E R A NEE I

(%)

A
1 5

X5 BRHEE
AR RIRA TR
AR AN ES
AR EHEB A
BEBENKET

B

BAKLEELE
ERHFBHHE
wmEZ

BEHANEE
B IMIRE
3R & R % T8
B AREERE
BABERENK
& B o

b FF AR A R 0

fi] » REERBRR R
B 8 B 8 8 30
B FERRE A
1) 46 e R K IR 18
meBRIERNEEEA
ERAIEEMZEAA
THERIE R -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(b)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor
is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any
collateral held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial
asset is more than 90 days past due unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable
information to demonstrate that a more lagging
default criterion is more appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(©

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events of default that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of
that financial asset have occurred. Evidence
that a financial asset is credit impaired includes
observable data about the following events:

significant financial difficulty of the issuer
or the borrower;

a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

the lender(s) of the borrower, for
economic or contractual reasons relating
to the borrower’s financial difficulty, having
granted to the borrower a concession(s)
that the lender(s) would not otherwise
consider; or

it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(d)

(©

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the
counterparty is in severe financial difficulty
and there is no realistic prospect of recovery,
for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into
bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of
trade receivables from sales of apparels, when
the amounts are over one/two years past due,
whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the
magnitude of the loss if there is a default) and
the exposure at default. The assessment of the
probability of default and loss given default is
based on historical data adjusted by forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights.
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e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)  Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

(e

Measurement and recognition of ECL
(Continued)

Generally, the ECL is the difference between
all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and
the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive, discounted at the effective interest rate
determined at initial recognition.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
by adjusting their carrying amount, with the
exception of trade receivables and loans and
interest receivables where the corresponding
adjustment is recognised through a loss
allowance account.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non-
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income
is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZ—Z =

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7 Financial instruments (continued)

(i)

(iv)

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

The Group'’s financial liabilities at amortised cost
including trade payable, accruals and other payables,
other borrowings and lease liabilities are initially
measured at fair value, net of directly attributable
costs incurred and subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
The related interest expense is recognised in profit or
loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Convertible bonds

Convertible bonds issued by the Group that contain
both the liability and conversion option components
are classified separately into their respective items
on initial recognition. Conversion option that will be
settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash
or another financial asset for a fixed number of the
Company’s own equity instruments is classified as
an equity instrument.

FH-A=t—HLFE

4. ERETHERER »

47 €T R

(i)

(iv)

L (&)
BMEERE
B IS SRR B (&

REEIREHEK AT BRE
MHRE (BRESENK
ﬁ‘f%%%&ﬁmﬁﬁﬁ

HERAREES
F)Wﬁﬁ@iﬁﬁi(
ORR T E £ W E 1R B16 K
) BRRERERMN X
HEHK AT E © Hﬁﬂ%
RS IR P FERR

=B ER TR - Waask
EEEEmPIE RS ER
r_EE o °©

AR RS

AEBAETESRENRE
BRI R B AR A S Y)
*ﬁ%ﬁm BN RARER

° #EBIABEE SR
ﬁiﬁmiﬂﬁé I B
EEENARRBARAT

HEEMEBBRES B ARA
TH-

Annual Report 2023 2

141



142

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.7

4.8

4.9

Financial instruments (continued)

(v)  Convertible bonds (Continued)

In subsequent periods, the liability component of the
convertible bonds is carried at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. The equity component,
represented by the option to convert the liability
component into ordinary shares of the Company,
will remain in convertible bonds equity reserve until
the embedded option is exercised (in which case
the balance stated in convertible bonds equity
reserve will be transferred to share capital and share
premium). Where the option remains unexercised at
the expiry dates, the balance stated in convertible
bonds equity reserve will be released to the retained
earnings. No gain or loss is recognised upon
conversion or expiration of the option.

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable value.
Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to
their present location and condition. Cost is calculated
using the weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion
and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY 4. ERETHRER @

INFORMATION (continueq)

4.9 Revenue recognition Continued) 4.9 W ARERR @)

Revenue for selling of apparel products and trendy
cultural products is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the goods or service.

Customers obtain control of the apparel products when
the goods are delivered to the customers and have been
regarded as accepted by the customers. Revenue is
thus recognised upon when the customers received the
apparel products. There is generally only one performance
obligation. The Group does not expect to have any
contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. Sales are made with a credit
term from 10 to 180 days, which is consistent with market
practice. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust
any of the transaction prices for the time value of money
as no significant financing component is deemed present
and the sales are made with the credit term.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.10 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences are
not arising from initial recognition of assets and liabilities
in a transaction other than in a business combination that
affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting profit.
Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates appropriate to
the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the
asset or liability is realised or settled and that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority and the
Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities
on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.11 Employee benefit

(i)

(i)

Defined contribution retirement plan

The Group’s entities incorporated in Hong Kong
manages a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”), a defined
contribution scheme managed by an independent
trustee for those employees who are eligible to
participate in the MPF scheme. The Group makes
contributions based on a percentage of the eligible
employees’ salaries funded by the Group and are
charged to profit or loss as they become payable in
accordance with the rules of the MPF scheme.

The Group’s entities established in the People’s
Republic of China, excluding Hong Kong and Macau
(the “PRC”) make monthly contributions to a state-
sponsored defined contribution scheme for the
local staff. The contributions are made at a specific
percentage on the standard salary pursuant to laws
of the PRC and relevant regulation issued by local
social security authorities.

Contributions to defined contribution retirement
plans are recognised as an expense in profit or loss
when the services are rendered by the employees.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after
the end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service.
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4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY
INFORMATION (continueq)

4.12 Impairment of other assets

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets, intangible assets, interests in associates
and interests in subsidiaries to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered
an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously
recognised no longer exists or may have decreased.
Impairment assessment of CGU which included goodwill
or intangible asset with indefinite useful life were performed
annually.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value
less costs of disposal and value-in-use) of an asset or
CGU is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense
immediately.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future cash flows
expected to be derived from the asset or CGU (see note
4.3), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of
the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset
or CGU.

4.13 Segment reporting

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal
financial information reported to the executive directors
for their decisions about resources allocation to the
Group’s business components and for their review of
the performance of those components. The business
components in the internal financial information reported
to the executive directors are determined following the
Group’s major product and service lines.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

4. MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICY

INFORMATION (continueq)

4.13 Segment reporting (Continued)

The measurement policies the Group uses for reporting
segment results under HKFRS 8 are the same as those
used in its consolidated financial statements prepared
under HKFRSs, except bank interest income, unallocated
finance costs, and unallocated corporate expenses, which
are not directly attributable to the business activities of
any operating segment, are not included in arriving at the
operating results of the operating segment.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are
based on historical experience and other factors, including
expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition,
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year are discussed below:

(a) Income taxes and deferred income tax

The Group is subject to income taxes in a number
of jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in
determining the worldwide provision for income taxes,
timing of payment of related taxes and interpretation
of relevant tax regulations. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated
tax based on estimates of whether additional taxes will
be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination is
made.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE — & —

=F+-A=+—RHIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

()

(b)

(c)

Income taxes and deferred income tax
(Continued)

In addition, deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the deductible temporary
differences or tax losses can be utilised. This requires
significant judgement on the tax treatments of certain
transactions and also assessment on the probability that
adequate future taxable profits will be available for the
deferred tax assets to be recovered.

Impairment of receivables

The impairment allowances for trade receivables, loans
and interest receivables and other receivables are based
on assumptions about risk of default and expected credit
loss rates. The Group adopts judgement in making these
assumptions and selecting inputs for computing such
impairment loss, broadly based on the available historical
data of the parties, existing market conditions including
forward-looking estimates at end of reporting period.

Provision for inventories

Management of the Group reviews the inventories at each
reporting date, and makes provision for impairment of
obsolete, slow-moving and impaired items. Management
estimates the net realisable value for such inventories
based primarily on the expected future market conditions
and the estimated selling price. The Group makes
provision for impairment if the net realisable value is below
the carrying amount.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

(d) Impairment of non-financial assets
(including goodwill)

The Group assesses the recoverable amount of goodwill,
intangible asset with indefinite useful life and other non-
current assets as at 31 December 2023 based on higher
of its relevant CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal
(“FVLCOD”) and value-in-use (“VIU”). Preparing the VIU
and FVLCOD calculations require management to exercise
significant judgement and make critical accounting
estimates, particularly in relation to the determination
of valuation techniques and the selection of inputs like
projected cash flows during projection period, growth
rates beyond the projection period and discount rates to
discount the projected cash flows and cash flows beyond
the projection period.
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e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE— T - =F+-A=+—HIEFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An operating segment is a component of the Group that is
engaged in business activities from which the Group may earn
revenue and incur expenses, and is identified on the basis of
the internal management reporting information that is provided
to and regularly reviewed by the Group’s chief operating
decision maker (being the executive directors of the Company)
in order to allocate resources and assess performance of the
segment. During the year, the Company has identified design,
manufacturing and trading of apparels, provision for money
lending services and sale of trendy cultural products as the
reportable and operating segments of the Group.

Each of these operating segments is managed separately as
each of them requires different business strategies.

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

- all assets are allocated to operating segments other than
certain cash and bank balances and other corporate
assets not attributable to the reportable segments;

— all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than
certain lease liabilities and other corporate liabilities not
attributable to the reportable segments; and

- segment results represent the loss or profit incurred or
earned by each segment without allocation of certain
other income, certain administrative expenses, such as
the Group’s headquarter administrative staff costs and
directors’ emoluments.
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A IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE—ZT-=F+-_A=+—HILFE

AN e
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 2HER @
[l = ;:E = Ve la i ey VN
The segment information provided to the executive directors for fll gﬂiﬁi;i%}ﬂ Ry RIS & 25
the reportable segments during the year is as follows: e '
Design, Sale of
manufacturing Money trendy
and trading lending cultural
of apparels servi_cgs products Total
FREmaRET - ERRME R
HWERES FR 5 Em#HE ag

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FER FTER

Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E-=%1-R
=t—-HILEFE 56,488 8,199 1,641 66,328
Revenue from external customers RENPERHBA
Segment loss DEEE (15,897) (20,045) (3,702) (39,644)
Reconciliation ﬁﬁ
Bank interest income SATHEBA 4
Unallocated corporate expenses N ﬁﬂﬁ%i i (48,718)
Finance costs BEKK (6,318)
Loss before income tax BRATEHAIEE (94,639)
At 31 December 2023 R-E-=%+-A=1-H
Segment assets "*Eﬁ? 62,759 78,810 47,333 188,902
Other corporate assets HtARBE 25,283
Total assets wEE 214,185
Segment liabilities NHaE 17,117 767 2,123 20,667
Other corporate liabilities HtARBRE 44,806
Total liabilities BaE 65,473
Other segment information Hityn HER
Year ended 31 December 2023 HZ-E-=%4_#
=+-HIEE
Amounts included in the measure of STAGERPEER
segment profit or loss or segment PEEENTIR :
assets:;
Provision for inventories FERE \ (519) - - (519)
Provision for ECL on trade receivables B 5 eI FETEE = SEE R (1,205) - - (1,205)
Provision for ECL on loans and FUE R KA S TR
interest receivables EEEERE - (14,496) - (14,496)
Impairment of goodwil BERE A - - (13,000) (13,000)
Net fair value change on financial assets AT (2 B2 ”iﬂﬁ)\”‘ﬁﬁ
at FVTPL Ba/BMBEENNTEES
ek - (8,760) 6,865 (1,895)
Depreciation (note) & (M) (855) (1,130) (482) (2,467)
Capital expenditure (note) BARRY (M) (270) (1,070) (441) (1,781)
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e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. DEBEHR &)

Design, Sale of
manufacturing Money trendy
and trading lending cultural
of apparels senvices products Total
i EEE ERmE ineele
BERES B EmHE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL THL TEL TEL
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-2--%1ZAR
=+-ALEE
Revenue from external customers RENFERHBA 74,337 13,631 1,652 89,620
Segment profit/(loss) AEpEk,/ (E8) 44711 (58,719) (1,631) (15,639)
Reconciliation HE
Bank interest income |ITHBHA 105
Unallocated corporate expenses RAMEETH (38,878)
Finance costs BARA (3,991)
Loss before income tax BRATEHAIEE (68,403)
At 31 December 2022 R=B-Z§+-fA=+-H
Segment assets NHEE 105,758 116,949 51,123 273,830
Other corporate assets HtAREE 14,543
Total assets BEE 288,373
Segment liabilities NHEE 35,933 6,685 3,043 45,661
Other corporate liabilties HiARBE 33,412
Total liabilties BaE 79,073
Other segment information Hitrn &R
Year ended 31 December 2022 BE-Z-"%1+ZH
St-BLEE
Amounts included in the measure FTAGED PUETEEL
of segment profit or loss or DEEEMTIR :
segment assets:
Provision for inventories FERE (1,297) - - (1,297)
Write-off of other receivables A R (2,586) - = (2,586)
Provision for ECL on trade receivables ~ Z ZEMFEREEE
EEkE (550) - - (550)
Provision for ECL on loans and PR A S TR
interest receivables EEFRAR - (21,196) - (21,196)
Impairment of goodwil EHERE - (34,632) - (34,632)
Gain on disposal of land and buildings ~ H& L RIEFUE (7))
(note 7(a)) 74,762 - - 74,762
Net fair value change on financial assets at AAFExT & A&t A2 8
FVTPL B MBRENLTERD
et - (10,111) - (10,111)
Depreciation (note) & (M) (2,084) (1,239) (466) (3,789)
Capital expenditure (note) BARRY (M) (2,075) (16) (524) (2,615)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal places of the Group’s operations are in the PRC
(including Hong Kong). Management determines the Group
is domiciled in both Hong Kong, and in the PRC, which is the
Group’s principal operating location. No revenue was earned
from transactions with other operating segments of the Group.

The Group’s revenue from external customers is divided into the
following geographical areas, based on locations of customers:

6.

DEER @)

ARRR—EREZERAR - MAS%
B ENTBEMHUNTE (BRE
)  ERERTEREBERLIEE
BREFAEN - BETRAKENERE
EiE o EAKEEMEE DR
I S FRERAEAATHA ©

REER AN P R ARIBR P AL
BIRATHEES -

2023 2022

—E-=F —_E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TFETT
The USA 351 - 2,031
Hong Kong B 8,199 27,654
The PRC s 58,129 59,935
66,328 89,620

Geographical location of external customers is based on the
location at which the customers are domiciled.

The principal non-current assets held by the Group are located
in the PRC (including Hong Kong).

SNERE P RHIEN B RARBE PR R

205 -

AEERENERIFRBEEIMVNT
(BREEE)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

, VaNLvi| P51\ [y
6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. oHER @
Revenue from each of the major customers which accounted REFAEAREEWA10%3 A LAY
for 10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the year is set out ZEEXEEZERPHWAHIIAT :
below:
2023 2022
—E-=HF —E__F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THET
Customer A EFA 17,452 20,536
Customer B EFB 33,068 12,916
Customer C EFC N/A* & A * 12,319
* The revenue from this customer accounted for less than 10% of the * REARPHKRZEASEEHEEZE-_S =
Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2023. F+—A=+—HIFEAKZEDR10% °
As at 31 December 2023, 72% (2022: 59%) of the Group’s RZZE-=F+=-A=+—80  ZE%
trade receivables was due from these customers. Revenue PRZBREEREEE FEKRFIED
earned from these customers were reported in the design, 2% (ZEZ_F :59%) - {ZEE
manufacturing and trading of apparels operating segment. FREAKEE 25 R RS - &3
NESEEDE -
Note: Bi%E
Depreciation and capital expenditures, which represent the depreciation, BEEtATHSBEIRNEREARFRL « f5HE14 K
additions and lease modifications of property, plant and equipment and right-of- 1SR BHYE - BEREZHEOTE  RER
use assets as disclosed in note 14 and note 15, have been included in: HEEKAREREEE
Design, Sale of
manufacturing Money trendy
and trading of lending cultural
apparels services products  Unallocated Consolidated
FRERRRET - ) p el
WERES ERBERE EmE FAR B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR FHT FHRL THL
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE-B-=F+-A=+-HLEE
Depreciation nE (855) (1,130) (482) (1,056) (3,523)
Capital expenditures BARY (270) (1,070) (441) (2,644) (4,425)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 BE-B-_F+-A=+-HLEEE
Depreciation & (2,084) (1,239) (466) (1,258) (5,047)
Capital expenditures BAHX (2,075) (16) (524) (1,217) (3832)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

7. REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 7.

Revenue represents the interest income from loans receivables,
and revenue from sales of apparels and trendy cultural products,
net of returns, discounts and sales related taxes. Further details
regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 6.

The Group’s revenue from contracts with customers represents

WA R E At A R W 3

WA SRR R FISIRA ~ BB #
RXAERHERA - HEHERE -
PR RS BRI BE - HBARE
EEEIEME — S HBRBRHEG -

AEERAEFEF RO RESEIERE —

revenue from sales of goods which is recognised on a point in
time basis. An analysis of the Group’s revenue and other income

and gains, net, are as follows:

REFFERNIHE EmIA - AEER K
ASAR B A YA R s ST

2023 2022
—E-=F ==
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FHET FAT
Revenue from contracts REEBNBRELEAE 155
with customers under HKFRS 15: REEEFEHHRE :
Sales of goods HEEm 58,129 75,989
Revenue from other source: REHMARRA WS
Interest income from loans receivable  FEWE FKHFI BUA 8,199 13,631
Total revenue BA 66,328 89,620
Other gains and losses, net Hith s R S8 FE
Net fair value loss on financial assets WA E 22T A HiEaR
at FVTPL WS EER A T EEERFE (1,895) (10,111)
Bank interest income RITHLEHA 41 105
Other interest income (note (a)) HEaF U A (H5E () 967 =
Gain on disposal of land and HE i REFE (HFE D)
buildings (note (b)) - 74,762
Government subsidies (note (c)) BAFE B (MI3E () - 432
Gain on disposal of property, plant and  HE¥% - BE K&l
equipment 38 =
Sundry income AW 402 1,033
(447) 66,221
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e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

7. REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

Notes:

(@)

Other interest income represented imputed interest income charged on an
amount due from a director (note 22).

On 24 August 2022, the Group entered into a compensation agreement
with Jiaxing Xiubei Development and Construction Co., Ltd (“Jiaxing
Xiubei”), a state-owned enterprise appointed by the local authority to
execute a transaction on land, pursuant to which, Jiaxing Xiubei agreed to
purchase, and the Group agreed to sell its land together with its buildings
attached with aggregate compensation of approximately HK$81,659,000
payable by Jiaxing Xiubei, according to the relevant policy of the
Xiuzhou Government for the purpose of urban area redevelopment. The
transaction was completed in December 2022. Net gain from disposal
of land and buildings of approximately HK$74,762,000 was recognised
during the year ended 31 December 2022.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, included in profit or loss is
HK$432,000 of government grants obtained from Employment Support
Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-epidemic Fund launched by the Hong
Kong SAR Government supporting the payroll of the Group’s employees.
Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on
payroll expenses, and not reduce employee head count below prescribed
levels for a specified period of time. The Group does not have other
unfulfilled obligations relating to this program.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

7. WAREAMBEARKE

(%)

BifAE

(@

H AR B AT BE Y — B E = IR WER
ZEERBSHA (fRE22) -

RZZEZZFNAZ+MA - AEBEHEE
EmAEILHAEERERAR ((FEMH
b)) A EREERT IR INEE
3 FTZ — M E RS - Bt - BIEFS
MERAT AT RS EZMAEBBUR - =5
FUAREBEMAEERE L EZLHE
RZEME  ZEEIEMEERBEAY
81,659,000 L ZXHER =T ==
F+_ARK -BE-_ZT_—_F+-A8
=+—HIFE EERALELHRETF
W 535049 74,762,000 78 7T ©

BE - —"F+-_A=+—HItFEE "
W B BITT R = BT H#E &9 TR &=
2o | BT MRHZE] 5128 ([R3ZTE))
L AEEEEF S ESNETHE
432,000 c B ET A8 o 1RIR [{RBE 2
8 AEBEREBZSHBART S
MY YERTEHERTEEIES BAZ
B EIRTERTFLATR o AN B 48 H b 62
It BB R REITEME



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

REVENUE, AND OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

The disaggregation of the Group’s revenue from contracts with
customers on sale of goods are as follows:

7.

WA R E At A R W 3
()

AEEREHEFTFALHEEEROKES
BT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Geographical markets BT %
The USA =@ _ 5
Hong Kong 5% - 14,023
The PRC s 58,129 59,935
Total revenue from contracts REEEFENH SR
with customers, RE— R 2R
recognised at a point in time 58,129 75,989

The following table provides information about trade receivables

TREHABETPEONE 5 RUGK

and contract liabilities from contracts with customers. EREHEENER -
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT T

As at 31 December Rt+-—A=+—H

Trade receivables (note 20) B Z IR (FiFE20) 31,662 39,065
Contract liabilities (note 27) aHaE (MEar) 998 893

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts of apparels products and trendy cultural products and
therefore no information is disclosed for revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligations under the contracts for apparels and trendy cultural
products production that had an original expected duration of
one year or less.

52 B S EL AR A E i SRR S EE AR Y
HEANWRBERER L - R &
BREWAER - {EMAKE SR RRER
HAEAMR /5 — F 3k oA R 2 BOE AR S S
BIRX A EmEEA KR FRRIERER
15 e
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

8.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

FINANCE COSTS 8. RERA
2023 2022
—EC=H —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Interest on other borrowings HALERFE - 137
Interest on debt element of AIMRES 2
convertible bonds B E D H B 6,184 3,694
Interest on lease liabilities HEBENE 134 160
6,318 3,991
LOSS BEFORE INCOME TAX 9. BRFTSBIAIEE
Loss before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting): BRETS R AT E B o0 (BFA) T
B B IBBIEE -
2023 2022
—EC-=F —E_F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FExT FAT
Auditor’s remuneration ZE RN &
— Audit service - ZE R 1,050 990
— Non-audit service - ERZBURTS - 125
Cost of inventories recognised ERERARZNFERA
as expense 55,095 75,560
Depreciation of property, plant M - BB RS ETE
and equipment (note 14) (FF5E14) 722 1,384
Depreciation of right-of-use EREEERE (M 15)
assets (note 15) 2,801 3,663
Foreign exchange (gain)/loss, net BN =% (W) BEFE (129) 207
Provision for inventories FERE 519 1,297
Write-off of other receivables (note 22)  Hifi$& E b FE U FRIE (Fff5E 22) - 2,586
Provision for ECL on trade 2 SR IETEHEEEE
receivables (note 20) B4 (FsE20) 1,205 550
Provision for ECL on loans and EWER KR F BT EE EIaRE
interest receivables (note 21) (FF5E21) 14,496 21,196
Short-term lease expense WHHEER 40 667
Employee benefit expense EERAAX
(including directors’ emoluments (BRESME (MisE10))
(note 10))
— Wages and salaries -IE8KkE® 24,132 41,826
— Pension scheme contribution — RIRET IR
— defined contribution plans - REMRKETE 867 2,230
— Share-based compensation — DARRAD 72 B0 0 R A 17,108 5,566
— Other benefits - EftE A 709 1,097




Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 10. EEMERAEEREFH A
PAID INDIVIDUALS T

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) E=XE S
The emoluments of each of the directors for the years RANEEERESHNIE N
presented are set out below: ™
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind  Contributions compensation Total
e BER HRe
ne ENEN  BIGIEMS  AEBNEM @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$1000
THR TR TR TR TEn
Year ended 31 December 2023 BE-E_=F
TZAZT-ALEE
Executive dlrectors: HTEE:
Mr. Li Yang Xyt
(Appointed with effect from 19 January 2022)  (R=2=—%—-F+7BEZA) - 2,856 18 2,482 5,356
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol -5zt - 1,200 18 2,482 3,700
M. Cheung Ka Lung FRERE
(Resigned with efiect from 31 August 2023)  (R=E==#\A=1—-H&R) - 892 12 - 904
Mr. Wong Wai Kal Richard IBfLE
(hopointed with effect from 6 October 2023~ (R=Z-=#+ A REE() - 21 2 - 229
Mr. Chan Ming Leung Terence ReARLE - 900 18 - 918
Mr. Gong Xiaohan ERELE - 2,016 - 2,482 4,498
- 8,091 68 7,446 15,605
Independent non-executive directors: BUFHTEE:
Mr. Tang Shu Pui, Simon GlYif e 240 - - 125 365
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BHEEE 240 - - 125 365
Ms. Lo Wing Sze JP Eiant 240 - - 125 365
720 - - 375 1,095
Total emoluments Hess 720 8,091 68 1,821 16,700
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST 10. EEMERAERSH A

PAID INDIVIDUALS (continueq)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

+ @)

(a) EEME »

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits scheme  Share-based
Fees inkind contributions  compensation Total
e 2R WARip
ks VBN RGHES  AERGEM h)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Tan Az TAT TAR TR
Year ended 31 December 2022 Hzo3-cf
TZR=t-BLEE
Executive directors: HEE
Mr. Li Yang hkE - 2,718 18 - 2,736
Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol B—fat - 1,200 18 - 1218
M. Cheung Ka Lung FRELE - 1,200 18 - 1218
Mr. Chan Ming Leung Terence REARESE - 850 18 1912 2,780
Mr. Gong Xiaohan BEREE - 2016 - - 2016
- 7,984 7 1912 9,968
Independent non-executive drectors: BUAHIEE:
M. Tang Shu Pui, Simon iy 240 - - - 240
Mr. Hon Ming Sang BRELLE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Lo Wing Sze JP Eaat 240 - - - 240
720 - - - 720
Total emoluments Hess 720 7984 72 1912 10,688
Notes: IE -

The remuneration of the directors disclosed above only included
their remuneration during the period when they are holding the
office as directors of the Company.

ii. The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly
for their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The independent non-executive
directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services
as directors of the Company.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

EXFBEENERHINERERS
AR A E = 5375 5 A B

PRATEENHFHNERZERES
MEBARRRALEEHEMEEMH
MBRTS - LB IFMITE A H
MERBRRERAARETES
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST

PAID INDIVIDUALS (continued)

(b) Senior management’s emoluments

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

10 EEMERABREFA

+ @)

Senior management includes directors and other senior
executives. The analysis of the emoluments for senior
management excluding the directors, whose details have
been reflected in note 10(a), for the year is set out below:

(b)

SREEENME

EREEERREENEMER
THRAR - FARRERE (T
BREFBERBRRHE10@WE
=) BFBIT

2023 2022
—E-=H T
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET

Salaries, allowances e FRKEYWET
and benefits in kind 3,635 3,508
Pension scheme contribution RORFTEI K 36 18
Share-based compensation LARR A9 75 EE 18 Y SR B 4,996 2174
8,667 5,700

The emoluments of the senior management excluding the
directors fell within the following bands:

SREERE (REEIN) NEFHE
R T5IEEE -

Number of employees

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000

1,000,001 7T ZE 1,500,000/ 7T
3,000,001 7 7T 3,500,000 & 7T
4,000,001 7 7T £ 4,500,000 7 7T
4,500,001 7 7T £ 5,000,000 7 7T

BEAE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
1 1

1 —

1 —

- 1

3 2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE— T - =F+-A=+—HIEFE

1a§$M$&£%%%ﬁA
(%)

(c) EEEAEHAL
AEEASEMNAZZESHAL

10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS (continueq)

(c) Five highest paid individuals

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included 3

(2022: 3) directors for the year, whose emoluments are BRE=A(ZF_F: :%)
reflected in note 10(a). The analysis of the emoluments CE mﬁﬁ:?ﬁ_l%a&%ﬁw'ﬁ
of the remaining 2 (2022: 2) highest of the five paid 10(a) ° A% & %ﬁ\iﬁf‘]ﬁﬁr'ﬁ

H(ZE2ZZF : MB) REAFE

individuals for the year is set out below:

BT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T

Salaries, allowances e R REYEF
and benefits in kind 2,424 3,516
Pension scheme contribution RRGTEIEK 18 18
Share-based compensation VARG AR /2 EEHtE 1 S B 4,964 3,517
7,406 7,051

MERRATHENFEERR
FREEABIT :

Number of non-director highest paid employees whose
emoluments fell within the following bands is as follows:

Number of employees

BEAE
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-—F
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 & T2 2,000,000 78 7T - 1
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 & T2 3,500,000 78 7T 1 -
HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 4,000,001 7& T2 4,500,000 78 7T 1 -
HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,500,001 #& T2 5,000,000 7 7T - 1
2 2

During the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022,
no director or any of the highest paid individuals waived
or agreed to waive any emoluments and there were no
emoluments paid by the Group to the directors or any of
the highest paid individuals of the Group as an inducement
to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for

loss of office.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)
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e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE)

1. FiBBESR (%)

2023 2022
—EC=H —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT

Current income tax (credited)/ AEEFENHHAEH (Ke) BX:

charged for the year:

Hong Kong Profits Tax EENEH (87) 87
PRC Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT”) REPERSEH ([BEMNEE]) 1,090 7,385
1,003 7,472
Deferred tax RAETITE (1,624) -
(621) 7,472

(i)

(i)

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI”") and the Cayman Islands, the Group is not
subject to any taxation under these jurisdictions.

Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2022:
16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong, except for the first HK$2,000,000 of qualified
entity’s assessable profit is calculated at 8.25% (2022:
8.25%), which is in accordance with the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime.

PRC EIT is provided at 25% (2022: 25%) on the estimated
assessable profits of the Group’s PRC subsidiary for the
year.

Under the law of the PRC on EIT, corporate withholding
income tax is levied on the foreign investor for the
dividends distributed out of the profits generated by the
foreign investment enterprises. The Group’s applicable
withholding income tax rate is 5% (2022: 5%).

(i)

(i)

RERBEBARES ((RBER
REE] MRASEENR LA
Bl NEEBBBGRZS BDEE
[ LRI IR ©

BEMNEGHEAFEERAEL
REETERBUE M A 16.5% (= F

T % :165%) ;tE - BRiRE
MRFINESHE  GEREER

B 2,000,000 7T FE &% £ 0 A #%
8.25% (=& — — 4 :8.25%) =t
o

PRI ERERIE RSB
MI B A B AN 2 M AT FE SR
MEJ25% (—F— —4F : 25%) =t
TeHiE -

RIBEFBSEMERE  HINK
BREERIINECEMELEZ R
Mok 2 IR BB EBNAS
e REBEB 2 EMAMEHE
KEE%(ZE=Z=F :5%) °
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT/(EXPENSE) (continueq)

12.

13.

A reconciliation of income tax credit/(expense) applicable to loss
before income tax at the statutory tax rate to the income tax
expense at the effective tax rate is as follows:

1. FrE8iER (X))@

B YRR PSR A B 1RE

BAEM KT Y
WS HER (FX)  BIZERB
KEEHMSHRASHEROT

2023 2022
—E-=F —E -
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT

Loss before income tax B TSR B ES 18 (94,639) (58,403)
Tax calculated at the rates applicable  LAEAR A BRI sl AR

to profits in the tax @)% A RSt B R IE

jurisdictions concerned (16,486) (5,146)
Tax effect of non-taxable and BAR R T REIFIA B

non-deductible items, net TS R 255 13,221 10,900
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised AR FE R TR 5 518 B T 75 20 25 2,644 1,718
Income tax (credit)/expense FTiSH (Be) Fx (621) 7,472

DIVIDENDS

12. K2

No interim dividend was declared during the year (2022: Nil) and
the board of directors of the Company does not recommend the
payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 December
2023 (2022: Nil).

LOSS PER SHARE

Basic loss per share is calculated by dividing the loss
attributable to owners of the Company of approximately
HK$93,749,000 (2022: HK$65,895,000) by the weighted
average number of 1,961,867,523 (2022: 1,845,278,732)
ordinary shares in issue during the year.

As shares options granted by the Company under its share
option scheme, and convertible bonds issued by the Company
have an antidilutive effect to the basic loss per share calculation
for the years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023, the diluted
loss per share was the same as the basic loss per share for the
years ended 31 December 2022 and 2023.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

13.

FRLESKPERE (ZF==
/) BARARRESSTERRNEE
—E-=F+_A=+—HIFENT
AIRARE (ZEZZF : &) -

FREE

BREREBIVZARQREE AEMN
18 4793,749,0008 T (Z 2= —
65,895,000 7T) BRIAFRNE #ITEB
A% /9 0 4 - 39 £101,961,867,523 1% (=
T~ 4 :1,845,278,732 %) 5t & -

HRAR FIRREERES IR LA
BRERAATBITHIIRBKRESS
HE_ZT-_—_FR-_F-_=ZF+=A4
=+ —HILEFENEREAEENE
BEREENE At HE_T-—F
RZZE-=F+-A=+—HILFEHN
EREEEEHEGRENESISMER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y% - BERRKE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office Motor
Buildings  improvements Machinery  equipment vehicles Total
B £ER
B HENEER BE  BOZRG RE @it
HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T Tn T TEn TEn
Year ended 31 December 2022 BZ-F-_£+-B=t-HILEE
Opening net camyingamount~—~~ EAIEREFE 6,184 290 657 757 349 8237
Additions hE = 496 18 907 57 1,478
Acouisition of subsiciaries (note 34) WEERB AR (HizE34) - - - 285 - 285
Disposdl i 15.269) - (341) (284 - 5,890
Depreciation nE (672) (299) 33) (320 (61) (1,384)
Exchange differences B (247) - (37) (66) ) (359
Closing net carmying amount EREAFE = 488 264 1279 33 2367
At 31 December 2022 R=BZZF+Zf=t-H
and 1 January 2023 R=%-=£-f-A
Cost A - 12,455 1,702 7828 1692 23,677
Accumulated depreciation ZilhE - (11,967) (1,438) (6,549) (1,350) (21,310)
Net carrying amount FEFE = 488 264 1279 336 0,367
Year ended 31 December 2023 EZ-E_=E+-F=+-ALEE
Openingnet camyingamount ~~ EAIREFE - 488 264 1,279 336 2,367
Additions NE - - - 44 1,07 1,115
Disposal (h& - - - - (106) (106)
Depreciation & - (108) (124) (370) (120) (7129)
Exchange differences EiEE - - @ (10) - (14)
Closing net carrying amount ~ EXRKEFE - 380 136 943 1,181 2,640
At 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-B=1-H
Cost 7 - 12,455 1,664 7,728 1,707 23,554
Accumulated depreciation ZiE - (12,075) (1,528) (6,785) (526) (20,914)
Net carrying amount REFE - 380 136 943 1,181 2,640
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

15. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15. FHAREE
Leasehold Office Office Motor
land premises equipment Vehicle Total
gL BAME  BOERG RE b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FhR TEn FhR FhER TEr
Year ended 31 December 2022 EZ-F-__%+-F=1-H
L5E
Opening net carrying amount FNREFE 1,679 3,453 354 - 5,486
Depreciation ik (46) (3,404) (213) - (3,663)
Addition NE - 2,183 17 - 2,354
Acquisition of subsidliaries (note 34) WEEHT B AR (FizE34) - 363 - - 363
Disposal & (1,490) - - - (1,490)
Exchange differences R AR (143) (89) - - (232)
Closing net carrying amount FREEFE - 2,506 312 - 2,818
Year ended 31 December 2028 BZ-Z-=%+-fA=1-H
LEE
Opening net carrying amount ENREFE - 2,506 312 - 2,818
Depreciation & - (2,730) (67) @ (2,801)
Addition NE - 3,037 - 273 3,310
Exchange differences EHER - (5) - (31) (36)
Closing net carrying amount EREmFE - 2,808 245 238 3,201
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —

=F+-A=+—HIFE

16. GOODWILL 16. &

The amount of goodwill capitalised as an asset, arising from EBEHMEEENMEBIEEENDE
business combinations, is as follows: RIEMAT ¢

HK$’000

FERT

Cost 2%
At 1 January 2022 R-_E-_—_—HF—H 99,109
Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) WM E AR (FizEa4) 41,346
Exchange difference i 1,197
At 31 December 2022 RZZE-_—F+-HA=+—H 141,652
Exchange difference fEHZERR (731)
At 31 December 2023 R=2=-=f+=-A=+—H 140,921
Accumulated depreciation and impairment ZiHTEREE
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—_%—AF—H 64,477
Impairment BB 34,632
At 31 December 2022 RZTE-——F+=-A=+—H 99,109
Impairment A 13,000
At 31 December 2023 R=ZB==5+=-A=+—H 112,109
Net carrying amount REFE
At 31 December 2023 “E_=_f%+Z=-HA=+—H 28,812
At 31 December 2022 B _H+-_A=+—H 42,543
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16. GOODWILL (Continued)

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill are allocated
to the CGU in relation to the Group’s sale of trendy cultural
products (“Trendy Cultural Products CGU”) as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

16. B2 »)

SLREREME  AESEKEHEAE
BRI ERBEENREELFM
(MARXCERREELSM]) AT ¢

2023 2022

—EC-=H —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FA&T

Trendy Cultural Products CGU MR L ERBSEEEN 28,812 42 543

As at 31 December 2023, the Group expects recent
macroeconomic, policy and industry factors resulted in a
wider range of reasonably possible value-in-use outcomes for
the Group’s IP application and products operation. As at 31
December 2023, the recoverable amount of the Trendy Cultural
Products CGU had been determined based on value-in-use
calculation, which is arrived at on the basis of valuation carried
out by an independent professional valuer. It is calculated
using pre-tax cash flow projections based on financial budgets
approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash
flows beyond the five-year period are extrapolated using the
estimated growth rate. The recoverable amount of the Trendy
Cultural Products CGU was approximately HK$30,637,000.
The impairment loss shall be allocated first reduce the carrying
amount of the goodwill allocated to the Trendy Cultural
Products CGU and accordingly, impairment loss on goodwill
of approximately HK$13,000,000 was recognised for the year
ended 31 December 2023 to write down the carrying amount of
the Trendy Cultural Products CGU to its recoverable amount as
at 31 December 2023.

The key assumptions used in the value-in-use are as follow:

Discount rate — the discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is 23% (2022: 17.5%). The discount rate used is
pre-tax and reflects specific risks relating to the Trendy Cultural
Products CGU. The pre-tax discount rate is determined with
reference to the weighted average cost of capital.

Long term growth rate — the weighted average growth rate of 2%
(2022: 2%) used does not exceed the long-term average growth
rate for the business in which the Trendy Cultural Products CGU
operates.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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EEUNEE R AR EREER RERLE
BEZHNEEARERAEELER - K=
T_=F+-A=+—H  #rxtE
mIREEABMNMAREEREERERE
REBETEET ' ZEREEIREE
VEEGEMETHEEMER - &
BRERERFHESEEIENT S
EEFEARRNRESRERAFES
e BBRAFHNIR S RERGEHE
REHEE - #MANEtERBSELESE
{17 & B Yz [2] 4 58 49 30,637,000 7% T °
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17.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2028 HiE—E —=F+—_A=+—HILFE

GOODWILL (Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the Group expects the business
environment for money lending operation will deteriorate due
to intense competition and this will result into a downward
adjustment on future revenue from money lending operation. An
impairment loss of goodwill of approximately HK$34,632,000
was recognised for the year ended 31 December 2022 to write
down the carrying amount of the CGU in relation to the Group’s
provision of money lending services to its recoverable amount
as at 31 December 2022.

16. B2 »)

#_?__¢+ A=+—8" $¢l

BT ERME X BNERIRESS
?ﬂ@ﬁ LAY THES ﬂﬁ%%
HARKRBA - ERBEZ=ZT=_—F+=

=S+ HIEFERRABEREESE
M6wmm%ﬁ NEBEBEAEEE

FEEREBERSESCENMREE
Wﬂﬁﬁ\_s::¢+_ﬂ:+—a
R AT B S 58 ©

INTANGIBLE ASSET 7. B EE
Money
lending
license
BEXRmEE R
HK$’000
FET
Cost and carrying amount EEZFXZEEE{E
As at 31 December 2022, and R=-E-_—_F+=-A=+t—HEK
1 January and Zg:_¢ A—HAR
31 December 2023 +=A=+—H 800
The license has a legal life of 1 year but is renewable every MR Z AR FHA1F - BR] ARERK

year at minimal cost. The directors of the Company are of the
opinion that the Group would renew the license continuously
and has the ability to do so. Various studies including product
life cycle studies, market, competitive and environmental trends,
and brand extension opportunities have been performed by
management of the Group, which supports that the license has
no foreseeable limit to the period over which the provision of
services restricted by license are expected to generate net cash
flows for the Group.

RGFEDR - ARAEZRR/EIEER
SRERMRRES - WHEBULES - K
SEEEEDETSZERR  BEEM
FHIFITE - M5 BFSLIREEE - A

KRR ARSI SR IR
HIY EFAHRR B - MR IRR B2

BRTS AR S ERHARS B AN R B SR 4
FRFHE -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

17.

18.

INTANGIBLE ASSET (continued)

As a result, the license is considered by the management of the
Group as having an indefinite useful life because it is expected
to contribute to net cash inflows indefinitely. The license will
not be amortised until its useful life is determined to be finite.
Instead, it will be tested for impairment annually and whenever
there is an indication that it may be impaired.

For the purpose of impairment testing, the recoverable
amount of license of the Group has been determined from
FVLCOD using income approach. Key assumptions on which
management has based its FVLCOD to undertake impairment
testing include pre-tax discount rate of approximately 16%
which reflects specific risk relating to the relevant unit; and
terminal growth rate of approximately 2% which does not
exceed the long-term average growth rate for the business. No
impairment on intangible assets of the Group is recognised for
the year ended 31 December 2023 (2022: nil).

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

17. BEEE »

At AEEEEER SZERARE
IREFAFE - FRTEMZERATERE
HIREMAFRE - LR EHAIERF
HIWE T SAR 2 BTG T & ETTH -
B2 - &R e SFETRER
A RN AR BERE AT B IRRER
EITRH

SURERIEM S - AKEERA AT E
SRDERPRAER QT ER G S
B - EEEBEREBEEATHERGDEKA
EITRE R S A BE SRR B IR A)16%
MERTLATRGI X - ERREAEENA
BN ERR  REREBERELN2%
HENHBBEGRAFHERE - HE—
E_=F+A=+—BLEFE K
SEYERABYEERE (T
FE) -

18. REHE N A NER

2023 2022

—E-=HF —E - F

HK$’000 HK$’ 000

FHET FAT

Share of net assets other than goodwill Bk FZ AN G BY & B S FE 495 605
Goodwill on acquisition W FTE S 235 235
730 840
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had interests in the
following associates which are accounted for using equity
method in the consolidated financial statements, as follows:

3L AL AL
ARG A

Issued share

=Ft-A=1+—"HBILHFE

18. REtE N RINER @)

R-ZB-_=F+-"A=+—H8  &x&H
KT3I E R AP A s
MEBRATRGT -

- WER A

Form of capital/paid-up Equity
business Place of registered interest Principal activity and
Name of company structure incorporation capital held place of operation
BIRA/
REER FBREBEX bR B RERRE HEkE IEXBRERBH
Wake Hong Kong Limited liability Hong Kong 4 ordinary share 256% Provision of brands and
Limited company A% of HK$1 products development
BRAF JRBREE BT in Hong Kong
EE REBRMEmER
C-EEIEI Faﬂ?é‘
Helix Global Limited liability Hong Kong 100 ordinary shares 36% Provision of event
Management Limited company A% of HK$1 management services
BRAA] 100 R BREE BT in Hong Kong
VE B RERREEBERRY
In the opinion of the directors, these associates are not material EERE  ZEHERNTEAEEmME

to the Group, and the aggregate financial information in respect

WAEK - BEASEE 2R RWHTF

BRI
T

of the Group’s associates as extracted from their management T (MsaREEEERA)

accounts are set out below:

2023 2022
—E=HF —E__F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FER FAT
As at 31 December R+=—A=+—~”
Aggregate carrying amount of 1IE|J3FE7<E%%’& Gl
individually immaterial associates in RERE B HREN BRI SR
the consolidated financial statements 730 840
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued)

18. REtE N RINER @)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E_—F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FAT
Year ended 31 December HE=+—-_A=+—H
Aggregate amount of the Group’s REED LRI S Q7B
share of those associates
— Loss for the year - FAEE (110) (160)
— Other comprehensive income - Hih2mihas - =
Total comprehensive income PHEIN =B (110) (160)
i}
19. INVENTORIES 19. &
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT T
Raw materials and consumables R R FEM 25 25
Work in progress P 125 1,089
Finished goods SIRK o 8,285 5,450
8,435 6,564
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

£
20. TRADE RECEIVABLES 20. E S EWFRIE
2023 2022
—EC=H o4&
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Trade receivables Z 5 WA 33,937 40,135
Less: provision for impairment loss B OREBERE (2,275) (1,070)
31,662 39,065
Trade receivables are recognised at their original invoice RV IRRRERERR - ZE
amounts which represented their fair values at initial recognition. B R IER VTR QT E -
The Group’s trade receivables are attributable to a number of AEENE ZRBFIBEFENZEEEE
independent customers with credit terms. The Group normally EHNBYEF - ASEREETER
allows a credit period ranging from 10 to 90 days (2022: 10 to FNFI0ZENQR(ZE__F : 108
180 days) to its customers. Trade receivables are non-interest 180K) MIZEH - B 5 EUGIBETE
bearing. B
Ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date and RIEEE B HANE 5 RKGIE (HRE
net of loss allowance is as follows: BiEE) RROTAT :
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
0 to 30 days 02 30H 9,424 15,611
31 to 60 days 312 60H 881 9,218
61 to 90 days 61290 H 2,784 3,452
91 to 180 days 912180 H 2,121 4,987
Over 180 days BB 180 H 16,452 5,797
31,662 39,065
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment on trade
receivables are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2028 #EZ—E - =F+_A=+—HILFE

20. ESEWNFIE )

B 5 U B R B A R A B B
T

HK$’000

FAT

At 1 January 2022 R-ZE-_—_%—F—H 520

Provision for loss allowance recognised FRERHEEERE

during the year 550
At 31 December 2022 and 1 January 2023 R=-B=-Z=F+=A=+—H

E=Z=-—=%—H—H 1,070

Provision for loss allowance recognised during the year F AR E 185 & 1,205

At 31 December 2023 R-EB-_=%+=-H=+—H 2,275

The Group provided for impairment loss on individual
assessment based on the accounting policy stated in note 4.7(ii).
The Group did not hold any collateral as security over the trade
receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure ECL. The provision rates
are based on days past due for groupings of various customers
with similar loss patterns. The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable
and supportable information that is available at the reporting
date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

NEBARE W 5E 4.7(0) Fr 51 & 5T BUCR
B RIS 5 BB B R R B L B -
REBWERE HEWFIBFE A (T
TEﬁDD °©

KRS A HRBBEREETRED
1 AFTERBEERE - BEXDHE
REGRUEBRANZ AR 2848
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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20. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

20. EZEWFIE »)

AR GRS AEASEE S

on the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix: EW IR EERRE R
2023 —EBEC-=F
Past due
s
Less than
3 months to 6to 12 Over
Current 6 months months 1 year Total
BB 6%
B 3fEAZ6MEA 12f8A EiB1E ok
ECL rate EHEEHEX 2% 9% 1% -
Gross carrying amount REZeE (TET)

(HK$000) 14,860 8,964 10,113 - 33,937
ECLs (HK$'000) EHEESHE (TET) 354 855 1,066 - 2,275
2022 —E__—F

Past due
20 E
Less than

3 months to 6to12 Over

Current 6 months months 1 year Total
N 62

H1E 3EAZE6{EA 1218 A HiB1F B

ECL rate BEEEERX 1% 3% - 6% 10% 20%

Gross carrying amount EEAsE (Tr)

(HK$'000) 33,600 - 5,730 805 40,135

ECLs (HK$000) BHEEBE (THET) 336 - 573 161 1,070
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21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 #EZ—E - =F+_A=+—HILFE

21. BIRE R KA

2023 2022

—E-=F —E-—F

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET THETT

Current BNHA

Loans receivable EUE R 90,920 137,108
Interest receivables RIS 14,580 11,782
Less: impairment loss B REEE (60,940) (50,727)
44,560 98,163

The Group’s loans and interest receivables, which arose from
the money lending business of providing corporate loans,
personal loans and property mortgage loans in Hong Kong, are
denominated in HKS.

As at 31 December 2023, loans and interest receivables of
carrying amount of HK$29,316,000 (2022: HK$73,769,000)
were unsecured while remaining loans and interest receivables
of carrying amount of HK$15,244,000 (2022: HK$24,394,000)
were secured by charges over certain properties in Hong Kong
and personal properties such as diamonds and jewellery, and
guaranteed by certain independent third parties. The interest
rates on all loans receivable are from 8% to 24% (2022: 2.3%
to 24%) per annum. The maximum exposure to credit risk at
each of the reporting date is the carrying value of the loans and
interest receivables mentioned above.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

REEHEKRER RSB TFHE -
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BIr) AEEE MHETEEAEA
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 HiE—E —=F+—_A=+—HILFE

21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Before granting loans to outsiders, the Group uses an internal
credit assessment process to assess the potential borrower’s
credit quality and defines credit limits granted to borrowers.
Limits attributed to borrowers are reviewed by the management
regularly.

As at the reporting date, the Group reviewed its loans and
interest receivables for evidence of impairment on both individual
and collective basis. The Group recognised impairment loss on
individual assessment based on the accounting policy stated in
note 4.7 (i) under HKFRS 9.

The Group has measured impairment loss for loans and interest
receivables based on 12-month ECLs unless there have been
a significant increase in credit risk since origination, then the
allowance will be based on lifetime ECLs. The Group has
assessed the ECLs on loans and interest receivables based
on the Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment. As at 31 December 2023, provision
for impairment of approximately HK$54,379,000 (2022:
HK$42,864,000) was made on loans and interest receivables
that were credit-impaired. Provision for impairment of
approximately HK$nil (2022: HK$6,520,000) was written-off as
at 31 December 2022.

21. BEIREFR

IRFE @)

FSNEEA TR EE AT - AEREEHRA
MEEHEREFHEEEERANEE
E% WEFEHR TERANEERR

LTERANREEHERECHR
ﬂ

RilE BH - AEBERERIMEEESE
BEREWERNANE - UEHARBAE
MREREE - AEBEREBEE LI BR
& RIS 9FRIA T A M 3 4.7(i) At &Y
St R IR (E R 5 77 LR R R (E &S
18 e

AEBER12EABBEERBTE
EREFR R SRRERSE @ BRIEAE
ERBEEBZERAR LA - HEgig
ERGFEMBHEEBBRELRE - K
SEEANAEEMNBF EEEBRERT
HEKER A EMNERERERSE - I
REBABFENTEEEZREERE
f@ﬂjuﬂ% RZZE—=F+=A=1+—
B HEEERENERERKFE
B Rk 1B B #5 #954,379,00078 7T (—
T4 0 42,864,000787T) c RZZE
T+ A=+—H ' BERBLY
T (ZT - —4F : 6,520,000/87T)
BT o
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21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continueq)

The movements in provision for impairment of loans and interest
receivables are as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

21. EWWERERFE @)

FERE R R F SR ERENEZINT

2023 2022
k- St 2

Non credit- Credit- Non credit- Credt-

impaired impaired impaired impaired

Provision for impairment AEERE BEERE AEERE EEERE

measured at 12-month ECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL | 12-monthECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL

12188 HES HES 1288 HES HES

HERENTER ANCEEE RUGEFR REGEFE | BHEESE BHCEFE REEEEE

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000

Thn Tén Tén Thr T T

At begimning of year RER) 2 78%9 42,864 899 2741 P41
Transfer to 12-month ECL eRZNRERRBEEER

- non crecit-mpaired - KEERE 2 @ - - - -
Transfer to lfetime ECL BYZRENRBEERR

- non credft-impaired - AEERE @ 4 - (1,259) 1253 -
Transfer to lfetime ECL EYERENRBEERR

 credit-impaired -EEERE 6 211) 2017 _ 344 U4

Charged for the year ERk (14) 929 28,916 378 4,189 16,629

Assignment o a director (note) ~ EZT-4EZ (i) - - (19,618) - - -

Writien-off s - - - = = (6,520)

Atend ofyear RER 2 6,550 54,379 2 7839 12,864

Note: Fit 3

On 28 February 2023, an ordinary resolution was duly passed by the
independent shareholders of the Company to approve, confirm and ratify a sale
and purchase agreement between the Group and Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, a director
of the Company (the “Assignee”), pursuant to which the Group has agreed to
assign, and the Assignee has agreed to purchase from the Group all of the
Group’s legal and beneficial right in loans and interest receivables from certain
independent borrowers at a consideration of approximately HK$22,953,000 (the
“Assignment”). Up to 31 December 2023, the Group had received consideration
amounted to approximately HK$14,666,000 from the Assignee. The remaining
balance of the consideration was included in other receivables (note 22).

The difference of approximately HK$15,335,000 between the carrying amount
of the outstanding loans and interest receivable assigned of approximately
HK$5,665,000 prior to the Assignment and the amount recognised as new
financial assets, being an amount due from a director at the date of Assignment
of approximately HK$21,000,000, has been included in provision for ECL on
loans and interest receivables during the year ended 31 December 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —

21. LOANS AND INTEREST RECEIVABLES (continueq)

Note: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023, the net amount of provision for
ECL on loans and interest receivables (being the total charge for the year of
HK$29,831,000 less the aforementioned difference of HK$15,335,000) charged
to consolidated statement of comprehensive income was HK$14,496,000 (2022:
HK$21,196,000).

Further details in relation to the aforementioned transfer of loans and interest
receivable have been set out in the Company’s announcement dated 8
December 2022, the Company’s Circular dated 10 February 2023 and the
Company’s announcement dated 28 March 2023.

21. BEIREFR

A IR AR M

=Ft-A=1+—"HBILHFE

AR FE )
BifsE : ()

HE_Z-_=F+-_A=+—RALFE AL
AEMHERRZBERER KA SEHEEEHER
&F 5 (B E & F 4258 29,831,000 8 TR &=
3l £%815,335,000/87T) 414,496,000/ 7T (=

T— — 4 : 21,196,000787T) °

AR L ERERRF S EEAE— SHEDR
RARRBPAE-—S-_—F+=-_AN\BZA%
—E-_=F_AtHZBRR-_T=_=F=FA
bty A= ra/N=-

The following table explains changes in the gross carrying TREBEKEREFEMNERARLEEE
amount of the loans and interest receivables that explain their 2 HREBRHEYEKRER R SEE
significance to the changes in the ECL allowances for loans and EEBERESHNEEN -
interest receivables:
2023 2022
—EIZE B CF
Non credit- Credit- Non credt- Credit-
Loans and interest impaired impaired impaired impaired
receivables, gross, measured at AEEHE BEEHE KEERE BEEHE
12-monthECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL | 12-monthECL  Lifetime ECL  Lifetime ECL
EYERRASKELSEN 1288 HES HES 12{8A GEH GEH
HERR BECERE FUCEFE TBECEFE | BIGERE REEERE BIGERE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
Thn Thn Tén TR FiEn Fin
Gross carrying amount R—A-H
asat 1 January LEARSE 25,240 53,759 69,891 65,287 15,950 69,481
Transfer to 12-month ECL EYZ2AREREEER
- non credit-mpalred - K EERE 3,543 (3,543) - - - -
Transfer to lfetime ECL ERSHENRAEERR
- non orecit-impaired - KEERE (12,743) 12,743 - (43,532 4353 -
Transfer to lfetime ECL ERSHENRAEERR
~ credit-mpaired -BEERE (11,607) (2,348) 13,955 = (1,445) 1445
New loans originated BEHHER - - - 13200 = =
Repayments B 05%)  (18869) (10) 829 7219 -
Assignment to a drector note) ~ EEF-2EE (i) - - (25,283) s = =
Written-off ik - - - - - (6,520)
Changes in interest receivables  EMFIE2E) (28) 668 2,763 (1,429) 2,934 5,485
Gross carrying amount Rt-A=1-H
as at 31 December LERESE 1,870 42411 61,219 25,240 53,759 69,891
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

22. DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER

22. #£€ - AR

HEW

=+
RECEIVABLES MIE
2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE_—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT F&T
Non-current FEFRE
Prepayment and other receivable TEA R At FE IR 12,832 400
Current E
Prepayments TEFK 23,998 9,759
Other receivables ) e O 6,743 16,932
Deposits e 3,727 2,312
34,468 29,003

Deposits mainly represent rental deposits of HK$974,000 (2022:
HK$2,114,000) and trade deposit of HK$1,100,000 (2022: nil).
Other receivables mainly represent amounts due from trade
partners. As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, deposits and
other receivables of the Group have no comparable companies
with credit ratings can be identified, hence ECLs are estimated
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the historical
loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted to reflect the
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions,
as appropriate. The loss rate applied for deposits and other
receivables that are not credit-impaired, where there are no
comparable companies, was ranging from 1 to 3%.

As at 31 December 2023, deposits, prepayment and other
receivables include amount due from Ms. Tin Yat Yu Carol, a
director of the Company, arising from the Assignment (note
21) of approximately HK$7,300,000 (2022: nil). The amount
is unsecured, interest free and repayable in equal monthly
instalments by the end of each subsequent calendar month till
February 2026.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 December 2023 #EZ—Z =

e PR RRME

FH-A=t—HLFE

23. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 23. A A F{EFTE B & 815t A

24,

"él"' = 32 >
PROFIT OR LOSS EHEENUBEE
2023 2022
—EC=H - —4F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Listed equity securities held for trading 5 1EE EME B F HRAE S
in Hong Kong 3,135 10,634
Contingent consideration receivable AN B AR
in connection to acquisition of SRR E (FIFE34)
subsidiaries (Note 34) 9,420 2,555
12,555 13,189

As at 31 December 2022, the Group’s listed equity securities
of approximately HK$10,634,000 were pledged for margin
loan payable (note 28) of the Group. During the year, net
fair value loss on financial assets at FVTPL of approximately
HK$1,895,000 (2022: HK$10,111,000) was recognised in profit
or loss.

For more detailed information in relation to the fair value
measurement of the items above, please refer to note 39(f).

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents of the Group included cash at banks
which earn interest at floating rates based on daily deposits
rates.

As at 31 December 2023, the Group had cash and bank
balances denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”) amounting to
approximately HK$6,681,000 (2022: HK$40,804,000) which
were placed with certain banks in the PRC. RMB is not freely
convertible into other currencies and the remittance of funds
out of the PRC is subject to exchange restrictions imposed
by the PRC government. Under the PRC’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement and Sales
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for foreign currencies through
the banks that are recognised to conduct foreign exchange
business. The bank balances are with creditworthy banks with
no recent history of default.

24,

RZZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H" ' K&
B &) £ M AR AR & % 4910,634,0007%8
TAAEEERNFRERNER (F
228)c FN - LATFEFEBES
AR ERNTBEEEN R AR
B #71,8050008 L (ZF = = F:
10,111,000 7T) B R IE&EER
ETE LB ATFENEZFE
B2 RMEE39(

ReRREEFEEHER

Re MReFERR BRFARTHR
T BT RFHN R F 8 X GREU

B o
o

R-E-_=F+-"A=+—H A%EE
UIARE ([ARE]) s7E/MHRE KIR
1THTF4 56,681,000 (ZE ==

F : 40,804,000787T) * 17 5| BHE A
METRTT - ARBTRER Bﬂﬁb}ﬁl/\’rm
B A B KRR NN B AR BB

FFRSMNEE SRR o RIFBH B
CONEEIRRB) K KHEEE - EIE R HE
EERTE) AREEEFBERE
TTINERTFRIRI TR AR RS E M
% - RIT/EBDEREERENRTT
i IR BIE R -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

25. TRADE PAYABLES

Credit periods of trade payables normally granted by its
suppliers were ranging from 15 to 120 days (2022: 15 to 120
days).

Ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the reporting

25. EZ ENFRIE

HEEGTAERE FERMNZTIBNEE
H—RNF155120K (=2 ==
15 120K) °

RS ARRIEERE AN E 5 R A

period based on invoice date is as follows: TEAREC DATIA T

2023 2022
—E-=F ==

HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FERT FAT
0 to 30 days 0Z30H 7,059 8,250
31 to 60 days 312 60H - 2,956
61 to 90 days 61290 H - 5,328
91 to 180 days 912180 H 684 888
Over 180 days B3® 180 H - 164
7,743 17,586

26. ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES

26. FIRREBAREMEMNTE

2023 2022
—EC=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Accruals TERER
— Accrued staff costs - FEIR B TAKAR 4,240 2,433
— Accrued other operating expenses - JEIRRHE A ER Y 6,031 6,260
Other payables E {th FE T RRIR
— Amounts due to directors (note) - EESHE (M) 5,299 5,510
- PRC social security fund - PRt EREES 3,817 4,083
— Others - Hfth 3,362 3,788
22,749 22,074
Note: BiE
The amounts are unsecured, interest free and has no fixed repayment terms. ZECHEAEER 25 AEETENRER -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

27. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

27. EHEE

2023 2022
—EC=H —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Short-term advances from customers: SR EIFER K -
Sale of goods HEEm 998 893
2023 2022
—EC-=HF —E__4F
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
FER FAT
Balance as at 1 January R—H—BM&F 893 529
Decrease in contract liabilities as BRETAFIEHAE
a result of revenue recognised HFARRAEHES DA ERD
during the year that was included
in the contract liabilities at the
beginning of the year (893) (529)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result  EHe AT & 7KIE
of billing in advance mERE LB ELM 998 893
Balance at 31 December R+ZRA=+—HM&T 998 893
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

28. OTHER BORROWINGS 28. H A& 5K
2023 2022
—EC=H —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Non-current IERE
Liability component of convertible AR ERES LS (MEE37)
notes (note 37) 25,250 24,024
Current B
Promissory note (note 34) ENEE (M15E34) 4,400 4,400
Margin loan payable, repayable within ~ ENFFEER ° —F A
one year or on demand BRENREE - 360
4,400 4,760
29,650 28,784
29. LEASE LIABILITIES 20. HESE

The Group leases various offices premises, office equipment
and a motor vehicle under lease agreements. The lease
agreements are between one to five years (2022: one to three
years).

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain
a wide range of different terms and conditions. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants. Leased assets are
not used as security for borrowing purposes.

The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate that the individual lessee would
have to pay to borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of similar value to the right-of-use assets in a similar economic
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

== ==
29. LEASE LIABILITIES (continuea) 20. HEE @B »

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group: RETIEEERNE  KEHR :

- where possible, uses recent third-party financing received - TEAIBEEAE - ERERIAEA
by the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to ITESNE=FTME BRI
reflect changes in financing conditions since third party ELAE  URMBESFEE=
financing was received; BhE DATR B & (R ey &)

- uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free - FREIE BAREAHEANG
interest rate adjusted for credit risk of lessee; and ERRARERRAE 0 &

- makes adjustments specific to the lease terms. - HEERICETEEHE -

None of the leases contain variable lease payments. WMERERSEHEENK -

Office Office Motor
premises equipment vehicle Total
WAME BOAERE RE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AL TAL FAEL FAT

As at 1 January 2022 R-ZE-Z%#-5—-H 3,508 389 = 3,897

Addition A 2,183 171 - 2,354

Acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34)  WEEMTB AR (KizE34) 374 = = 374

Interest expense FER% 147 13 — 160

Lease payments MERR (3,791) (255) - (4,046)

Exchange movement 328 (66) - - (66)

As at 31 December 2022 and R-B-—F+=A

1 January 2023 =+—AR
—E”_=%-8-H 2,355 318 - 2,673

Addition NE 3,037 - 273 3,310

Interest expense FMERX 116 16 2 134

Lease payments BERT (2,664) (79) (60) (2,803)

Exchange movement 5 2 (26) - (30) (56)

As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=F+=A

=+-H 2,818 255 185 3,258
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

29. LEASE LIABILITIES (continued)

The present values of future lease payments as at the reporting

dates are analysed as:

2. HEEE w)
SR ST B < 2K B 45 B 1 TR 4B 5 A7 4

2023 2022
—E-=F — B
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET THETT
Current liabilities mEAE 2,083 1,481
Non-current liabilities JEmEIAE 1,175 1,192
3,258 2,673
2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET TETT
Short-term lease expense HEHEER 40 667
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

30. DEFERRED TAX 30. IEAERE
The movements in deferred tax assets during the year are as FRELEHIBEEZ W
follows:
Deferred tax assets EEBIEE E
Losses
available for Impairment of
offsetting trade receivables
against future and loans
taxable profit receivables Total
ALK SRR B2 WA
ERBENNER REWERWRE @st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FAET
At 1 January 2022 R-E-_—F—H—H = 562 562
Exchange realignment B 5 R - 8) )
As at 31 December 2022 and R-B--F+-A=+—H
1 January 2023 k=—ZE-=%-F-H - 554 554
Credited to consolidated statement st ALRABHE
of profit and loss 1,624 - 1,624
Exchange realignment BE 3 SR 19 ¥ 1)
As at 31 December 2023 R=B=Z=f+=ZA=+-H 1,605 552 2,157
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30. DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried
forwards to the extent that the realisation of the related
tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. As at
31 December 2023, the Group has unused tax losses of
approximately HK$106,930,000 (2022: HK$86,210,000)
available to offset against future taxable profits of the companies
that incurred these losses, in which no deferred tax assets were
recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position.

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding income tax is
imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned
by PRC subsidiary from 1 January 2008 onwards. A lower
withholding income tax rate may be applied if there is a tax
treaty between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign
investors. The applicable rate for the Group is 5% (2022: 5%). In
estimating the withholding income taxes on dividends expected
to be distributed by those subsidiaries established in the PRC
in respect of earnings generated from 1 January 2008, the
directors have made an assessment based on the factors which
included the dividend policy and the level of capital and working
capital required for the Group’s operations in the foreseeable
future. As at 31 December 2023, temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised amounted to
approximately HK$1,112,000 (2022: HK$1,590,000)

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

30.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

ERERIE ()

EEFIEEEIRBEN SR EEER
o PR P ER A i ) B R AR A B TR W e e
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

31. SHARE CAPITAL 31. BB
Number of Nominal
ordinary value
shares at of ordinary
HK$0.01 each shares
BREEO0.01ET
ERARHE EEREE
HK$’000
FHAT
Authorised: ERE
At 1 January 2022, and R-E-—F—A—HUK
31 December 2022 and 2023 TR CFRZTE=F
+=-—A=+—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRARE
At 1 January 2022 N2 —_F—HF—H 1,690,000,000 16,900
Issuance of shares in respect of FrEmATRRESREITRM (KFE37)
conversion of convertible bonds (note 37) 113,636,359 1,136
Issuance of shares in respect FRULEBRTE A R TR (PFiiaE34)
of acquisition of subsidiaries (note 34) 180,000,000 1,800
At 31 December 2022 RZE-—F+=-A=+—H 1,983,636,359 19,836
Issuance of shares in respect of FrERATMRESETRM (KFES7)
conversion of convertible bonds (note 37) 26,737,965 268
Issuance of shares in respect SRR AR 21 1T (P93 36)
of share option scheme (note 36) 15,840,000 158
Issuance of shares in respect of placing HECEFEBITRMD 110,862,000 1,109
At 31 December 2023 R-ZE_=F+_A=+—H 2,137,076,324 21,371
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

32. RESERVES

()

(b)

(c)

Share premium

The share premium account represents the excess of
the proceeds received over the nominal value of the
Company’s shares issued, net of share issue costs.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve of the Group represents the difference
between the nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries acquired by the Company pursuant to certain
reorganisation of the Group and the nominal value of the
shares issued by the Company.

Statutory reserve

According to the relevant PRC laws, the subsidiaries
established in the PRC are required to transfer at least
10% of their net profit after tax, as determined under the
PRC accounting regulation, to a statutory reserve until
the reserve balance reaches 50% of the subsidiaries’
registered capital. The transfer of this reserve must
be made before the distribution of dividend to the
subsidiaries’ equity owners. The statutory reserve is
non-distributable other than upon the liquidation of the
subsidiaries.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE—ZT-=F+-_A=+—HILFE

32. RESERVES (Continued)

(d)

(e)

(f

Share-based payment reserve

Share-based payment reserve represents the fair value
of the actual or estimated number of unexercised share
options granted to directors, employees, consultants and
service provider of the Group recognised in accordance
with the accounting policy adopted for equity-settled
share-based payments.

Translation reserve

Translation reserve comprises all foreign exchange
differences arising from the translation of the financial
statements of foreign subsidiaries.

Convertible bonds equity reserve

Amount represents portion of proceeds on issue of
convertible bonds relating to the equity component (i.e.
option to convert the convertible bonds into share capital)

(d)

(€)

(f

32. &&=

%&ﬁ%g i B9 2 A fe

ABHD RERE N E R AR T
AEEES - EB - BR KRS
HER 2 RITHEBREERS S

BB 2 ATE - AREAEE A
AR 10 R EHE A ST T ER AR A B 5T
iETThEn/m°
nE#E
BB FBEREFINTE R
Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ#&%ﬁﬁ?iﬁ’]iﬂ[i%

B o

AR R A e
RO TIRBITTRBBES B

SREMN SR (BIZ K Al 8%
BAESFE R BAARNRER]) -
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE — T~ =

FH-A=t—HILFE

= A = a
33. NOTE TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 33. ZFEBEERERME
CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities is as BMEESEANBEHROT :
follows:
Lease Other
liabilities borrowings
HEESE HAnfER
HK$’ 000 HK$’000
FHBT FA&T
At 1 January 2022 R=—®==f—-8—8H 3,897 4,057
Changes from cash flows: Rensgsy -
Proceeds from issuance of BITR ARG HFT1S R
convertible bonds - 50,000
Interest paid ERFLE (160) (137)
Repayment of other borrowings BB EMIER - (3,697)
Repayment of principal portion BEEAEBEARSE D
of lease liabilities (3,886) -
(4,046) 46,166
Other changes: E g
Addition in lease liabilities HEAEEM 2,354 =
Acquisition of subsidiaries BT B A 374 =
Interest expenses BRI 160 3,831
Amount classified as equity component D EE AR EBDHI - (18,800)
Conversion of convertible bonds IR IR E S = (10,870)
Issuance of promissory note BITEERR - 4,400
Exchange movement ) (66) -
At 31 December 2022 and R-B-ZZF+Z-A=+—-8BK
1 January 2023 —E-_=%—H8—H 2,673 28,784
Changes from cash flows: RenEE
Interest paid BEFE (134) (1,860)
Repayment of other borrowings = i%ﬁﬂﬂ{ B3k - (360)
Repayment of principal portion BEHERELRSEHY
of lease liabilities (2,669) -
(2,803) (2,220)
Other changes: Efth &g -
Addition in lease liabilities HEEGEEM 3,310 -
Interest expenses FBRX 134 6,184
Conversion of convertible bonds BRI R 25 - (3,098)
Exchange movement bE & B (56) -
At 31 December 2023 R-ZBE-=%+=-A=+—H 3,258 29,650
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE—ZT-=F+-_A=+—HILFE

34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 15 July 2022, the Group completed the acquisition of the
entire issued share capital of Dreamtoys Inc (the “Acquisition”).
Dreamtoys Inc and its subsidiaries are principally in the sale of
trendy cultural products in the PRC. The total consideration
of the Acquisition is HK$44,000,000, which would be settled
by way of issuance of 1) promissory note in the aggregate
principal amount of HK$4,400,000 (note 28); 2) 120,000,000
consideration shares of the Company; and 3) 60,000,000
consideration shares of the Company subject to Escrow
arrangement, under which the vendor of Dreamtoys Inc
would guarantee and undertake that the net profit after tax of
Dreamtoys Inc for the year ended 31 December 2022 (the “Profit
Guarantee Period”) should not be less than RMB3,600,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,430,000) (the “Guaranteed
Profit”).

If the Guaranteed Profit is not achieved by Dreamtoys Inc,
amount of consideration shares subject to Escrow arrangement
to be released to the vendor shall be adjusted downwards.

The Group has exercised the right to extend the Profit
Guarantee Period to the year ended 31 December 2023 and
the net profit after tax of Dreamtoys Inc for the two years ended
31 December 2023 shall not be less than RMB7,200,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,860,000).

34. WEBFIE 1 F

RZE——FtA+HH  AEETK
15 B Dreamtoys Inc. 892 2F 0 38 1T IR
([WeBE=E=1E]) - Dreamtoys Inc. & E
BRAREERFBEHE R XLE
oo o W BB = 18 89 48 £X {8 7% 44,000,000
B WARBMNU T AEE  (1)%
177K 4 #8%8 4,400,000 78 JT 8 & 5 Z 4%
(B$ 3£ 28) : (2) % 7 120,000,000 & 2
NAIRER S, + & (3)% 760,000,000
BRARBRRERSD (XFEELHEFIR -
1% Itk Dreamtoys Inc B9 & 77 #54R & M &
BEE_ET-__F+-A=+—AH1t
F E ([ % 1% 3% H1]) Dreamtoys Inc.
BR B 1 A A 1 58 A R % 3,600,000
7T (FBE %) 4,430,00058 7T ) ([MRZ %
A1 e

fisi Dreamtoys Inc 7K & 3% BUR & £ -
A THAMBESETHRERNEE (F
PRAFEERHE) o

AEBETEHEFNREHEREEE
—E-=F+-A=t+—HI-EENE
A - M Dreamtoys IncE & — T = =4
+-A=t+—HIEMEFEORI &L
gL AR 7,200,0007T (FHE
A% 8,860,000 7T) °
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueq) 34. WEEHIB A E )
Details of the fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities, EERAHINEERAE BERER
purchase consideration and goodwill recognised are as follows: HENATEFBAT
Fair value
NEE
HK$’000
FHT
Property, plant and equipment Y% - BB REE 285
Right-of-use assets FREEE 363
Cash and cash equivalents HeMREEEEE 577
Trade receivables g S EWRIR 27
Deposits, prepayments and other Ze - B REMEKKIE
receivables 1,965
Inventory 7E 433
Trade payable B SRR (229)
Accruals, other payables and receipts ~ TEIRE A « Efh e 0B K FE UG IE
in advance (428)
Lease liabilities HEBE (374)
Fair value of net assets acquired by the ANEBUEEHEEFERN A FE
Group 2,619
Purchase consideration: BERE:
— settled by promissory note - A EREN 4,400
— settled by 180,000,000 new shares of — B2 &) 180,000,000 KT A7 45 1+t
the Company 42,120
Total consideration BRE 46,520
Less: Fair value of net assets acquired  J& : FTBE EFEMN A TFE (2,619)
Less: Contingent consideration W HAREWARAE
receivable (2,555)
Goodwill S 41,346
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34. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition is as

34. WHEKB A 8] @)

WEEBERSARITWT :

follows:
HIK$’'000
FHET
Cash and cash equivalents acquired FriEIR & K3 EEIEE 577
Net cash inflows RERAFHE 577

Acquisition-related costs amounting to HK$463,000 are
excluded from the consideration transferred and have been
recognised as an expense during the year ended 31 December
2022, within the administrative expenses in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Goodwill arose in the Acquisition because the cost of the
combination included a control premium. In addition, the
consideration paid for the combination effectively included
amounts in relation to the benefit of expected synergies,
revenue growth and future market development. These benefits
are not recognised separately from goodwill because they do
not meet the recognition criteria for the identifiable assets.

None of the goodwill arising on the Acquisition is expected to
be deductible for tax purposes.

Dreamtoys Inc and its subsidiaries contributed total revenue of
HK$1,652,000 and contributed net loss of HK$1,652,000 to
the Group from its acquisition date during the year ended 31
December 2022.

U 8 = TEH A AB A AN 463,000 78 o0 £
AAREENE TREZE-_ZT_-_—F
+-A=Zt+—HLEFEBRRERAY K
mAETERERARABTRAY -

WEEHRELHERRAHKARS
EHIREREE o LI - HAGIHRE
ER L BREARBRME - WAER
MR 52 R A s ERE IR - R
BEFNE TG A #REENERT
% o [A|)h IF f BE R B R

BE I ENBEERELANHESENRE
PR 2R T A FORR

BE_T-__HF+-_A=1+—HIEE
A+ Dreamtoys Inc & E i B 2~ 71 8 I
fE B R RAERET R A1,652,000
78 7T KB 1RF R 1,652,000 8 7T ©
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34.

35.

FH-A=t—HILFE

ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (continueq)

Had the Acquisition been completed on 1 January 2022,
revenue for the year ended 31 December 2022 of the Group
would have been approximately of HK$91,480,000, and loss
for the year of the Group would have been approximately of
HK$60,492,000. The pro-forma information is for illustrative
purposes only and is not necessarily an indication of revenue
and results of operations of the Group that actually would
have been achieved had the Acquisition been completed on
1 January 2022, nor is it intended to be a projection of future
results.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Key management personnel remuneration

The Group defines directors as key management
personnel and their remuneration are set out in note 10(a).

(b)

Transactions with related parties

The transactions were entered into at terms mutually
agreed with the related parties in the ordinary course of
the Group’s business. Saved as disclosed elsewhere in
notes 7(a), 21, 22, 26 and 36 to the consolidated financial
statements of the Group, there is no other material related
party transactions occurred during the year.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited K32 i& G R A &)

34.

35.

WESHT B D | (@)

WK EEER S _—F—A—A%
B AEBREZE T - —F+=
A=T—HBLFENRKRAHRL
91,480,000/ 7T + M AL B F RN E1E
15 A& 4960,492,000/8 7T ° & & KHE
e - WARRNBREREN =-Z
TZF-—A—HERBASEERER
B AT & S48 - TNIEE ETRAIR K

BEAERS
(a) EEEE AEFHMH

AEEBKESRESTIBREEA

8 MmE2EEABRHMEN
BizE10(a) °

(b) BB S RS
FZERXRGNARER —REKBIR
EF‘TREEEW /\HT%IEZ{'?K/Q\ﬁT
i o [RANEBARE M RRMEE

7@ 2122 26 R3CFTIHEE
O - FRARBEMEANBHRS o
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 8 December 2021, 60,000,000 options were granted by
the Company under its share option scheme adopted on 22
November 2013 to its directors, certain employees of the Group
and a consultant of the Company for their contributions to the
Group to acquire shares of the Company at an exercise price of
HK$0.155 per share with an exercise period from 8 December
2021 to 7 December 2026 (“2021 Options”). During the year
ended 31 December 2021, all of these options were vested and
exercisable upon the grant of the share options.

On 19 April 2022, 87,100,000 options were granted by the
Company under its share option scheme adopted on 22
November 2013 to its directors, certain employees of the
Group, a consultant and a service provider for their contributions
to the Group to subscribe for shares of the Company at an
exercise price of HK$0.278 per share with an exercise period
from 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2027 (“2022 Options”). During
the year ended 31 December 2022, all of these options were
vested and exercisable upon the grant of the share options.

On 17 January 2023, 168,850,000 options were granted by
the Company under its share option scheme adopted on 22
November 2013 to its directors and certain employees of the
Group for their contributions to the Group to subscribe for
shares of the Company at an exercise price of HK$0.230 per
share with an exercise period from 17 January 2024 to 16
January 2033 (2023 Options”). The vesting period of these
options is from the date of grant until the commencement of
exercise period. During the year ended 31 December 2023,
none of these options were vested and exercisable upon the
grant of the share options.

36. fBIAERT &

RAFIBBEER-_ZT—=%+—A8
T+ BRMANERE S EESE
AEBEE & 8 ME R 160,000,000
MEERE  REFSHASEELHNE
Bt AKEEAR AR - 1TEE AR
01558 ' (TFHAR T —F+=
ANBE_ZE-_R"F+-_AtH[IZ
T —FERE cRNBE-ZT=—F
+ZA=+—HLFE  FiBEZEER
YR TEREREHEBRA 17T
{5 o

RZE_—FWMA+NBE A2FIR
BR-ZZE—=F+—A=Z1+Z=B&HM
WERESERNAEEES  5TE
B —ZEMER—2RBHERED
87,100,00017 B Ig# - ARBEE A
SEMER - WAIRER0.278 /8 T
TEERBARRRG - TFHAE=E
——HFWA+NABE_ZE_tFWEA
TNAB (ZZ2==FERE])  BR

R =R @i S__F+_H
=+—BLFE  2MEFERENE

HERERERE &—J FATE ©

RZTZ=F—A++tAH XAFIRE
R-E—=F+—A -+ -_HRMANE
BREFENAEEEERETEER
{ 168,850,000 17 AR # - LAFKRIG E ¥
REBWEE - WIAIRENR0.2307 T
MGﬁFﬁﬁﬁﬂﬂ%ﬁ TERAE=
—WME—RA++RE_Z==F—A#
ﬂ-/\E (ZEZ=FBKE] - 2=
BRENGEBEHEREAMEETE
HRBARIL BE-T_=F1+=A
=+—HIEFE  BEZEFERENR
MR B R A T171F -
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-
36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuec) 36. B HERTE )
Details of movement of the options during the year ended 31 BE—Z-_=F+-_A=1+—HILEE
December 2023 are as follows: BRI BB T ¢
Number of share options
FieeA
Weighted Outstanding at Lapsed/ Outstanding at
average 1 January Granted Exercised cancelled 31 December
Date of grant exercise price Exercise period 2023 during the year during the year during the year 2023
R-B==f it 3
-B-A RERZN/  12A=t-B
RURE  MRVHGRE fika HRE RERRL RERTE il AR
Director
£
LiYang 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 16,900,000 - - - 16,900,000
X E-ErZANA 01558 ZBZ-FTZANREZRIAETZALA
17 January 2023 HK$0.230 17 January 2024 to 16 January 2033 - 19,800,000 - - 19,800,000
ZECE-AT4A 0087 ZB-ME-ATtRECREZE-ATA
Tin Yat Yu Garol 8 December 2021 HK80.156 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 16,900,000 = = = 16,300,000
- “E--FtZANA 01%%T  —F--Ft-ANBE- S ET-AtA
17 January 2023 HK$0.230 17 January 2024 o 16 January 2033 - 19,800,000 - - 19,800,000
I ] 0L ERE-ATLRECREZE-ATAA
Cheung Ka Lung 8 December 2021 HKS0.156 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 2000000 = = 2,000,000) =
Fre Z2-F12R/R 0T CE-FrCANRECRETOALR
17 January 2023 HK$0.230 17 January 2024 o 16 January 2033 - 3,000,000 - (3,000,000) =
ECE-RAT4A 020081 —3-ME-ATtAE-5==5-AfiA
Chan Ming Leung Terence 8 December 2021 HK$0.185 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 2000000 = = = 2000000
i ZE-E2AN 0165%T  ZR--FT-ANREZRAETALA
19 Apr 2022 HKS0.278 19 Apr 2022 to 18 Apr 2027 15,900,000 - (15,840,000 - 60,000
Z2ZZERATAR 078ET  ZEZZERATARZZRCLERATAR
(Gong Xaohan 8 December 2021 HK80.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 16,900,000 - - - 16900000
BEE ZI-E12fR 0165%T  ZR--FT-ANAEZRAETZALA
17 January 2023 HK80.230 17 January 2024 to 16 January 2033 - 19,800,000 - - 19,800,000
ZI22F-ATHA 00ET  ZRME-RAHAZZE=ZE-ATAA
Tang Shu Pui Simon 8 December 2021 HKS0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
Ba ZI2-E12ANA 0i85%T  ZR--FT-ANAEZRAETZALA
17 January 2023 HK$0.230 17 January 2024 to 16 January 2033 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
“E-TE-AT4A 020087 —5-RME-ATtRE-E=F-A17A
Hon Ming Sang 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
B Z2--E12ANA 015547 -*-—ﬁ ZANBEZEZETZALH
17 January 2023 HK$0.230 17 January 2024 to 16 January 2033 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
ZEITE-A4A 00ET “EME-ATtAEIR=ZE-ATA
LoWing Sz¢ 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
Bl “Z-F+ZANR 015581 ZB--FT-ANBEZEAETZALA
17 January 2023 HK$0.230 17 January 2024 to 16 January 2033 - 1,000,000 - - 1,000,000
Z2IZE-A14A 00AT “EME-ATtAEIR=ZE-ATA
Employee 8 December 2021 HK$0.165 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 2,250,000 - - - 220,000
& ZE-EZAN 0i85%T  ZET-FTZANREZRAETIALA
19 Apr 2022 HK$0.278 19 Aprl 2022 to 18 Aprl 2027 34,350,000 - - (17,900,000 16,450,000
ZSZEMATAA 028%T  ZEZZEMATAREZEHERATA
17 January 2023 HK$0.230 17 January 2024 to 16 January 2033 - 103,450,000 - (19,800,000 83,650,000
ZTIZE-ATHA 00%T  ZEME-AHAE-E=ZF-ATAA
Consulant 19 Apr 2022 HK$0.278 19 Apr 2022 o 18 Aprl 2027 17,900,000 - - - 17,900,000
- ZZEMATAR 08T ZZZZEMATARZ-RtERATIR
Senice provider 19 Apr 2022 HK$0.278 19 Apr 2022 o 18 Arl 2027 17,900,000 - - - 17,900,000
Tisiei ZSCZEMATAA 08T ZZZZEMATARZ-R-ERATAR
Tota 146,000,000 168,830,000 (15,840,000 (42,700,000) 256,310,000
fet
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continuec) 36. IBIRfEEHEl @)
Details of movement of the options during the year ended 31 RBE_T-__F+-A=1+—HItF
December 2022 are as follows: EHBRESHFBOT
Number of share options
EREHE
Weighted Outstanding at Lapsed/  Outstanding at
average 1 January Granted Exercised cancelled 31 December
Date of grant  exercise price Exercise period 2022 duringtheyear  duringtheyear  during the year 2022
RZB-zf R=B-zf
-B-8 RERXY/ TZA=t-H
RULAE NETHTEE i HAITE REARH RERTE K BRI
Director
EH
LiYang 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 16,900,000 = = = 16,900,000
£ ZR--5+ZA)\R 0155737 ZZ--5+-A\RE
ZRRETZRTE
Tin Yat Yu Carol 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 o 7 December 2026 16,900,000 - = = 16,900,000
B—f ZR-E12AB 015537 RS+ f\BR
“ENET-AtH
Cheung Ka Lung 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 2,000,000 = = = 2,000,000
FHE ZR--%+ZA)\R 0.155 %7 ZZ--5+-A\RE
ZRNETZATA
Chan Ming Leung Terence 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 o 7 December 2026 2,000,000 = = = 2,000,000
R 2512 015537 ZE S+ f\BR
“ENET-AtH
19 April 2022 HK$0.278 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2027 - 15,900,000 = = 15,900,000
ZRZZEMATAR 0271857 ZZ-ZEMATARE
“THERATAR
(Gong Xiaohan 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 o 7 December 2026 16,900,000 - - - 16,900,000
BER 2%+ 015537 ZE S+ f\BR
“ENET-AtH
Tang Shu Pui Simon 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
Bl ZR=-5+ZA\R 015537 ZZ--5+-A\RE
ZRNETZRTE
Hon Ming Sang 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 o 7 December 2026 1,000,000 - - = 1,000,000
B i S V- 015537 ZE S+ f\BE
“ENET-AtH
Lo Wing Sze 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 to 7 December 2026 1,000,000 = = = 1,000,000
Bkt Z2-%+ZA)\R 0.155 %7 ZZ--5+-A\RE
ZRNETZATE
Employee 8 December 2021 HK$0.155 8 December 2021 o 7 December 2026 2,300,000 - - (50,000) 2,260,000
& i S V- 015537 ZE S+ f\BR
“ENET-AtH
19 April 2022 HK$0.278 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2027 - 35,400,000 = (1,050,000 34,350,000
ZRZZEMATAR 0271857 ZZ-ZEMATARE
“THERATAR
Consultant 19 April 2022 HK$0.278 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2027 - 17,900,000 - - 17,900,000
ER ZR-ZEMATAR 027837 R CEMATARR
ZFZHERATR
Senice provider 19 April 2022 HK$0.278 19 April 2022 to 18 April 2027 - 17,900,000 = = 17,900,000
iR ZRZZEMATAR 0271857 ZZ-ZEMATARE
“THERATAR
Totil 60,000,000 87,100,000 = (1,100,000) 146,000,000
i
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36. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continueq) 36. BERESTE @)
The Company used Binominal option pricing model to estimate ARARERALT ZIEA e EER -
the fair value of the options at respective date of grant using the 2 LA MR AT AR & X B 28y
following assumptions: NAE

2023 Options 2022 Options 2021 Options
—E =4 T —F —E-—F

RE AR B RE AR

Weighted average share price R B B Nt

at grant date I RAE HK$0.230787c HK$0.278/87 HK$0.15578 7T
Weighted average exercise price I ITEE HK$0.230/%7c HK$0.278 7L HK$0.155 7T
Average expected volatility TEHA R IR 99% 94.0% 91.1%
Expected dividend rate TEEAAR B Nil 2 Nil & Nil 2
Risk-free interest rate B A= 3.1% 2.5% 1.2%
The volatility was made reference to the Company’s historical WIBTIRZE T AR B EZBHE L ARE
stock price movement in Bloomberg. EB o
During the year ended 31 December 2023, share-based BHE-_ZT-_=F+ZZH=+—8H
payment expense of HK$17,108,000 (2022: HK$8,638,000) EFE- LA R0 & % i Ei'] e
have been charged to profit or loss. %17,108,0008 T (=& = =

8,638,000/ 7T) BN Exm ?DEE
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37. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

The Company issued a series of convertible bonds with
aggregate principal amount of HK$50,000,000 to the bond
holders in prior year. These convertible bonds are denominated
in HK$. The convertible bonds bear interests ranging from
2% to 10% per annum and are due for repayment for more
than one year after the reporting period or can be converted
into ordinary shares of the Company at the holder’s option at
conversion prices ranging from HK$0.1496 to HK$0.25 per
share at any time up to the maturity dates of the convertible
bonds.

The movements of the convertible bonds are set out below:

37. IRRESF

EF - ARRIAESRBFEARITASE
50,000,000 7% JT &) — & & Al AR &
% o ZEABRESFABITAHE - 2%
ARREFRFNER2E10%ETE
BRREHAR —F A LR HAEE K AR
BB ANEERATRAREZSDE A piE [
FEERBRRESRR0.1496 BT E 0.25
S TTE R A AN B AR

g ESEBEIMNT

Liability Equity
component component Total
aE&3s RIS Fok]
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FAT FAT FAT
As at 1 January 2022 R-B__F
—A—H - - -
Issuance of convertible bonds BITRMRES 31,200 18,800 50,000
Interest expense (note 8) MERx (HE8s) 3,694 - 3,694
Conversion into ordinary shares &4 A @A (10,870) (6,314) (17,184)
As at 31 December2022and R=-T=-—#f
1 January 2023 +=ZA=+—HK
—E-=f—-H—H 24,024 12,486 36,510
Interest expense (note 8) FERE (FizE8) 6,184 - 6,184
Interest paid BRFLE (1,860) = (1,860)
Conversion into ordinary shares B 4 @A% (3,098) (1,486) (4,584)
As at 31 December 2023 R-E-=F
+=A=+-—H 25,250 11,000 36,250
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

=F+-A=+—RHIFE

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

38. ST ESE

RS HAREESR T ARRNREE

2023 2022
—EC=H —E - —F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAT
Financial assets HBEE
Financial assets at FVTPL AT EREBEEETA
EHERNMKEE 12,555 13,189
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEKATTENIBEE
— Trade receivables - E G WA 31,662 39,065
— Loans and interest receivables - B E SRR E 44,560 98,163
— Deposits and other receivables - 17e K EH MR FRIE 14,491 19,644
— Cash and cash equivalents -BE&NKIREHEER 31,243 52,012
Financial liabilities MKkaE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost RE SR ENTBEE
— Trade payables - B 5 ENFIE 7,743 17,586
— Accruals and other payables - TBREA K HM B FKIE 22,749 22,074
— Other borrowings - HfbfEk 29,650 28,784
— Lease liabilities -HE&aR 3,258 2,673
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR

VALUE MEASUREMENTS

The Group is exposed to financial risks through its use of
financial instruments in its ordinary course of operations and in
its investment activities. The financial risks include market risk
(including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk),
credit risk and liquidity risk.

Financial risk management is coordinated at the Group’s
headquarters, in close co-operation with the board of directors.
The overall objectives in managing financial risks focus on
securing the Group’s short to medium term cash flows by
minimising its exposure to financial markets.

(a) Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates. The
Group’s exposures to currency risk arise mainly from its
overseas sale transactions and settlement of its overseas
purchases, both of which are primarily denominated in
United States Dollars (“US$”) and RMB respectively. These
are not the functional currencies of the Group’s entities
to which these transactions relate. The Group does not
use derivative financial instruments to hedge its foreign
currency risk. The Group reviews its foreign currency
exposures regularly and will consider hedging significant
foreign currency exposure should the need arises.

0. A BEER AT @
==}

AEBRAEREERBBETMRETD
hiEAESR T AMAIMBEER - M5
RBEm SRR (EENERER - 7
K RERER) EERR LTS
Bk -

AEENNBRREREEZTSETS
BT ERAKBEEE T - PFERE R
HREEEEINEEREREERS
ATiSEERR AR - AERAEENE
HEPHRERE -

(a) SRR

SNERR e E R T AM R FEDK
RER R EFINEE KB EHT
KB Z B o AN SR E RSN L B
T2REHBINEER S MEN
BINBEE HOREENAERT
(I=T)) RARBE - 2FE
LRI R IR SR ki
WEEE™ - REEIWEERITE
SR T AR REIMNERER - K
& EE BT A OMNE R - A
REFBEREZ B EAINE R,

G o
AA
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(a) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

Summary of exposure

As at the reporting dates, the carrying amounts of the
Group’s financial assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies, i.e. currency other than the functional
currency of the respective group entities, are as follows:

39. K EREER A FE

=9 e
= (&)

()

INEE LR ()
BB B

R¥mEH NEBAINE (IS
SEERNDEEEIAINER)
AAENMHEEMAERREE
LI

Financial Financial
assets liabilities Total
HMBERE BMBaE #st
HK$°000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FERT FERT FHERT
As at 31 December 2023 RIEZ=%
+=ZA=+—H
RMB AR 6 - 6
US$ ET 3 (66) (63)
As at 31 December 2022 N-TBE-——F
+—A=+—8H
RMB AR 679 - 679
uss$ ETT 5,467 (483) 4,984
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(a)

(b)

Foreign currency risk (Continueq)

Foreign exchange rate sensitivity analysis

Since HK$ is pegged to USS$, the Group does not expect
any significant movements in HK$/US$ exchange rate.
As at 31 December 2023 and 2022, if HK$ strengthened
or weakened by 3% against RMB, with all other variables
held constant, there will be no significant impact on the
Group’s loss after tax (due to changes in the fair value of
monetary assets and liabilities) and the Group’s equity.
The rate is used when reporting foreign currency risk
internally to key management personnel and represents
management’s best assessment of the possible change in
foreign exchange rates.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of the changes in market interest rates. The Group’s cash
flow interest rate risk arises primarily from the Group’s
bank balances and margin loan payable which were
bearing floating interest rate (notes 24 and 28). The Group
has not used any derivative to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk. The policies to manage interest rate risk
which have been followed by the Group since prior years
are considered to be effective.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (continued)

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The following table illustrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables
held constant, of the Group’s loss after tax and equity for
the year and equity, with effect from the beginning of the
years. These changes are considered to be reasonably
possible based on observation of current market
conditions. The analysis has been prepared assuming
these financial instruments outstanding at the end of the
reporting period were outstanding for the whole year.
There is no impact on other components of combined
equity in response to the possible change in interest rates.

39. A EE R AFET

=9 e
= (&)

(b) FIZEmEEE )

FRGBE DT

TRINREMEEMEERT T
BZBERT  NEEZFEERM
BHEREE R ER A MESH R
AEFFVER 2 QBN RE
BHRE  ZFEHIKBE
BITHREBER/AEAELR -
DT THRER I s B R 8 R AT
ZREERMTAREFHETRE
MAmSL o FEZ AT FEH A G
R Htaf oW | E -

Increase/(decrease)
in loss after tax and equity

BB E B R ERE N (RD)

2023 2022
—E-=F —E=-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FERT FAT
Increase by 50 basis points 050 B E 2, 154 254
Decrease by 50 basis points A B0 (B E 2, (154) (254)
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39. A EE R AFET

=9 e
= (&)

(c) R{ERB

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(c) Equity price risk

The Group’s listed equity investments are susceptible to
market price risk arising from uncertainties about future
values of the investment securities. The Group manages
the equity price risk through diversification and by placing
limits on individual and total equity instruments. Reports
on the equity portfolio are submitted to the Group’s senior
management on a regular basis. The Group’s Board of
Directors reviews and approves all equity investment
decisions.

At the reporting date, the exposure to equity investments
at fair value listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited was HK$3,135,000 (2022: HK$10,634,000). Given
that the changes in fair values of the equity investments
held are strongly positively correlated with changes of
the HKEX market index, the Group has determined that
an increase/decrease of 10% on the HKEX market index
could have an impact of approximately HK$314,000 (2022:
HK$1,063,000) decrease/increase on the loss after tax
and increase/decrease equity attributable to the Group
respectively.

AEEH EMRERERIRER
FAREBETHEERE - LW
EYRAEMHERRAR - A&
BiFEBRZ T LA REER &2
o TARERBIAEERER
o YEHRASERREERE
RIXBEREEERSE - AEE
EESERUAEMERERE
IR ©

RB|EBR  REBBERZFT
BRAR LEMEATFEHENR
I E R 43,135,000 7T (=
T~ — 4 :10,634,000/87T) ° 8
RATHREREN QAT EEE)HE
BERR SN GEAEHAER
ERBBEBEER  AEBREEES
RGBTSR LR THE10%
Aae g Rl EE RSB EIGEREL
‘BB N REREN
WD #9314,0008 T (2= =
4 1 1,063,000/87T) HIFE -
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 #EZ—E - =F+_A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. MKEREER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continued) B

(d) S5 REEFEBERG

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligation
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause
a financial loss to the Group. The Group’s exposure to
credit risk mainly arises from trade receivables, loans and
interest receivables, deposits and other receivables and
cash and cash equivalents. The Group does not hold any
collateral or other credit enhancements to cover its credit
risks associated with its financial assets except for certain
trade receivables under underwriting agreement, and
except that the credit risks associated with certain loans
and interest receivables is mitigated because they are
secured over collaterals. There is no significant changes
in the quality of collaterals as a result of deterioration or
changes in the collateral policies of the entity during both
reporting periods.

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has developed
and maintains the Group’s credit risk gradings to
categorise exposures according to their degree of risk
of default. The credit rating information is based on the
Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers
and other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit
ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored
and the aggregate value of transactions concluded is
spread amongst approved counterparties.

For financial assets at amortised cost, the exposures
to credit risk are monitored such that any outstanding
debtors are reviewed and followed up on an ongoing
basis. The Group continuously monitors defaults of
customers and other counterparties, identified either
individually or by group, and incorporate this information
into its credit risk controls. The Group’s policy is to deal
only with creditworthy counterparties.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE—ZT-=F+-_A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework
comprises the following categories:

AEBBRINEER
BIEATER :

ZX Fl:l:i&ﬂ:

Internal credit rating Description Basis for recognising ECL
A EBIEE TR A BRAABEEHENEE
Low risk The counterparty has a low risk of default and ~ 12-month ECL

does not have any past-due amounts
lWE RSGEFHHENRBRERIE - 2EAEHEEEE

Special mention

B I BB HIRIR

The counterparty has been experiencing
difficulties which may threaten the Group’s
position. Ultimate loss is not expected at this
stage but could occur if adverse conditions
persist.

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

2z RSHFHBRHER A e Rk FEREREEEE
REEHMAL o THFHHREE - WAREHEERE
FEULRE BRI NG A - fim ARG
FEFE - AR Re g B A RKREE -
Doubtful There have been significant increases in Lifetime ECL -
credit risk since initial recognition through not credit-impaired
information developed internally or external
resources
A &E FHRAEHIMBERHIE R ERHE FEMEPEEER
B E\fe B VI FER A SRR 1 N - WARBEHEERE
Loss There is evidence indicating the asset is Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired credit-impaired
B8 ERBETNEHEECREEERE FEPRREEER
-BER4EEERE
Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor Amount is written off
is in severe financial difficulty and the Group
has no realistic prospect of recovery
i gH BEETEBABARENTERER WA AR

AEBTRABRAIKEARBFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERRERBEFTM
(Continued) (%)

TRALAKEHBEEENE
ERk CRETHRBEREBEN

The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of
the Group’s financial assets which are subject to ECL

assessment: &)
Internal 12-month Gross carrying
Notes credit rating or lifetime ECL amounts
1218 A7 &
M= AREEFR EHGCESSE REASHE
2023 2022
—EBC-=E| ZE-_—F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER FET
Trade receivables 20 N/A (note) Lifetime ECL 33,937 40,135
(provision matrix)
B 5 R RIE TER (M) HFEOESHEEER
(Bf@bkE)
Loans and interest 21 Low risk 12-month ECL 1,870 25,240
receivables Special mention  Lifetime ECL 42,411 53,579
Loss Lifetime ECL 61,219 69,891
R E SRR FIR VN 12{A ATEHIEEEE
M FREBENEEES
B FEREHEEER
Deposits and other 22 Low risk 12-month ECL 14,491 19,644
receivables
BE RHEM YA N 12 A AESEEEE
Cash and cash equivalents 24 Low risk 12-month ECL 31,243 52,012
RekFe%EER VN 12{8 A EEEE

Note: For trade receivables from sales of apparels, the Group has applied
the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance

at lifetime ECL.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)
Trade receivables g 5 rERRE

As set out in Note 4.7 (i), the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECL. Except for debtors with
significant outstanding balances or credit-impaired, the
Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by past due
status. The estimated loss rates are estimated based
on historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers in relation to its sales of apparels
because these customers consist of a large number
of customers with common risk characteristics that
are representative of the customers’ abilities to pay all
amounts due in accordance with the contractual terms.
As at 31 December 2023, trade receivables from sales of
apparels of HK$33,937,000 (2022: HK$40,135,000) were
assessed based on provision matrix within lifetime ECL.
The Group’s trade receivable were not credit-impaired as
at 31 December 2023 and 2022.

During the year ended 31 December 2023, provision
for ECL on trade receivables of HK$1,205,000 (2022:
HK$550,000) was recognised in the profit or loss for the
year.

AR EE4.7() FrE - ANEEE ER
BRI IEREERFE IR
FRTE G EMTEREEEENE
BEE BRAEAKEELEHK
BB A EERMERNERERI
REBEFRABEEBEETZER
B FEHEEEE (GRafikn
DH8) o BB R ER B
RIEFTFHMEL AT B RMEL
KihEt - WEBBETBERKAE
B NI ER 2 ATE B RHE
A% -

ERASEEERRERE 2 —
IR - ASEF A EBER RS AR
AT ZEERF RETEEBEN
WA DTHRZEREFBEEZ4
BHFRREHENT S - FEE
EFPIRBE QGERZ T A 2 &
RIEWEN RZTEZ=F+=
A=+—8 REHERMHER
GFEHBEHEEEBEBEBANEE
EEETHTEHNE S EKFIE
83,937,000 L (=T ==
40,135,00087TC) - RZZT==%F
T F+ZA=+—8"
AEENE S ERGREL |34
SERE -

BHE-T_=F+-HA=+—H
IHFE - BZRWHENTESE
EEE A 451,205,008 T(—Z
Z— % : 550,000/ ) EREFENRN
FEIBZRFER ©
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

The Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
model upon application of HKFRS 9 on loans and interest
receivables based on 12-month ECL, except for loans
and interest receivables which were past due for one year
and credit-impaired, lifetime ECL was based on for ECL
assessment.

The credit risk on certain loans and interest receivables are
limited because certain loans receivable are pledged with
the properties units in Hong Kong, personal assets of the
borrowers and guaranteed by certain independent third
parties. The directors expect that the general economic
conditions will not significantly change for the 12 months
after the reporting date.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERRERBEFTM
(Continued) (%)
Loans and interest receivables EWERRFLE

A8 PR &8 B 75 R 5 2R I 3 9 5%
% AEERE12EAEREE
BRI E SRR B TR
EEBEENTHRER G - 1
EAM—FREEREZERKE
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)
(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)

Modification of contractual cash flows

A modification or re-negotiation of a contract between the
Group and a counterparty may result in a change to the
contractual cash flows without resulting in derecognition
of the financial assets.

Such restructuring activities included extended payment
term arrangements, repayment schedule modifications
and changes to the interest settlement method. The risk
of default of such assets after modification is assessed at
the reporting date and compared with the risk under the
original terms at initial recognition, when the modification is
not substantial and so does not result in derecognition of
the original asset and the book value of the financial asset
is recalculated and the related gain or loss is included in
current profit or loss. The recalculated book value of the
financial asset is determined based on the present value
of the contractual cash flows following the renegotiation
or modification, as calculated using the original effective
interest rate of the financial asset.

Deposits and other receivables

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to
12-month ECL of deposits and other receivables. For
those balances expected to have significant increase
in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group applies
lifetime ECL based on aging for classes with different
credit risk characteristics and exposures.

Cash and cash equivalents

The credit risk on bank balances is limited because
the counterparties are banks with sound credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies and the
Group considers the credit risk to be insignificant.

BHNERERENER

AEBERZHEF I IEMRLER
BREANAEEERANEAER
ERLEY MIASEHSRE
ERRPHER ©

ENEREHREERERYR
BE - EBUBHERT - UREE &
B - BANERLRERE
B B R RSB I R
BEER  BRAENHER
aBHBRRERS BHT A
S BB A R TR
BRI - B
SERMAENREE - AR
BIUK a5 SRS BT A % HE1B2S - B
MRS WA EREER
RO EF AT RSB A%
RAENRERAEHEHEL
RERBREER -

BE R EMBERRE

AEEIZ 128 AAREEEE
BT REM B IR N E R
e AENEERERAEER
REEBNZF/EHRME - A
S BRIE T REE BRI
A2 BREC AR E M7 E A EIE
EEE -

RERBRESEERHE
RITEFNEERRIFEER
RARXSHFHHRABERGE
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For the year ended 31 December 2028 #EZ—E - =F+_A=+—HILFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

=,

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERRERBEFTM
(Continued) (%)
Concentration of credit risk SHhEERR
The Group is exposed to concentration of credit risk on: AEBRUATEEAZEESET

2l
e Trade receivables o EFEWFIA
e Loans and interest receivables e RWEREFE
Concentrations of credit risk are managed by customer/ ST EERBERERF HF IR
counterparty and by geographical region. The Group WEEE RZTEZ=F+_AH
had certain concentrations of credit risks as 72% (2022: =+—H AEEEETEHRE
80%) of total trade receivables are due from five of its fﬂf‘ hE S EWGRIERRE 2
largest external customers and 60% (2022: 36%) of total 72% (ZF 4% : 80%) JhHH
loans and interest receivables are due from five of its RAEBHEARINABFAI#E R - ik
largest external borrowers as at 31 December 2023. The FERER KR EBTE 260%(=
directors carry a periodic review on the creditworthiness T F :36%) THRAERAA K
on these customers and consider the exposure to such RKINABEPFIEER - EEPEZE
credit risk is minimal. Further quantitative data in respect 3?}5 ZIEREETTERE - I
of the Group’s exposure to credit risk arising from trade REBZEERRBTK - Zli'ilﬂ?
receivables and loans and interest receivables are BE 5 EWFIEN R EKRE R
disclosed in notes 20 and 21 to the consolidated financial FMEZEER ZfE_J'/FEﬂZ%(
statements respectively. BRI AR S IS ImER M 20 &
21 NI -

Other than above, the Group does not have any other Br Bt BN ARG BN AR E
significant concentration of credit risk. BN EESETRERE -
The credit policies have been followed by the Group since FERREBEFE—EHEBRAE
prior years and are considered to have been effective in EoA - ARt AEREAEY
limiting the Group’s exposure to credit risk to a desirable = E R R BR S IR AEKT -
level.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) = (&)

(d) Credit risk and impairment assessment (d) SERERBETM
(Continued) (%)
Collateral and other credit enhancement K@ REAMEEER

The Group employs a range of policies and practices
to mitigate credit risk. The most common of these is
accepting collateral for certain loans granted. The Group
has internal policies on the acceptability of specific classes
of collaterals or credit risk mitigation.

The Group prepares a valuation of the collateral obtained
as part of the loan origination process. This assessment
is reviewed periodically. The principal collateral types for
loans and interest receivables are:

- Real estate, including residential and commercial
properties; and

- Personal assets, including but not limited to
diamonds and jewellery.

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have
not significantly changed during the reporting year and
there has been no significant change in the overall quality
of the collateral held by the Group since prior years.
The Group also focuses on ascertaining legal ownership
and the valuation of the real estate collaterals. A loan
granted is based on the value of the collaterals, which is
generally lower than the estimated value of the real estate
collaterals. The Group monitors the value of the real estate
collaterals throughout the loan period.

In addition to collateral-backed loans, the Group also
granted unsecured loans to customers. The Group
evaluates the credit status of individual customers,
including the customers’ business performance, financial
information, repayment ability, as well as industrial outlook
in which the customers operate.

REBRA— R EK MIE i
NEREERR - &A% LAY
EREXETERNEMR - K
SEMEZ S EEBOER MK
RRBERERRGIE T RERBEK o

AEBEHEERENERT AR
SOHEARERMEE TR
LR ER - BREEREFEHN
EmEEBIA TR

- FHE BREEMERY
ES3

- BEAERE - BREESRNE
A FIRE e

RBEFE - NEEARERK
MmO BRYBEAEE A8
BERBIAK - AN E P R
MR EBREENEEAES - K
SETERETERFMWERT M
BIEFARNEE - ERIRE
EHRmOnEE (—REXRFBHE
ERENGE R - AEER
EEEXHNFEEREMER
HmHEE -

FREEERIN  ARETAER
ROEERER - AEBEFAE
AEFPHEEIRR  BEEFPH
BRI - BBER - ERGEE
AR EPHEITENTTERNR
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(e) Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by the management to finance the
Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations
in cash flows.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s non-derivative financial instruments, based on
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or, if floating, based on
rates current at the reporting date) and the earliest date
the Group can be required to pay.
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HEZE— T - =F+-A=+—HIEFE

39. A EE R AFET
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. MKEREER A FE
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (Continueq) B

(e) Liquidity risk (continuea) (e) REEEREEE @)

Total Within

contractual  one year or
Carrying undiscounted repayable on  One year or
amount  cash flows demand above

KR —FRg

BHRE BREX
RAEE REAH &E  —FIut
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER THER TER TER

As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=f+-A=t-H

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REERAT BN ERAR

- Trade payables - BSRNFR 7,743 7,743 7,743 -

- Accruals and other payables - BREARAMENTE 22,749 22,749 22,749 -

- Other borrowings - EffofE R 29,650 35,464 4,680 30,784

- Lease liabilities -HE8E 3,258 3,426 2,189 1,237
63,400 69,382 37,361 32,021

As at 31 December 2022 R-Z-—&+-fA=1+-R

Financial liabilities at amortised cost REERAT ENERAR

- Trade payables - B SRR 17,586 17,586 17,586 =

- Accruals and other payables - BREARHMENFTE 22,074 22,074 22,074 =

~ Other borrowings - Hhfez 28,784 41,840 6,620 35,220

- Lease liabilties -HEARE 2673 2798 1,553 1,245
117 84,298 47,833 36,465
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For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

39. A EE R AFET

=9 e
= (&)

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued)

(f) Fair value measurements recognised in the

consolidated statement of financial position

The fair value of the Group’s investment in listed securities
has been determined by reference to their quoted bid
prices at the end of reporting period. The fair values of
trade receivables, loans and interest receivables, deposits
and other receivables, cash and cash equivalents, trade
payables, accruals and other payables, other borrowings,
and current portion of lease liabilities approximate to their
carrying amounts largely due to the short term maturities
of these instruments.

The fair values of the non-current portion of other
receivables and lease liabilities have been calculated by
discounting the expected future cash flows using the rates
currently available for instruments on similar terms, credit
risk and remaining maturities.

Fair value hierarchy

The following tables present financial assets measured at
fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position
in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The hierarchy
groups financial assets into three levels based on the
relative reliability of significant inputs used in measuring the
fair value of these financial assets. The fair value hierarchy
has the following levels:

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets;

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within
Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either
directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived
from prices); and

Level 3: inputs for the asset that are not based on
observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39. A EE R AFET

VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continued) E #®)

() Fair value measurements recognised in the () RAEFEEMBEMRRKRER
consolidated statement of financial position WA EE @)
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued) AV ELEE (&)
The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the WMBEEERRBMESRANATE
financial asset is categorised in its entirety is based on EEANNER  DEREAFE
the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value FTEBERNKEERBAER
measurement. glm o
The financial assets measured at fair value in the R E BEEARE B BIRKARA
consolidated statement of financial position at the ERFEFENTHEEEE D
reporting date are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as BUATHAFELERS
follows:
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
F1E 28 $3E @

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER Tign TER FiEgn

As at 31 December 2023 R-B-=f¥+-A=+-H
Financial assets at fair value PATEEAZHA

through profit or loss EHERNIBEE
- Contingent consideration receivable - JEMREARE - - 9,420 9,420
- Listed equity securities - FfRiEE S 3,135 - - 3,135
As at 31 December 2022 R-ZE-—&+-fA=1+-8
Financial assets at fair value WATEEAZHA

through profit or loss EHERNIBEE
- Contingent consideration receivable - JEREARE - - 2,555 2,555
- Listed equity securities - FfREE S 10,634 = - 10,634
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT AND FAIR 39.
VALUE MEASUREMENTS (continuea)

(f) Fair value measurements recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position
(Continued)

Fair value hierarchy (Continued)

Note:

The following table presents the changes in level 3 instruments for the
years ended 31 December 2023 and 2022.

s EEEER A FER

=9 e
= (&)

(H RERESBBEARRRER
HAFETE @

DFERSE ()
G

TRHEINEE-_E-_=FR-_T——
TZRA=E+—HIEFEZE3ET A -

Contingent consideration receivable FEWRHARE
2023 2022
—EB=F —E__4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
At 1 January n—H—H 2,555 =
Addition NE - 2,555
Change in fair value NEEEE) 6,865 =
At 31 December W+=—A=+—~ 9,420 2,555

Total gain included in profit or loss FFAFENERNWGEERE  F8

for the year, net 6,865 -

40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 40.

The Group’s capital management objectives are to ensure the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to provide an
adequate return to shareholders by pricing goods and services
commensurately with the level of risk.

The Group actively and regularly reviews its capital structure and
makes adjustments in light of changes in economic conditions.
The Group monitors its capital using a gearing ratio calculated
on the basis of borrowings and lease liabilities over total equity.
The Group’s goal in capital management is to maintain the
gearing ratio at a reasonable level. In order to maintain or adjust
the ratio, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, return capital to shareholders,
raise new debt financing or sell assets to reduce debt.

Virtual Mind Holding Company Limited RK#$5 %G R A &)

EXEE

KB A ARSI B I IR A R
BB - RN ER SR
W BRI 1B - ARESTEED
4 -

AREBEGR K E e HEARE - I
REREBERBEEELFE - AREER
RGN NHE B B A S AR E K
BERGBLXRERERN - AEENER
EEAEEREERBLRERERE
IKF o BT MR RFEIZ LR - AEE
Al ARABR MR B 28 - BITH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

40. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT (continuea)

The gearing ratio is regularly reviewed by senior management.
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods are as

a1.

A IR AR M

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HE—Z —

=Ft-A=1+—"HBILHFE

40. EXEE )

BERBELXASHREEE

TEHIIRET o

RBEMRNEERBLRAT ¢

follows:

2023 2022
—EB=F ==

HK$’000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Other borrowings HAfER 29,650 28,784
Lease liabilities HEAE 3,258 2,673
32,908 31,457
Total equity B 148,712 209,300
Gearing ratio BEAMEBLE 22% 15%

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclose elsewhere in the consolidated financial
statements, the Group has following significant events after the
reporting period,

(@)

On 2 February 2024, the Company entered into certain
subscription agreement with various parties to allot and
issue up to 800,000,000 subscription shares at the price
of HK$0.10 per subscription share for a total consideration
up to HK$80,000,000. The subscription shares will be
allotted and issued under the specific mandate to be
sought from the shareholders at the EGM to be held on 8
April 2024. Further details of the subscription are set out
in the Company’s announcement dated 2 February 2024.

On 4 March 2024, save for a subscription agreement
entered into with an independent third-party, all the
conditions precedent set out in each of the subscription
agreements entered into with various parties to allot and
issue 28,200,000 subscription shares at the price of
HK$0.10 per subscription share for a total consideration
of HK$3,553,200 have been fulfilled and satisfied and the
completion took place at the same date. Further details
of the completion of the subscription are set out in the
Company’s announcement dated 4 March 2024.

M. HE

HREE

iR e M BmRE MO FAREES

NS

=

BRNHmEMROEAZRGT

RZE-NE=-_A=H ' &AQH
ﬁ%ﬁJi%$w%m C AE
P REEAL (7 0.10 8 T B I8 A 3
&%ﬁ?%mmmmmk%%
Bt - 2K (8 5= 80,000,000 7
no%%k@%@ﬁwqu
FOANBRITHRERRRE
EFrRRRESROERIEERE R
BT AERBETENE —$PF
EHRAARBHA S _NF
Z“AZHNRAE -

R-_T_NE=ZAMNA - BREB
j%iﬁﬂi%%ﬁ% N
FEIV & RE N ZE (AFRA
FERR 15 0.10 8 TR B AR Br 3% o 3
7728,200,000 iR R BEAZ 15 + 4K
8/53,553,20087T) FTEMIFT A
FRIGHI B BITRERK - WE
RERTEK - BT REEIE
MiE—PHEBERARFAEA
—E-NF= AME/MRAE -

/\I:l
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e DR R Y

For the year ended 31 December 2023 & ZE — & —

=F+-A=+—RHIFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

42, 7R ) B AR R 3R

COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-=HF ===
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT T
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEREE
Non-current assets FRBEE
Interests in subsidiaries (note (a)) B A B (Mt () 107,577 107,577
Property, plant and equipment ME - BE MRE 593 779
Right-of-use assets EREEE 1,216 427
109,386 108,783
Current assets /ﬁiﬁJﬁE
Deposits, prepayments and other e - TERFIE K H AL UK
receivables 2,109 1,260
Amounts due from subsidiaries EH&W%; 73,961 119,682
Financial assets at fair value through AR B EJrEH@%EU FTAE BER
profit or loss VI EE 2,555 2,555
Cash and cash equivalents fﬁi&fﬁi\%ﬂﬁlﬁ B 3,628 3,423
82,253 126,920
Current liabilities REBBE
Accruals and other payables EIREH &Eﬁﬂf&“ B 12,642 4,325
Amounts due to subsidiaries AL VNGIE R E] 251 189
Lease liabilities HEaE 782 442
Other borrowings H AR 4,400 4,400
18,075 9,356
Net current assets REEEFE 64,178 117,564
Non-current liabilities FknBaE
Other borrowings HAMfE3 25,249 24,024
Lease liabilities HEaE 447 =
25,696 24,024
Net assets EEFRE 147,868 202,323
EQUITY =
Share capital LN 21,371 19,836
Reserves (note (b)) ffE (PfE (o)) 126,497 182,487
Total equity AR 147,868 202,323
On behalf of the board of directors RRESFS
Li Yang Tin Yat Yu Carol
B H— &
Director Director
] o]
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR RRME

For the year ended 31 December 2023 HZ — T - =F+_-_A=+—HIFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Subsidiaries

Particulars of the principal subsidiaries as at the reporting date are set out

Particulars of
issued/paid-in
capital

BT
ERARAFEE

(@ MEAR

42, AN BB AR R TR ()

RiE AT RME QBB FER 0

T

Effective interest
held by the Company

ARBRHFENERER
Direct Indirect

HE =

Place of
operation and
principal activities

EE SR ERE S

as follows:
Place/
country of
incorporation/
Name establishment
AL,
LB
=L EIES
Jiaxing Runway Global Garment PRC
Limited® s
I iR IR ER AR AR (528 )
BRAF"
Delta Wealth Finance Limited Hong Kong
RMEHTBERAF )
ERASERBEBERAR ! PRC
a3
BRI L BIEBR AT PRC
H
IERAIEEY R BR AR PRC
&
BAEEARLEIZEBR AR PRC
a3
SEREERRHERAT PRC
I
& Wholly foreign owned enterprise under PRC law

US$2,000,000
2,000,000 % 7T

HK$1,000,000

1,000,000/ 7T

HK$30,000,000
30,000,000 #7T

RMB 1,000,000
AR# 1,000,000 7T

RMB 1,052,600
AR#1,062,600 7T

RMB 1,000,000
AER# 1,000,000 7T

RMB10,000,000
AR# 10,000,000 7T

100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

= 100%

- 100%

= 82%

Manufacturing and
trading of apparels
in the PRC

PR BT T AR A B3
RE5

Provision of money
lending services

RUEEREE R

Toys, garment,
software technical
advisory and
promoting service
in PRC

RAPBITA - fRE
AR E 0 S
AR

Game and software
solution developer,
literature design in
PRC

A FP B35 e A X {4 AR
RARMEE X
BhaRs

Toys, garment,
software technical
advisory and
promoting service
in PRC

RAPEITA - fRE -

AR & R S

& AR TS

&

Game and software
solution developer,
literature design in
PRC

7 R B 28 S AT B A o
RFRFAEE X
RRE&ET

Trading of apparels
in PRC
R EREHE 5

* REVAE TRINEEE B
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e PR R MR

For the year ended 31 December 2023 H{Z — T - =F+—-A=+—HItFE

42. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) Reserves

BiRE - (%)
b) &

Share-based  Convertible

42, AN BB AR R TR ()

Share  Contributed payment  bonds equity Accumulated
premium surplus reserve reserve losses Total
NRe
REBN  TRRES
RiriEE A& X1t Rifits RithE @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T AL TAT AL AT
At 1 January 2022 WZE--#-8-A 375,963 63,583 3,741 = (273,971) 169,316
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year A% E R R2AMGES - - - - (64,321) (64,321)
Issuance of share in respect of acquistion of HRERBARR TR
subsidiary 40,320 - - - - 40,320
Equity-settled share option scheme arrangements Wiz & & RyiERkiEAT &l - - 8,638 - - 8,638
Issuance of convertiole bonds BakiEs - - - 18,800 = 18,800
Issuance of shares in respect of conversion of S ARESETRG
convertible bonds 9,734 - - (6,314) 6,314 9,734
At31December2022and 1 January 2023 ~ W=E-—£+-A=+-HR
ZE-=f-f-H 426,017 63,583 12,379 12,486 (331,978) 182,487
Loss and total comprehensive income for the year  EREIER 2 ENSARE - - - - (89,928) (89,928)
Equity-settled share option scheme arrangements  WIRIE& E fEa MRSt 2l %k - - 17,108 - - 17,108
Lapse of share options BRELN - - (1,765) - 1,765 -
Issuance of shares in respect of placing BAEFRETRE 9,754 - - - - 9,754
Issuance of shares in respect of share option B RE Rk
scheme 4,246 - - - - 4,246
Issuance of shares in respect of conversion of ~ FLER AR EFRLITR
convertiole bonds 2,830 - - (1,486) 1,486 2,830
At 31 December 2023 W=Z-=%+-F=1-A 442,847 63,583 21,122 11,000 (418,655) 126,497

Contributed surplus of the Company represents the difference between
the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant to certain
reorganisation of the Group and the nominal value of the share issued by

the Company in exchange thereof.
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